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In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming compliance with certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, except that such exclusion shall not apply to any Series 2001 Bond during any period such Series 2001 Bond is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of the Section 147(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that the Series 2001 Bonds are not “specified private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 57(a)(5) of the Code and that the interest thereon is not a preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that the Series 2001 Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from taxation under the existing laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on the debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associations.  See, however, “Tax Exemption” herein regarding certain other tax considerations.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, if applicable to the Series 2002 Bonds when issued, and assuming compliance with certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2002 Bonds, when and if issued, will be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, except that such exclusion shall not apply to any Series 2002 Bond during any period such Series 2002 Bond is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Series 2002 Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of the Section 147(a) of the Code.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that under existing law, if applicable to the Series 2002 Bonds when issued, that the Series 2002 Bonds, when and if issued, will  not be “specified private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 57(a)(5) of the Code and that the interest thereon will  not be a preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that  under existing law, if applicable to the Series 2002 Bonds when issued, that the Series 2001 Bonds, when and if issued, and the interest thereon will be exempt from taxation under the existing laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on the debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associations.  See, however, “Tax Exemption” herein regarding certain other tax considerations.

$83,965,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001

and

$60,150,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002

Dated:
July 1, 2001 in the case of the Series 2001 Bonds (as defined below)
Due:  October 1, as shown on the inside cover


July 1, 2002 in the case of the Series 2002 Bonds (as defined below)


The Palm Beach County, Florida, $83,965,000 Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series 2001 Bonds”) and $60,150,000 Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Bonds”, and together with the Series 2001 Bonds, the “Bonds”) are being issued as fully registered bonds and will be initially issued to and registered only in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be available to purchasers in principal denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof under the book-entry system maintained by DTC through brokers and dealers who are or act through, DTC Participants.  Purchasers will not receive physical delivery of the Bonds.  For so long as any purchaser is the Beneficial Owner (as defined herein) of a Bond, such purchaser must maintain an account with a broker or dealer who is, or acts through, a DTC Participant in order to receive payment of the principal of and interest on such Bond.  See the caption “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM,” herein.

Interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is payable October 1, 2001 and on each April 1 and October 1 thereafter until maturity.  Interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is payable October 1, 2002 and on each April 1 and October 1 thereafter until maturity.  The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their stated dates of maturity.  

The Bonds are being issued by Palm Beach County, Florida (the “County” or the “Issuer”) for the purpose of providing the moneys which, together with other funds legally available therefore, as will be sufficient:  (i) in the case of the Series 2001 Bonds, (a) to refund the Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1991 maturing October 1, 2004 (excluding the October 1, 2001 sinking fund installment) and October 1, 2010 (the “Series 1991 Refunded Bonds”), (b) to pay the termination fee for the cancellation of the Confirmation relating to the Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Airport System Refunding Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series 2001 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Refunding Bonds”), which will no longer be issued, (c) to pay the premium for a municipal bond insurance policy for the Series 2001 Bonds, (d) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement (as defined herein) for the Series 2001 Bonds and (e) to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds, (ii) in the case of the Series 2002 Bonds, (a) to refund the Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1992 maturing October 1, 2014 (the “Series 1992 Refunded Bonds” and, together with the Series 1991 Refunded Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”), (b) to pay the termination fee for the cancellation of the Confirmation relating to the Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Refunding Bonds”), which will no longer be issued, (c) to pay the premium for a municipal bond insurance policy for the Series 2002 Bonds, (d) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Series 2002 Bonds and (e) to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds.

The Series 2001 Bonds are being issued in lieu of the Series 2001 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Refunding Bonds and the Series 2002 Bonds are being issued in lieu of the Series 2002 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Refunding Bonds.

The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable from and secured by a pledge of all Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (as defined herein), and all Funds and Accounts established by the Resolution.  See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein.

THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COUNTY IS NOT PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS AND THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY OR OTHER PROVISION OR LIMITATION; NO BONDHOLDER SHALL EVER HAVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE OR COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF THE AD VALOREM TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR TAXATION IN ANY FORM OF ANY REAL PROPERTY THEREIN FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR THE INTEREST ON THE BONDS OR THE MAKING OF ANY SINKING FUND OR RESERVE PAYMENTS PROVIDED FOR IN THE RESOLUTION.

The scheduled payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, when due, will be guaranteed under an insurance policy to be issued concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds by  MUNICIPAL BOND INVESTORS ASSURANCE CORPORATION (“MBIA”)  (see “MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE” herein.)

(LOGO)

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY.  IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THE ISSUE.  INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriters, subject to approval of legality by Edwards & Angell, LLP, West Palm Beach, Florida, Bond Counsel.  Certain other legal matters on behalf of the County will be passed upon by Paul F. King, Esq., Assistant County Attorney and on behalf of the Underwriter by Carlton Fields, P.A., West Palm Beach, Florida, Counsel to the Underwriter.  The Series 2001 Bonds are expected to be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about July 3, 2001.  The Series 2002 Bonds are expected to be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about July 3, 2002.

MERRILL LYNCH & CO.

This Official Statement is dated June 1, 2001

MATURITY SCHEDULE

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001

Serial Bonds dated July 1, 2001
Maturity
October 1
Amount
Interest Rate
Yield






2002
$7,635,000
5.000%
3.000%

2003
8,010,000
5.000
3.300

2004
8,410,000
5.000
3.550

2005
8,830,000
5.500
3.740

2006
9,315,000
4.000
3.890

2007
9,690,000
5.500
4.060

2008
10,225,000
4.000
4.190

2009
10,635,000
5.500
4.320

2010
11,215,000
4.250
4.420











(Accrued interest to be added)

MATURITY SCHEDULE

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002

Serial Bonds dated July 1, 2002
Maturity
October 1
Amount
Interest Rate
Yield






2011
$13,645,000
5.750
4.770

2012
14,560,000
5.750
4.910

2013
15,445,000
5.750
5.000

2014
16,500,000
5.750
5.080






(Accrued interest to be added)
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No dealer, broker, salesman or any other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the County or the Underwriter (as herein defined).  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Bonds, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any persons in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from the County, Spectrum Municipal Services, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”), the Bond Insurer, public documents, records and other sources which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, by and is not to be construed as a representation of (i) the County with respect to the information herein under the caption “Municipal Bond Insurance” which was provided by the Bond Insurer or (ii) the Underwriters.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the County since the date hereof.

THE UNDERWRITER HAS PROVIDED THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  THE UNDERWRITER HAS REVIEWED THE INFORMATION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND AS PART OF, ITS RESPONSIBILITIES TO INVESTORS UNDER THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS TRANSACTION, BUT THE UNDERWRITER DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT MAY STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF SUCH BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW, NOR HAS THE RESOLUTION BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS.  IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF THE ISSUER AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.  THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$83,965,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001

and

$60,150,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and Appendices, is to set forth certain information relating to Palm Beach County, Florida (the “County” or the “Issuer”) and the issuance by the County of $83,965,000 Palm Beach County, Florida, Airport System Refunding Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series 2001 Bonds”) and $60,150,000 Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Bonds”, and together with the Series 2001 Bonds, the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Florida, Chapter 26099 Laws of Florida, Acts of 1949, as amended, and other applicable provisions of law (collectively the “Act”), and pursuant to Resolution No. R-84-427 adopted by the County on April 3, 1984, as amended in full by Resolution No. R-84-1659 adopted on November 1, 1984, as amended and supplemented thereafter, including particularly Resolution No. R-2001-0578 adopted on April 17, 2001, as supplemented and amended (collectively, the “Resolution”).

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Official Statement shall have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the Resolution.  (See Appendix A “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Selected Definitions”.)  This Official Statement also includes information about the County and certain reports and other statistical data.  The summaries and references to all documents, statutes, reports and other instruments referred to herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive or definitive. Each summary and reference is qualified in its entirety by reference to each such document, statute, report or instrument.

PURPOSE OF THE BONDS

The Bonds are being issued by the County for the purpose of providing the moneys which, together with other funds legally available therefore, as will be sufficient:  (i) in the case of the Series 2001 Bonds (a) to refund the Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1991 maturing October 1, 2004 (excluding the October 1, 2001 sinking fund installment, which shall be paid by the County as scheduled) and October 1, 2010 (the “Series 1991 Refunded Bonds”), (b) to pay the termination fee for the cancellation of the Confirmation relating to the Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Airport System Refunding Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series 2001 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Refunding Bonds), which will no longer be issued, (c) to pay the premium for a municipal bond insurance policy for the Series 2001 Bonds, (d) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement (as defined herein) for the Series 2001 Bonds and (e) to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds, (ii) in the case of the Series 2002 Bonds, (a) to refund the Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1992 maturing October 1, 2014 (the “Series 1992 Refunded Bonds” and, together with the Series 1991 Refunded Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”), (b) to pay the termination fee for the cancellation of the Confirmation relating to the Weekly Adjustable/Fixed-Rate Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002 (the “Series 2002 Weekly Adjustable/Fixed Rate Refunding Bonds”), which will no longer be issued, (c) to pay the premium for a municipal bond insurance policy for the Series 2002 Bonds, (d) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Series 2002 Bonds and (e) to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds.

PLAN OF REFUNDING

The monies required to pay the principal of, interest and redemption premiums on the Series 1991 Refunded Bonds and the Series 1992 Refunded Bonds will be derived from the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds and the Series 2002 Bonds, as the case may be, and certain monies on deposit in the Sinking Fund allocable to the respective series of Refunded Bonds.  Such monies shall be deposited in an Escrow Deposit Trust Fund pursuant to an Escrow Deposit Agreement relating to each series of the Refunded Bonds to be entered into between the County and U.S. Bank Trust National Association (the “Escrow Agent”) and shall be invested in Defeasance Obligations, the maturing principal of and interest on which, when due, shall be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds which mature and become due and including the first date upon which said Refunded Bonds are callable prior to maturity and to pay on such first callable date the principal of, accrued interest, if any, and premium on said Refunded Bonds which mature after such first callable date.

Upon the deposit into each Escrow Deposit Trust Fund as described above, the Refunded Bonds will be deemed to be defeased and no longer outstanding for purposes of the Resolution, and the holders of the Refunded Bonds will be entitled to payment solely from the moneys and securities deposited into the applicable Escrow Deposit Trust Fund pursuant to the related Escrow Deposit Agreement.

The refunding is being undertaken in order to achieve a reduction in annual debt service requirements for the County.

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES

Series 2001 Bonds

Sources of Funds:





Par Amount of Bonds
$83,965,000.00

Net Premium
2,857,543.45

Accrued Interest
22,580.63

Other Legally Available Moneys
   1,875,172.57




Total Sources
$88,720,296.65




Use of Funds:





Deposit to Escrow Deposit Trust Fund
$83,858,359.00

Underwriter’s Discount
419,825.00

Cost of Issuance
248,700.00

Accrued Interest
22,580.63

Termination Fee Payment
3,916,750.00

Bond Insurance
251,000.00

Miscellaneous
        3,082.02




Total Uses
$88,720,296.65




Series 2002 Bonds

Sources of Funds:





Par Amount of Bonds
$60,150,000.00

Net Premium
3,946,013.50

Accrued Interest
19,214.58

Other Legally Available Moneys
1,057,399.17




Total Sources
$65,172,627.25




Use of Funds:





Deposit to Escrow Deposit Trust Fund
$61,921,695.00

Underwriter’s Discount
300,750.00

Cost of Issuance 
223,100.00

Accrued Interest
19,214.58

Termination Fee Payment
2,477,800.00

Bond Insurance
229,000.00

Miscellaneous
        1,067.67




Total Uses
$65,172,627.25




DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS

General Description

The Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds and will be initially registered to Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  Individual purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry form only, and the purchasers will not receive physical delivery of the Bonds or any certificate representing their beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds.  See “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” herein.  U.S. Bank Trust National Association is Bond Registrar and Paying Agent for the Bonds.

The Series 2001 Bonds shall be dated July 1, 2001 and the Series 2002 Bonds shall be dated July 1, 2002, and each shall bear interest from that date at the rates (calculated based upon a year of 360 days consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months) and shall mature on the dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement.  The Bonds are current interest bonds and shall be available to the purchasers thereof in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Interest on the Series 2001 Bonds will be payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on October 1, 2001.  Interest on the Series 2002 Bonds will be payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on October 1, 2002.

Principal of and redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds shall be payable to the Owners of the Bonds upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds as they become due at the designated principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent.  Except as otherwise described under the heading “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” and as otherwise set forth in the Resolution with respect to defaulted interest, interest on the Bonds shall be payable (i) by check drawn upon the Paying Agent and mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the owners of the Bonds as of the close of business on the Record Date next preceding each Interest Payment Date at the registered addresses of such owners as they shall appear on the registration books as of such Record Date, notwithstanding the cancellation of any Bond upon any exchange or transfer thereof subsequent to the Record Date and prior to such Interest Payment Date, (ii) upon the request of a registered Bondholder of at least $1,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds, all payment of interest on its Bonds shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account of a financial institution within the United States designated by such registered Bondholder and on file with the Paying Agent as of the applicable Record Date, and (iii) in the case of interest payable upon redemptions or at final maturity, upon presentation of the Bonds at the designated principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent.

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS

The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The information under this section concerning DTC and the DTC book entry system has been furnished by DTC for use in this Official Statement.  The County makes no representations as to the accuracy of such information.

Unless the book-entry system described herein is terminated, The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as initial securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee).  One fully registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC or with the Registrar, on behalf of DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law.  DTC is a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.  DTC holds securities that its participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the settlement among Direct Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Direct Participant’s accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.  DTC is owned by a number of its Direct Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants” and together with the Direct Participants, the “Participants”).  The rules applicable to DTC and its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of the Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time-to-time.

Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemption, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the Bond documents.  Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners, or in the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds of a maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails a proxy  (“Omnibus Proxy”) to the Paying Agent as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Payments of principal and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be made to DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on the payment date.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in a “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent, or the County, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time-to-time.  Payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest to DTC is the responsibility of the County or the Paying Agent.  Disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE REGISTRAR NOR THE PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO SUCH DTC PARTICIPANTS, OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PAYMENTS TO OR THE PROVIDING OF NOTICE FOR THE DTC PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE BONDS.  THE COUNTY CANNOT AND DOES NOT GIVE ANY ASSURANCES THAT DTC, PARTICIPANTS OR OTHERS WILL DISTRIBUTE PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS PAID TO DTC OR ITS NOMINEE, AS THE REGISTERED OWNER, OR ANY NOTICES TO THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OR THAT THEY WILL DO SO ON A TIMELY BASIS, NOR THAT DTC WILL ACT IN A MANNER DESCRIBED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.

DTC MAY DISCONTINUE PROVIDING ITS SERVICES AS SECURITIES DEPOSITORY WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS AT ANY TIME BY GIVING REASONABLE NOTICE TO THE COUNTY OR THE PAYING AGENT.  UNDER SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES IN THE EVENT THAT A SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY IS NOT OBTAINED, BOND CERTIFICATES ARE REQUIRED TO BE PRINTED AND DELIVERED.  THE COUNTY MAY DECIDE TO DISCONTINUE USE OF THE SYSTEM OF BOOK-ENTRY TRANSFERS THROUGH DTC (OR A SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY).  IN THAT EVENT, BOND CERTIFICATES WILL BE PRINTED AND DELIVERED.

NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE REGISTRAR NOR THE PAYING AGENT SHALL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS, OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS, IN RESPECT OF THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY PARTICIPANT; THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL, INTEREST OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF THE BONDS; ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO BONDHOLDERS UNDER THE RESOLUTION; THE SELECTION BY DTC OR ANY PARTICIPANT OF ANY PERSON TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS; OR ANY OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS BONDHOLDER.

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO., AS NOMINEE OF DTC, IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE BONDS, REFERENCES HEREIN TO THE OWNERS OR HOLDERS OF THE BONDS (OTHER THAN UNDER THE CAPTION “TAX EXEMPTION” HEREIN) SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. AND SHALL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE BONDS.
For every transfer of ownership interests in the Bonds, the Beneficial Owner may be charged a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto.

The County and the Registrar shall enter into a letter of representations with DTC providing for such book-entry only system.  Such agreement may be terminated at any time by either DTC or the County. In the Event of such termination, the County shall select another securities depository.  If the County does not replace DTC, the County shall prepare and execute replacement Bonds of each Series and deliver them to the Registrar which shall register and deliver to the Beneficial Owners replacement Bonds in the form of fully registered Series 2001 Bonds and Series 2002 Bonds in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, in accordance with instructions from DTC or its nominee.  The foregoing notwithstanding, definitive replacement Bonds shall be issued only upon surrender to the Bond Registrar of the Series 2001 Bond or Series 2002 Bond, as the case may be, of each maturity by DTC, accompanied by registration instructions for the definitive replacement Series 2001 Bonds and Series 2002 Bonds for such maturity from DTC.  The County shall not be liable for any delay in the delivery of such instructions and conclusively may rely on and shall be protected in relying on such instructions of DTC.  As long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds of each Series, as the nominee for DTC, principal and interest shall be payable to Cede & Co. as nominee of DTC, which will, in turn, remit such principal and interest to DTC Participants for subsequent disbursements to the beneficial owners of the Series 2001 Bonds and Series 2002 Bonds.

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

Special Obligations

THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COUNTY IS NOT PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS AND THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY OR OTHER PROVISION OR LIMITATION; NO BONDHOLDER SHALL EVER HAVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE OR COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF THE AD VALOREM TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR TAXATION IN ANY FORM OF ANY REAL PROPERTY THEREIN FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR THE INTEREST ON THE BONDS OR THE MAKING OF ANY SINKING FUND OR RESERVE PAYMENTS PROVIDED FOR IN THE RESOLUTION.

Source of Payment

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the County irrevocably pledges to the payment of the principal of, interest on the Bonds, all Net Revenues Available for Debt Service, and all Funds and Accounts established by the Bond Resolution.  The facilities comprising the Airport System have not been pledged to secure payment of the Bonds.  Net Revenues Available for Debt Service for any period means all Revenues remaining after payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses for such period.

The Bonds and any bonds heretofore and hereafter issued on a parity therewith will be revenue obligations of the County payable solely from the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service and the Funds and Accounts established and pledged therefor as provided in the Bond Resolution, and do not constitute an indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any state constitutional or statutory limitation or a general obligation of the County or any other charge against the County’s general credit or taxing power.  The ad valorem taxing power of the County is not legally authorized to pay the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds and the Bonds shall not constitute a lien upon the Airport System, other than such Funds and Accounts, or any other property of the County whatsoever.

The County may, at any time before or after the date of issuance of the Bonds, issue additional bonds on a parity with the Bonds, upon compliance with the terms of the Bond Resolution.  See “Additional Bonds” below.

Debt Service Reserve Account

The Bond Resolution creates a Debt Service Reserve Account for the Security of the Bonds.  During the period when any Bonds are outstanding, the Debt Service Reserve Account must be maintained at the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, which is equal to the average annual Debt Service with respect to all series as to which any Bonds are Outstanding, calculated with respect to each series  as of the date of issuance; provided, however, that in the case of Refunding Bonds, Debt Service shall be calculated by treating the Refunding Bonds as part of the same Series as the Bonds refunded thereby, by including the annual Debt Service on such Refunding Bonds from the date of issue to the final maturity date thereof and by excluding the annual Debt Service on the Bonds refunded thereby from the date such refunded Bonds are deemed not to be Outstanding to the final maturity date thereof, and the average of the annual Debt Services as so determined shall be calculated by using the original number of years from the initial date of issue of such Refunded Bond Series to the initial final maturity date thereof.  The Debt Service Reserve Account is currently funded at the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement.

Rate Maintenance Covenant

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the County covenants that it will fix, charge and collect rates, fees, rentals, and charges for the use of the Airport System, and shall revise such rates, fees, rentals and charges as often as may be necessary or appropriate to produce Revenues in each Fiscal Year at least equal to the sum of (x) Operation and Maintenance Expenses, including reserves therefor provided for in the Annual Budget, plus (y) the greater of (A) an amount equal to the sum of 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, or (B) the sum of (i) the amount to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Account, plus (ii) the amount, if any, to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Reserve Account (including amounts payable to the issuer of any Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy and excluding amounts required to be paid into such account out of the proceeds of Bonds), plus (iii) the amount, if any, to be paid into the Renewal and Replacement Fund as provided in the Annual Budget; plus (iv) all other charges and liens whatsoever payable out of Revenues during such Fiscal Year, plus (v) to the extent not otherwise provided for, all amounts payable on Subordinated Indebtedness.

If, in any such Fiscal Year, Revenues are less than amount specified above, the County shall take action to revise its rates, fees, rentals and charges, or alter its methods of operation or take other action in such manner as is calculated to produce the amount so required in such period.

If the audit report required under the Bond Resolution for any Fiscal Year should indicate that the County has not satisfied its obligations under the Rate Maintenance Covenant described in the second preceding paragraph, then within 15 days of the receipt of the audit report for such Fiscal Year, the Airport Consultant shall review and analyze the financial status and the administration and operations of the Airport System, shall inspect the properties constituting the Airport System, and shall submit to the Board and the County Clerk, within 60 days thereafter, a written report on the same, including the action taken by the County with respect to the revisions of its rates, fees, rentals and charges, which report may contain recommendations of further revisions of the rates, fees, rentals, charges, and methods of operation of the Airport System that will result in producing the amount so required in the following twelve-month period commencing October 1 and ending on the next succeeding September 30.  Promptly upon its receipt of such recommendations the County shall transmit copies thereof to each Bondholder who shall have requested the same and shall take such further action to revise its rates, fees, rentals and charges, or alter its method of operation or take other action in such manner as is calculated to produce the amount so required in such period.

In the event the County shall fail to take action specified above, the Holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding may institute and prosecute an action or proceeding in any court or before any board or commission having jurisdiction to compel the County to comply with such requirements.

Budget Procedures

The Bond Resolution requires the County to prepare for each Fiscal Year an Annual Budget with respect to the Airport System for the ensuing Fiscal Year.  Such Annual Budget shall set forth in reasonable detail:  the estimated Revenues and Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the Airport System for such Fiscal Year; the estimated amounts to be deposited during such Fiscal Year in each of the Funds and Accounts established under the Bond Resolution and the estimated expenditures for the replacement of capital assets or any unusual or extraordinary maintenance or repairs, for the building and constructing of permanent improvements, alterations, buildings and other structures, including runways, taxi strips and aprons of the Airport System.  The County may at any time adopt an amended Annual Budget for the remainder of the then current Fiscal Year.

Application and Use of Revenues

The Bond Resolution creates six funds designated the Construction Fund, the Revenue Fund, the Debt Service Fund (consisting of a Debt Service Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account), the Renewal and Replacement Fund, the Subordinated Bond Fund and the Improvement and Development Fund.  The Trustee holds the Debt Service Fund, the Construction Fund and the Subordinated Bond Fund.  The County holds all of the other Funds.

All Revenues of the Airport System are deposited as received in the Revenue Fund and applied in the following manner:

(a)
From time to time, to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses.

(b)
From time to time, to the maintenance of an operation and maintenance reserve in an amount that is equal to 1/6th (unless reduced by subsequent resolution, provided that the reserve shall never be less than 1/20th of the amount appropriated in the Annual Budget) of the amount appropriated in the Annual Budget for Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the then current Fiscal Year.  Amounts in such reserve are to be used to take up deficiencies in the Debt Service Account, the Debt Service Reserve Account, the Renewal and Replacement Fund and the Subordinated Bond Fund.  Any balance not so used is to be deposited in the Improvement and Development Fund.

(c)
Monthly, to the Debt Service Fund:  (i) for credit to the Debt Service Account, the amount, if any, required so that the balance in said Account shall be equal to the Accrued Aggregate Debt Service as of the last day of the then current calendar month; provided that, for the purposes of computing the amount to be deposited in said Account, there shall be excluded from the calculation of the balance in said Account the amount, if any, set aside in the Debt Service Account from the proceeds of Bonds for the payment of interest on Bonds, less the amount of such Proceeds to be applied in accordance with the Bond Resolution to the payment of interest accrued and unpaid and to accrue on Bonds through the last day of the then current calendar month and (ii) if the Debt Service Reserve Account has not been funded to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement upon the issuance of a Series of Bonds, for credit to the Debt Service Reserve Account, an amount not less than 1/60th of the difference between the balance in the Debt Service Reserve Account (including the amount of any Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy) on the date of issuance of the Bonds and the Debt Service Reserve Requirement until the amount on deposit therein equals the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, provided, however, no such deposits need to be made to the Debt Service Reserve Account to the extent earnings thereon equal at least the amount to be so deposited, and (ii) if the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account (including the amount of any Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy) is reduced below the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement as a result of any transfer to the Debt Service Account, an amount not less than 1/60th of the amount of such transfer until the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account is again equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement.  Moneys deposited in the Debt Service Fund are to be applied to the payment of principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.

(d)
Monthly, to the Renewal and Replacement Fund, the amount budgeted for deposit to the Renewal and Replacement Fund in the current Annual Budget.  Amounts in the Renewal and Replacement Fund shall be applied to the payment of the costs of equipment, major repairs and capital renewals, replacements, additions, betterments, improvements and disposals with respect to the Airport System necessary, after consultation with the Consulting Engineers, to keep the same in good operating condition or to prevent a loss of Revenues therefrom.  Amounts in the Renewal and Replacement Fund shall also be applied to the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses to the extent that amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund are insufficient, and to the payment of extraordinary operation and maintenance expenses, and contingencies, including the prevention or correction of any unusual loss or damage, in connection with the Airport System, all to the extent not provided for in the then current Annual Budget or by moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund as an operation and maintenance reserve.  On the last day of any month, if the amount in the Debt Service Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund shall be less than the requirement of the Debt Service Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account, respectively, and there shall not be on deposit in the Subordinated Bond Fund or the Improvement and Development Fund moneys sufficient and available for transfer to the deficient Account in the Debt Service Account to cure such deficiency, then the County shall transfer from the Renewal and Replacement Fund for deposit in the Debt Service Account or the-Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund, as the case may be, the amount necessary to make up such deficiency.  On the last day of any month, the County may also transfer from the Renewal and Replacement Fund to the Improvement and Development Fund such amounts as are determined by the County to be in excess of the amount necessary to be on deposit in the Renewal and Replacement Fund.

(e)
Monthly, to the Subordinated Bond Fund, such amounts, if any, as shall be required to pay debt service on each issue of Subordinated Indebtedness and reserves therefore, as required by the Bond Resolution and the Subordinated Bond Resolution.  Such amounts shall be used to pay debt service and fund required reserves for Subordinated Indebtedness.  If at any time the amount in the Debt Service Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund shall be less than the requirements of such Accounts, respectively, and there shall not be on deposit in the Improvement and Development Fund available moneys sufficient to cure such efficiency, then the Trustee shall withdraw from the Subordinated Bond Fund and deposit in the Debt Service Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account, as the case may be, the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the Subordinated Bond Fund, if less than the amount necessary) to make up such deficiency.

(f)
Monthly, to the Improvement and Development Fund, to the extent moneys are available therefor in the Revenue Fund after making the above transfers and deposits.  The County shall withdraw from the Improvement and Development Fund and apply moneys in the following amounts and in the following order of priority:  (i) for deposit in the Debt Service Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the Improvement and Development Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in payments to the Debt Service Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account and (ii) for deposit in the Renewal and Replacement Fund, the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the Improvement and Development fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in the Renewal and Replacement Fund.  Amounts in the Improvement and Development Fund not required to meet a deficiency or for transfer as required in the net preceding sentence shall be deposited by the County in the Debt Service Account -- SI and the Debt Service Reserve Account -- SI (each created under the Subordinated Bond Resolution and as defined therein) to the extent necessary to make up any deficiencies in payments to the Debt Service Account -- SI and the Debt Service Reserve Account -- SI.  Amounts in the Improvement and Development Fund not so required shall, upon determination of the County, be applied to or set aside for any lawful purpose of the County related to the Airport System.

Additional Bonds

New Projects.  The County may issue Additional Bonds for the purpose of paying the costs of any Additional Project upon the delivery of, among other things, certificates of the County stating that (i) for any 12 consecutive months out of the 18 months next preceding the authentication and delivery of such Additional Bonds or the last completed Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements are available, the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service for such 12-month period equaled at least 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for such 12-month period and (ii) the estimated Net Revenues Available for Debt Service in each of the three Fiscal Years following the Fiscal Year in which it is estimated that the Additional Project will be completed are at least equal to 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for the outstanding Bonds and the Additional Bonds for the corresponding Fiscal Years.

Completion Bonds.  The County may also issue Additional Bonds for the purpose of providing funds to complete payment of the cost of the Initial Project, in a principal amount that will provide the County with funds equal, as nearly as practicable, to the completion requirement for such Initial Project as set forth in a certificate of the Consulting Engineers.

Refunding Bonds.  One or more series of Refunding Bonds may be authenticated and delivered to refund (i) all Outstanding Bonds of one or more Series or one or more maturities or part of any one or more maturities within a Series, or (ii) any Subordinated Indebtedness.  Refunding Bonds may only be issued if the County provides a certificate setting forth (iii) (A) that the Aggregate Debt Service for the then current and each future Fiscal Year to and including the Fiscal Year next preceding the date of the latest maturity of any Bonds of any Series then outstanding prior to the authentication and delivery of the Refunding Bonds and (B) with respect to the Bonds of all Series to be outstanding immediately thereafter, that the Aggregate Debt Service set forth for each Fiscal Year pursuant to (B) is not greater than that set forth for such Fiscal year Pursuant to (A) or (iv) that the Refunding Bonds are being issued to prevent the occurrence of an Event of Default or to cure an existing Event of Default.

Priority.  All Series of such Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds will be payable from the same sources and will be secured on a parity with the Bonds.

In addition to the requirements described above, the County must comply with certain other conditions set forth in the Bond Resolutions in order to issue Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds.  See “APPENDIX A, SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION - Additional Bonds.”

Subordinated Indebtedness

The County may issue Subordinated Indebtedness payable from, and secured by a pledge of, amounts in the Subordinated Bond Fund and/or the Improvement and Development Fund; provided, however, that (i) such Subordinated Indebtedness shall be issued only to provide proceeds to be used for any lawful purpose of the County related to the Airport system, and (ii) such pledge shall be subordinate in all respects to the pledge of the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service, moneys, securities and Funds created by the Bond Resolution as security for the Bonds.

Special Purpose Facilities

The County may construct capital improvements and acquire equipment (“Special Purpose Facilities”) with funds other than Revenues or obligations payable from other than Revenues.  The County is authorized to finance Special Purpose Facilities from the proceeds of obligations issued by the County without regard to any requirements of the Bond Resolution with respect to the issuance of Additional Bonds; provided, among other requirements, that such obligations are payable solely from rentals or other charges derived by the County under a lease, sale or other agreement entered into between the County and the person, firm or corporation which will be utilizing the Special Purpose Facilities to be financed.  Such Special Purpose Facilities shall not be part of the Airport System; provided, however, after all obligations issued by the County to finance such Special Purpose Facilities have been paid in full, or provision for their payment has been made, the County may include any such Special Purpose Facility in the Airport System if it receives a certificate from the Airport Consultant to the effect that the inclusion in the Airport System of such Special Purpose Facility will not adversely affect Revenue or the rights, security and remedies of Bondholders under the Bond Resolution.

MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE

The following information has been furnished by MBIA Insurance Corporation (the "Insurer") for use in this Official Statement.  Reference is made to Appendix E for a specimen of the Insurer's policy.

The Insurer's policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and complete payment required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to the Paying Agent or its successor of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Bonds as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed by the Insurer's policy shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner of the Bonds pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a "Preference").

The Insurer's policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Bond.  The Insurer's policy does not, under any circumstance, insure against loss relating to:  (i) optional or mandatory redemptions (other than mandatory sinking fund redemptions); (ii) any payments to be made on an accelerated basis; (iii) payments of the purchase price of Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; or (iv) any Preference relating to (i) through (iii) above.  The Insurer's policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal of or interest on the Bonds resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the Paying Agent or any other paying agent for the Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of a Bond the payment of an insured amount for which is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such insured amounts which are then due.  Upon presentment and surrender of such Bonds or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Bonds, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the insured amounts due on the Bonds as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the Insurer as agent for such owners of the Bonds in any legal proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on the Bonds, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. shall disburse to such owners or the Paying Agent payment of the insured amounts due on such Bonds, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such insured amounts and legally available therefor.

The Insurer is the principal operating subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New York Stock Exchange listed company (the “Company”).  The Company is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims against the Insurer.  The Insurer is domiciled in the State of New York and licensed to do business in and subject to regulation under the laws of all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands of the United States and the Territory of Guam.  The Insurer has two European branches, one in the Republic of France and the other in the Kingdom of Spain.  New York has laws prescribing minimum capital requirements, limiting classes and concentrations of investments and requiring the approval of policy rates and forms.  State laws also regulate the amount of both the aggregate and individual risks that may be insured, the payment of dividends by the Insurer, changes in control and transactions among affiliates.  Additionally, the Insurer is required to maintain contingency reserves on its liabilities in certain amounts and for certain periods of time.

As of December 31, 1999, the Insurer had admitted assets of $7.0 billion (audited), total liabilities of $4.6 billion (audited), and total capital and surplus of $2.4 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of December 31, 2000, the Insurer had admitted assets of $7.6 billion (audited), total liabilities of $5.2 billion (audited), and total capital and surplus of $2.4 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities.

Furthermore, copies of the Insurer's year-end financial statements prepared in accordance with statutory accounting practices are available without charge from the Insurer.  A copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company is available from the Insurer or the Securities and Exchange Commission.   The address of the Insurer is 113 King Street, Armonk, New York l0504.  The telephone number of the Insurer is (914) 273-4545.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. rates the financial strength of the Insurer “Aaa”.

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services Group, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., rates the financial strength of the Insurer “AAA”.

Fitch IBCA, Inc. rates the financial strength of the Insurer “AAA”. 

Each rating of the Insurer should be evaluated independently.  The ratings reflect the respective rating agency's current assessment of the creditworthiness of the Insurer and its ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance.  Any further explanation as to the significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the applicable rating agency.

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and such ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies.  Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.  The Insurer does not guaranty the market price of the Bonds nor does it guaranty that the ratings on the Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

The insurance provided by this Policy is not covered by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association created under Chapter 631, Florida Statutes.
BONDHOLDER DELAYED DELIVERY RISKS, SERIES 2002 BONDS

The County anticipates that the Series 2002 Bonds will be issued and delivered upon or after July 3, 2002, approximately 14 months from the date hereof.  Delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds is contingent upon the delivery of the Municipal Bonds Insurance Policy by MBIA and the delivery of certain certificates, reports and legal opinions and the satisfaction of certain other conditions as of the delivery date, as provided in the Forward Delivery Bond Purchase Contract between the County and the Underwriter with respect to the Series 2002 Bonds.  Events which may prevent those conditions from being satisfied include among others (i) changes in law affecting the County, the validity or enforceability of the Resolution or the Series 2002 Bonds or the tax exempt status thereof, (ii) the filing of certain types of litigation affecting the issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds or (iii) the occurrence and continuation of a material event of default or an event that will result in a material event of default under the Resolution.

During the period of time between the date hereof and the issuance and delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds (the “Delayed Delivery Period”), certain information contained in this Official Statement may change in a material respect.  The County has agreed to provide certain secondary market disclosure with respect to the Series 2002 Bonds during the Delayed Delivery Period, as more particularly described in “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein.  Purchases of the Series 2002 Bonds are subject to certain risks described below.

Rating Risks.  Although no ratings have been assigned to the Series 2002 Bonds, municipal bond insurance issued by MBIA currently results in bond issues being rated “AAA” by Standard and Poor’s Ratings Group (“S&P”), “Aaa” by Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. (Moody’s) and “AAA” by Fitch Investor Service(“Fitch”).  (See “RATINGS” herein.)  The County has received a Commitment for delivery of Municipal Bond Insurance by MBIA on the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds.  The Series 2002 Bonds will be rated at the time of delivery based upon the MBIA Municipal Bond Insurance Policy.  No assurance can be given that at the delivery date the ratings assigned to the 2002 Bonds will not be different from those currently assigned to MBIA Insured Bond Issues.

Secondary Market Risk.  While the Underwriter presently intends to make a secondary market in the Series 2002 Bonds, there can be no guarantee that the Underwriter will be successful in establishing a secondary market for the Series 2002 Bonds or, if a secondary market exists that the Series 2002 Bonds can be sold for any particular price.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2002 Bonds should assume that the Series 2002 Bonds will be illiquid through the Delayed Delivery Period. 

THE AIRPORT SYSTEM

Airport System Financial Information

The following table shows, for the periods indicated, Revenues, Operation and Maintenance Expenses and Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (each computed in accordance with the Bond Resolution).  All amounts set forth herein under the caption “Airport System Financial Information” for the five Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2000 are taken from the audited financial statements for the years indicated.  The audited financial statements of the Department of Airports (the “Department”), for the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2000 and the Notes thereto are included as APPENDIX C hereto.

AIRPORT FINANCIAL OPERATIONs

Fiscal Year Ending September 30,


2000
1999
1998
1997
1996

Operating Revenues







Concessions
$  24,025,009
$  22,145,545
$  23,245,077
$  20,834,022
$  19,739,316


Rentals
19,170,207
20,848,617
19,826,963
17,927,428
19,075,144


Landing Fees
4,877,579
5,631,542
5,525,104
5,292,721
4,992,405


Other
1,906,360
1,892,668
1,826,660
2,389,132
2,294,025

Total Operating Revenues (1)
49,979,155
50,518,372
50,423,804
46,443,303
46,100,890








Non Operating Revenues







Interest Income
4,869,760
2,765,600
5,568,059
4,682,707
4,475,353


Other
47,424
495,333
135,081
1,502,200
40,694

Total Non-Operating Revenues
4,917,184
3,260,933
5,703,140
6,184,907
4,516,047

Total Revenues
54,896,339
53,779,305
56,126,944
52,628,210
50,616,937








Operating Expenses







Salaries and Benefits
7,080,983
6,779,356
6,671,421
6,473,572
6,290,642


General and Administrative
5,381,054
5,489,618
5,141,800
4,954,872
5,766,916


Contracted Security
4,486,836
4,493,902
4,505,974
4,753,331
4,825,711


Utilities
1,931,449
2,270,731
2,155,491
2,568,208
2,355,839


Maintenance
3,523,078
3,612,907
3,415,743
3,850,564
3,686,588


Contracted Aircraft Fire-Fighting Service
4,306,520
4,231,526
4,168,285
3,489,061
3,571,117

Total Operating Expenses
26,709,920
26,878,040
26,058,714
26,089,608
26,496,813








Non-Operating Expenses






Other
173,363
931,354
192,374
1,485,068
208,042

Total Non-Operating Expenses
173,363
931,354
192,374
1,485,068
208,042

Total Expenses
26,883,283
27,809,394
26,251,088
27,574,676
26,704,855








Plus Transfers
7,950,421
5,513,010
5,356,771
4,978,323
4,858,281

Less O&M Coverage
2,390
-44,875
-472,340
857,699
-96,175

Less Noise Fees
328,679
236,745
428,074
574,487
675,613








Net Revenues Available 






For Debt Service
35,632,408
31,291,051
35,276,893
28,599,671
28,190,925








Debt Service Expenses Interest Expense
11,110,275
11,428,725
11,718,488
11,982,238
12,227,350

Principal Payment
5,490,000
5,200,000
4,935,000
4,690,000
4,475,000

Total Debt Service Expense
16,600,275
16,628,725
16,653,488
16,672,238
16,702,350








Debt Service Coverage
2.15
1.88
2.12
1.72
1.69

_________________________

Source:  Airport Management Data

Management’s Discussion of Results of Operations

The Department has seen an increase of air service to Palm Beach International Airport primarily due to the addition of Southwest Airlines in January, 2001 and jetBlue Airlines in October, 2000.  Additionally, other major carriers at PBIA have increased capacity by either adding new destinations or increasing capacity to existing markets.  Delta Express and MetroJet services have been initiated at PBIA in recent months as well.  As a result, total airline capacity, as defined by airline seats, increased by 14.2% for March, 2001 as compared to March, 2000.  104 daily flights originate at PBIA.

Demand for air service has been strong for years, as evidenced by airline load factors.  Due to aircraft shortages, airlines only recently began to increase capacity into the PBIA market beginning April, 2000.  Since that time, enplanements have grown 4% as a direct result of the additional seats into the market.  Higher enplanement growth is anticipated for the next several months as the additional discount carrier seats in the market increases competition and spurs travel.  Southwest Airlines’ first full month of operation was February, 2001; February passenger growth at PBIA exceeded 9% as compared to February, 2000.  This traffic growth was in spite of the loss of TWA and scaling back of Spirit Airline’s operations at PBIA.

With the addition of Southwest Airlines comes the increased potential for growth due to the “Southwest Effect”.  This term describes the market forces which cause other carriers to reduce airfares in an effort to maintain market share at a particular airport.  The overall fare reduction at an airport creates a growth stimulus for additional air travel.  Other airports have experienced double-digit enplanement growth after the addition of Southwest Airlines.

Southwest Airlines cited PBIA as their most recent addition due to the strong market demand and ideal facilities.  Southwest management generally favors airports with low congestion in terms of ground access and airfield capacity.  In 2000, PBIA was fourth best in the nation for on time departure rating.  For these reasons Southwest Airlines chose to make a strong leasehold and operational commitment at PBIA with an initial offering of 13 daily flights.  Southwest Airlines is currently leasing three passenger gates, which will accommodate 30 flights per day.   

TWA announced its departure from PBIA effective November, 2000.  TWA had a significant market share (6%) at PBIA.  The loss of TWA affected enplanements in November and December of 2000, contributing to slight passenger decreases; however, due to the strength of the market and added airline capacity, January, 2001 passenger traffic grew in excess of 5% and February grew in excess of 9%.

Spirit Airlines recently announced discontinuance of air service to PBIA effective April, 2001.  Spirit is a signatory to the Signatory Airline/Airport Use and Lease Agreement (the “Airport Use and Lease Agreement”) and acknowledges its lease commitment until September, 2005.  Additionally, Spirit Airlines management has indicated the possibility of flights returning to PBIA as early as winter of 2001.

AIRPORT SYSTEM GENERAL INFORMATION

Palm Beach International Airport

Physical Description.  PBIA is situated on approximately 1,489 acres of land and is located three miles southwest of the City of West Palm Beach.

In 1984, the County began to implement a long-term development plan designed to alleviate problems associated with the inadequacy of airport facilities to meet then current and anticipated future demand.  In November, 1984, the County issued its $188,400,000 Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1984 to provide for the financing of Airport System improvements consisting of a new terminal, including parking and landside, airside and access roads.  The terminal, completed in October, 1988, is a centralized, three-level terminal with an additional four-level rooftop parking garage, encompassing approximately 561,000 square feet.  Two pedestrian walkways connect the terminal building with public parking areas.  The terminal has two second level concourses accommodating 25 aircraft parking gates and a ground-level commuter concourse.  The ticketing facilities are located on the third level, concession and gates are on the second level, and baggage claim/baggage makeup facilities are located on the lower level.  The terminal is accessed by vertically separated arrival/departure roadways.  Parking areas are comprised of a 4 story parking garage and ground level lots which provide a total of 8,000 spaces for parking, including the recent expansion of satellite facilities.

In addition, furnishings, fixtures and equipment and other aircraft support systems are leased by the County to carriers and other tenants of the Airport.  By providing tenant equipment and furnishings, rather than having tenants own the furnishings and equipment, the County is able to better maintain control over airport facilities.

The airfield consists of three runways and associated taxiways.  Major air carriers utilize the main 10,000 lineal foot east/west runway and the 6,930 lineal foot crosswind runway.  A third 3,152 lineal foot general aviation runway runs east/west.  The main runway was lengthened from 8,000 feet in the summer of 2000 to increase safety, reduce noise impacts and accommodate longer haul aircraft.  Other airfield facilities include an Aircraft Rescue Fire Fighting building and an FAA air traffic control tower.  No additional runways are anticipated to be necessary in the foreseeable future.

Current facilities generally are sufficient for the short term.  Capacity related projects under consideration for the mid-term include:  increased baggage handling areas and devices ($2.5 million), an additional long term parking garage ($45.0 million), and a three gate expansion structure attached to the end of concourse C ($11.3 million).  The baggage facilities and the concourse improvement will be funded by Passenger Facility Charges.  The additional parking garage, if constructed, will be funded by revenue bonds.  

Operations.  PBIA is currently handling over 5.9 million passengers and 23,200 tons of air cargo annually, and is one of the largest medium hub airports in the United States.  PBIA has experienced substantial passenger growth since deregulation in 1978.  Air cargo has also increased substantially since 1978.  Potential for growth increased significantly with the addition of discount carriers Southwest Airlines and jetBlue.

The carriers serving PBIA meet the domestic needs of the PBIA Air Service Area.  The airport has no significant connecting activity, and connecting activity is anticipated to remain insignificant in the future.  International traffic is limited primarily to island service provided by commuters to the Bahamas.  There are also frequent Canadian charters by Air Canada and Air Transat, service which borders on being a regularly scheduled activity.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

The following tables contain data concerning PBIA operations for the indicated periods.

Airline Market Shares 

For the Twelve Months Ended September 30, 2000 

Enplanements By Carrier

Carrier

Passengers Enplaned

Market %

Delta

      1,030,552 

35.0%

USAirways
        678,822 

23.0%

Continental
        362,005 

12.3%

TWA

        185,254 

6.3%

American

        151,347 

5.1%

Spirit

        149,772 

5.1%

Northwest

        117,766 

4.0%

United

          63,144 

2.1%

Midway

          51,906 

1.8%

Gulfstream
          46,982 

1.6%

Hensen

          45,646 

1.5%

Comair

          31,697 

1.1%

Air Midwest
          11,974 

0.4%

Other

          19,318 

0.7%









      2,946,185 

100.0%













Passenger, Weights, Operations, and Cargo Volumes

For the years ended September 30, 




Total





Operations:



Enplaned
Landed
Air Carrier
Total


Pax
Weight
plus Commuters
Cargo/Mail

1996
2,868,253
4,246,684
82,500
29,153

1997
2,868,777
4,107,221
77,510
35,293

1998
2,904,127
4,049,531
72,950
27,647

1999
2,879,969
3,934,044
69,697
25,169

2000
2,946,185
3,899,515
71,566
23,974

_________________________

Source:  Airport Management Data

Airport System Management.  The Department of Airports, which currently employs approximately 135 people, is a department of the County, and is governed by the Board of County Commissioners.  The Director of Airports is appointed with the consent of the Board and reports to the County Administrator and ultimately to the Board.

Bruce V. Pelly, Director of Airports, joined the Department as its Director in 1986 after serving as Acting Director while an Assistant County Administrator for Palm Beach County and liaison to the Airport Department.  Mr. Pelly holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration from Florida Atlantic University and an Associated Arts Degree in Building Construction from Palm Beach Community College.  Mr. Pelly served as Assistant County Administrator for Palm Beach County for ten years prior to becoming Director of Airports.

C. Michael Simmons, Fiscal Director, has been with the Department since June, 1989.  Mr. Simmons holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting from Florida State University and is a Certified Public Accountant.  Prior to coming to the Department, Mr. Simmons was the Acting Director of Finance and Accounting Manager at Jacksonville Port Authority for four years, July 1985 to June 1989; Management Services Officer for the City of Jacksonville, November 1983 to June 1985; and Public Accounts Auditor for the Auditor General, State of Florida from May 1981 to October 1983.  Mr. Simmons is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dorral J. Calvert, Director of Operations and Maintenance, has been with the Department since August 1989.  Mr. Calvert retired from the Air Force as a Colonel after twenty-six years of active service in various capacities.  His last assignment being the Logistics Director for Homestead Air Force Base in Florida, where he managed supply, transportation, comptroller, contracting and the planning functions for the installation from 1986 to 1989.  He has a B.S. Degree in Engineering from the University of Missouri, with a MBA from the University of Southern Illinois.  In addition, has attended various military schools, the last being the Industrial College of the Armed Forces in Washington D.C.

Susan S. Sallet, Airport Properties Manager, joined the Department of Airports in October 2000.  Ms. Sallet received a Bachelor of Science degree in Aviation Business Administration in August 1992 from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University.  Ms. Sallet has spent the past 19 years in the field of airport management negotiating and administrating airport leases at Orlando International and Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airports.  Ms. Sallet is a member of the Florida Airport Managers Association and Airport Minority Advisory Committee a national organization. 

Employee Relations.  Certain employees of the Department are unionized.  Labor relations are satisfactory.

Pension Plan.  The Department participates in the noncontributory Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (the “Plan”), which covers substantially all of its employees.  The Plan, which is totally administered and controlled by the State of Florida, determines the amount of contributions.  The Department’s relative position and undertaking under the Plan are commingled with that of other participating governmental entities and are not determinable.  Contributions to the Plan are recorded as an expense when accrued.  Contributions to the Plan as determined by the State of Florida are equal to a percentage of salaries.  Approximately $522,000 and $680,600 were contributed during years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Insurance.  The Department purchases an insurance policy for Airport(s) Premises, Hangarkeepers and Non-Owned Aircraft Legal Liability with $100,000,000 Combined Single Limit Coverage.  The Department participates in the County’s self-insured Workers’ Compensation and Property Damage insurance programs, established and approved in accordance with Florida Statutes.

All tenants, contractors and contractual users of the System are required to provide proof of insurance at least annually with types of coverages and limits as are periodically determined by the Department in consultation with the County’s Risk Manager.

Other Services.  Crash-Fire-Rescue and police-security services for the Airport System are provided by the County’s Crash- Fire -Rescue Department and the County Sheriff’s Office, respectively, under arrangements providing for coordination of activities and of costs.  Other County agencies and departments provide assistance or services on a reimbursable basis.

Airline Agreements.  With the additional of Southwest and jetBlue, PBIA now has nine signatory carriers, each of which have entered into substantially similar Airport Use and Lease Agreements.  Delta Airlines has the largest market share at 33% followed by US Airways at 25%.  The other signatories include:  Continental, American, Northwest, Spirit, and United. The signatory agreement was renegotiated and executed in October of 2000.  The current signatory agreement carries a five year term and eliminated the non-signatory penalty of a 25% surcharge that was effective in prior agreements.  Signatories do benefit from a 10% rebate of prior year landing fees, however the primary goal of the Department was to eliminate any financial barriers for the addition of air service.

Additionally, the agreement was amended to decrease the costs to carriers for landing fees by reducing the allocation of Fire Rescue costs to the Airfield cost center.  The Fire Rescue cost allocation was reduced from 90% to 70%.  The net effect of this change reduced the Airfield cost to airlines by 14%.  Other changes to the agreement reallocated cost burdens to reduce the landing fee charge.  These factors plus cost containment measures by the Department contributed to a reduction in the landing fee charges to the airlines by 24.5%.  The 2001 fiscal year landing fee is $.847 per 1,000 lbs. of landed weight as compared to $1.123 in fiscal 2000.  Modest decreases (4.4%) in terminal rents were also achieved in fiscal 2001.

Decreased landing fee rates and rental rates will be offset by anticipated air service increases and increases in passenger traffic which should boost non-airline revenues.  FY 2001 Operating revenues are expected to remain level or slightly increased due to these offset factors.  As a result, PBIA’s revenue sources have diversified significantly.  In FY 1999, Airlines represented 46% of operating revenues, in FY 2000 airline revenues accounted for 40% of operating revenues.  For FY 2001, the Department estimates 37% of operating revenues will be derived from airline revenues.

The signatory agreement is a hybrid agreement as follows:  the cost of operating the terminal and airfield (O & M plus applicable debt service, debt service coverage, and O & M coverage) is charged to the airlines in a compensatory fashion but the airlines also share in the overall airport profits on a 50%-50% basis.  The airline’s share is realized by a credit to terminal rents and landing fees.  In terms of the Department’s internal flow of funds, the airline credit is shown as a Transfer from the Improvement and Development fund into the Revenue Fund.  The Transfer is classified as Revenue under the Bond Resolution and is therefore eligible for inclusion in the calculation of debt service coverage.  See Table 1 for Debt Service Coverage Calculations since 1992.  The minimum Debt Service Coverage is 1.25 times annual debt service costs. 

Under each Airline Agreement, a Signatory Airline is entitled to the use, in common with others so authorized, of PBIA and all facilities, equipment, improvements and services provided or which may be provided at PBIA for common use.

Each Airline leases from the County designated space in the terminal building for its exclusive or preferential use, and in the case of certain adjoining premises, joint use.  Exclusive use premises include ticket counters, offices and VIP rooms; preferential use premises include holdrooms, loading bridges and centralized support systems; joint use premises include concourse areas and baggage claim areas and devices.

Each Signatory Airline is required to pay the County monthly rentals, payable in advance, for the use of the premises leased to such Signatory Airline and fees and charges for the equipment and other rights, licenses, and privileges granted thereunder.  Under the Airline Agreements the aggregate of rentals, fees and charges payable by all Signatory Airlines are required to be sufficient to pay the sum of (i) the “Landing Fees Net Requirement”, and (ii) that percentage of the “Terminal Rentals Net Requirement” relating to premises leased by all Signatory Airlines in the terminal, which costs include the satisfaction of the County’s obligations to make deposits and payments under the Bond Resolution which are properly attributable to such areas; provided, that no Signatory Airline is obligated to pay terminal rentals properly charged to any other Signatory Airline, and not paid by such other Signatory Airline.

A “Transfer” represents a credit to Airline rates and charges for terminal rentals and landing fees calculated pursuant to the Signatory Airline-Airport Use and Lease Agreement which derives the Airlines’ share of residual revenue for a fiscal year after consideration of Airport Operation and Maintenance Expense, Airport Debt Service, Airport Renewal and Replacement Costs, and other miscellaneous Airport System charges.  Said transfers constitute revenues in the fiscal year in which the transfers occur.

The Landing Fees Net Requirement for any period is equal to the sum of 90% of (a) total operation and maintenance expenses (determined in accordance with the Bond Resolution) allocable to the airside cost center of PBIA for such period, (b) aggregate debt service on Bonds, Subordinated Indebtedness and other debt allocable to such cost center for such period, (c) an amount equal to the coverage requirement set forth in the Bond Resolution with respect to such debt service, (d) the portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement allocable to such cost center, (e) operation and maintenance reserve equal to one-sixth of budgeted Operation and Maintenance Expenses for such period allocable to such cost center, and (f) amortization charges for capital expenditures in such cost center for such period made from available County funds, less the sum of (i) all expenses allocable to the Federal Inspection Service Facility, (ii) 100% of nonsignatory airline landing fees, airfield service revenues and aviation fueling revenues and 25% of airline catering revenues, (iii) any surplus or deficit from the prior year, and (iv) any applicable “Transfer.”

The Terminal Rentals Net Requirement is calculated in the same manner with respect to the terminal cost center except that the only revenue deductions are screening fees and an amount equal to 25% of airline catering revenues.

Rates for rentals, fees and charges under the Airline Agreements are reviewed and adjusted annually and whenever total rentals, fees and charges are projected to deviate from the Net Requirements described above by 10% or more.

Under the Airline Agreements, the County is required to obtain the concurrence of more than fifty percent (50%) of the number of Signatory Airlines paying more than fifty percent (50%) of the total rentals, fees and charges for the preceding six (6) months, prior to issuing any new or Additional Bonds, Subordinated Indebtedness, or other debt, to make improvements to, or develop new, general aviation airports other than the North County Airport; provided, however, no such concurrence shall be required if the resulting Additional Bond debt service, Subordinated Indebtedness, or other debt service shall be paid from County funds available for such purposes, and the County calculates Transfers in each year as if no such Additional Bonds, Subordinated Indebtedness, or other debt had been incurred.

The County is also required to provide each Signatory Airline advance written notice of any amendments or supplements to the Bond Resolution which may materially change the terms of the Airline Agreements.

Under each Airline Agreement, if substantial damage to or total destruction of any part of the leased premises occurs, the rental obligation of the affected Signatory Airline is abated until the premises are reconstructed and available for use by such Signatory Airline.  The County has no obligation to repair or reconstruct any of such premises.

In its Airline Agreement, each Signatory Airline agrees to indemnify and save the County harmless from and against all liabilities, claims, suits, judgments, damages, fines or demands, including costs, fees and expenses in connection therewith, for death or injury to third parties or for damage to any property arising out of or incident to the negligence of the Signatory Airline.  Each Airline also agrees to carry and keep in force aircraft liability insurance of not less than $25,000,000 for public liability, property damage and bodily injury, and comprehensive automobile liability insurance covering automotive vehicles operated only on PBIA’s roadways with combined single limits of not less than $1,000,000.

A Signatory Airline may not assign its Airline Agreement or assign or sublet any portion of the space exclusively or jointly leased by the Signatory Airline without the prior consent in writing of the County (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that without such consent the Signatory Airline may assign its Airline Agreement to any corporation with which it may merge or consolidate or which may succeed to its business.

The County may, to the extent allowed by law, cancel an Airline Agreement upon 30 days’ written notice following the occurrence of certain events of bankruptcy of a Signatory Airline, the voluntary discontinuance by a Signatory Airline of operations at PBIA for a period of 30 days without the prior approval of the Department, and the failure by a Signatory Airline to perform under its Airline Agreement and continuance thereof for 30 days after notice from the County.  The County may terminate the Airline Agreements immediately if payments thereunder are not made in full within 15 days of written notice.

A Signatory Airline, not in default of the Agreement, may terminate the Agreement under Article 12.04 of the Airline Use and Lease agreement, by giving the County sixty days advance written notice, upon any one of the following events:

A.
The issuance by any court of competent jurisdiction of an injunction in any way preventing the use of the Airport for Airport purposes or a substantial part of the Airline Premises, which injunction remains in full force for a period of at least ninety days.

B.
The default by the County in the performance of any material covenant or material agreement herein required to be performed by the County and the failure of County to remedy such default for a period of ninety days after receipt from the Signatory Airline of written notice; provided, however, that no notice of cancellation shall be of any force or effect if the County shall have remedied the default prior to receipt of the notice of cancellation; or in the event the same cannot be cured within such ninety day period and the County has commenced such cure.

C.
The lawful assumption by the United States Government or any authorized agency thereof, of the operation, control, or use of the Airport and facilities, or any substantial part or parts thereof, in a manner which substantially restricts the operation of the Signatory Airline, for a period of at least ninety days. 

Parking Revenues  The County contracts with a parking management company, currently AMPCO,  to operate the public parking facilities at PBIA.  Parking revenues are collected by the contractor and deposited directly into the County’s bank accounts.  The management company receives a management fee and reimbursement of actual expenses incurred in the operation of the parking facilities.  Shuttle operations are also operated by the management company, paid by the County at an hourly rate established by bid.  The current contract with AMPCO will expire June 30, 2001; the County is currently seeking a replacement operator for the next three year term.  Fiscal Year 2000 parking revenues amounted to $10,300,000, approximately 20.5% of Operating Revenues.  Increased parking revenue (18% over 1999) is due to a combination of increased traffic, increased parking dwell time, and an increase in long term parking rates from $6/day to $8/day approved by the Board, effective January 2000.  Strategically, increased parking revenues helps to diversify revenue sources and ultimately reduce costs to airlines.

Rental Car Arrangements  The County has entered into agreements, each of which is substantially similar, with Alamo, Avis, Budget, Dollar, Hertz, National, and  Enterprise to provide rental cars to the public at PBIA until September 30, 2003.  Each rental car company pays the greater of 10% of gross receipts or a minimum annual guarantee.  In addition, each company pays rent for ticket counter space, and some companies pay rent for ground leases to operate service facilities.  Off airport car rental companies enter a permit arrangement whereby they pay 8% of airport related gross revenues.  In Fiscal Year 2000, rental car revenues totaled $9,300,000.

Food and Beverage Concession Agreement  The County entered into an agreement with Host-Mariott to provide food and beverage concessions at PBIA.  The contract has a ten year term expiring October, 2009.  At PBIA, Host-Marriot provides food offerings with name brand recognition on a national basis (Starbucks, California Pizza Kitchen, Cinnabon, Burger King) and regional/local name brands (Miami Subs, Sam Sneed’s Tour Tavern, Rooney’s Pub, Nick’s Tomato Pie, and Hoffman’s Chocolates).  Menus offer comparable street level pricing to customers to further enhance the public’s airport experience.  The County designed the agreement to promote food quality, food value, and comfortable dining facilities; part of the equation was lower percentage revenues to the County and percentages specifically tailored to the particular food service concept.  Host-Marriot spent over $4,000,000 in their initial buildout, completely redesigning the old facilities.  As a result, gross revenues from food sales have increased over 30% from the previous operator.  Revenues to the County totaled over $1,000,000 for Fiscal Year 2000, which is slightly greater than revenues derived from the prior food and beverage contract.

News and Gift Concession Agreement.  The County has entered into an agreement with The Paradise Shops, Inc. to provide general merchandise, news and gifts for sale at PBIA for a contract term extending to September, 2008.  The agreement provides for the payment of 20% of gross sales with a minimum annual payment, whichever is greater.  Revenues to the County in Fiscal Year totaled $1,455,000.  These revenues were derived from gross sales of approximately $7.7 million, which amounts to over $2.61 per enplanement.

Noise Abatement Program.  Noise abatement and mitigation programs have been developed at PBIA by noise consultants in conjunction with the Department of Airports, the Federal Aviation Administration and citizen advisory committees.  Noise abatement and mitigation programs were adopted by the County in October, 1985, effective as of June 1, 1986.  The goal of these efforts, which include imposition of a noise operating fee based upon the type of the aircraft and the time of the operation, is to reduce noise impact of PBIA.  Completed and ongoing projects include ground noise barriers, the purchase of homes located within the 75 ldn noise contour, aviation easements, sound insulation of public buildings and homes, and land use planning.  Noise operating fees and Federal and state grants are used to fund the cost of these improvements.

With the implementation of the National Noise policy January 1, 2000, banning all stage one and stage two jet operations, noise fees collected by the County have significantly diminished.  All commercial carriers consist of stage 3 fleets.  Monitoring of noise operations currently consists of nighttime activity and occasional private jet operations that may not be in compliance.  

Other County Airports

Palm-Beach County Park Airport (Lantana).  Lantana Airport is located two miles west of the City of Lantana and seven miles south of PBIA.  Lantana Airport serves the general aviation and recreational aviation public, with minor charter and some light cargo operations.

A single fixed base operation provides general maintenance, management and servicing at this facility.  This fixed base operation has hangar, and terminal facilities available with paved tie-down space for approximately 200 aircraft.

Palm Beach County Glades Airport (Pahokee).  Pahokee Airport serves the general aviation needs of western Palm Beach County.  It is located near the City of Pahokee on the rim of Lake Okeechobee.  It consists of a single fixed base operation providing minor maintenance, fueling, hangar and apron tie-down facilities.

Pahokee Airport serves a mix of executive, pleasure, and commercial (crop dusting) operations located in the rural community of the County.


North County Airport   Located southwest of PGA National, the North County Airport serves as a general aviation reliever to PBIA.  Constructed in 1994, this airport consists of 1,800 acres, a 4,300 foot main runway, a 4,300 foot crosswind runway, and a 2,000 foot grass landing strip.  Facilities include:  terminal building, large maintenance hangars, individual hangars, corporate hangars, and fueling facilities on site.  

Air Service Region

The Air Service Region includes the counties of Palm Beach, St. Lucie And Martin, Florida.  The closest major airport is Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International, located 45 miles south of PBIA, which  serves the domestic Airline needs of Broward County, Florida.  The Department of Airports believes that the Air Service Region is capable of supporting and generating an increased demand for more air transportation services because of its growing industrial base and strong tourist (seasonal and part-time residents) base.

AIRLINES AND AIRLINE INDUSTRY

The following is a general discussion of the Airline Industry throughout the United States and is not limited to Palm Beach International Airport.

The air transport industry is experiencing significant variations in earnings and traffic due to competition, excess industry capacity, traffic constraints, increased costs, and current economic trends.  It is not possible to predict what effect, if any, the present industry conditions may have on future air travel and route structures.

Substantially all of the domestic airlines serving PBIA, or their respective parent corporations, are subject to the information filing requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and in accordance therewith file reports or other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).  Certain information, including financial information, concerning such airlines or their respective parent corporations is disclosed in certain reports and statements filed with the Commission.  Such reports and statements may be inspected at the public reference room of the Commission at 450 5th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. and copies of such reports and statements can be obtained from the Commission at prescribed rates.  In addition, each airline is required, to file periodic reports of financial and operating statistics with the Data Administration Division of the Department of Transportation.  Such reports can be inspected in the Data Requirements and Public Reports Division of the Office of Aviation Information Management, Room 4201, 400 7th Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20590 and copies of such reports can be obtained from the Public Reports Division at prescribed rates.

The Airline De-Regulation Act of 1978 (the “De-Regulation Act”) eliminated the Civil Aeronautics Board (effective in 1985), and amended the Federal Aviation Act of 1958 to encourage the development of an air transportation system that relies on competitive market forces to determine the quality, variety and price of air service.  To achieve these objectives, the De-Regulation Act reduced barriers to forming new airlines, liberalized air carrier entry into new markets, and eliminated governmental control of fares (effective in 1983).  Since passage of the De-Regulation Act, which applies only to domestic air carriers, many new airlines have been formed, and a variety of low-fare and promotional programs have been introduced.

Airline industry profitability has been substantially affected by the above-mentioned factors.  Many airlines have experienced losses or low profit margins and a number of air carrier failures have occurred.  It is not possible to predict, with any accuracy, the future profitability of the airline industry or, particularly, of any specific airline.

There is no assurance that the Airport, despite a demonstrated level of airline services and operations, will continue to maintain such levels in the future. The continued presence of the airlines serving the Airport, and the levels at which that service will be provided, are a function of a variety of factors. Future airline traffic at the Airport will be affected by, among other things, the growth or decline in the population and the economy of the Airport Service Region and by national and international economic conditions, federal regulatory actions, airline service, air fare levels and the operation of the air traffic control system.

The revenues of both the Airport and the airlines may be materially affected by many factors including, without limitation: declining demand, service and cost competition, mergers, the availability and cost of fuel and other necessary supplies, high fixed costs, high capital requirements, the cost and availability of financing, technological changes, national and international disasters and hostilities, the cost and availability of employees, strikes and other employee disruptions, the maintenance and replacement requirements of aircraft, the availability of routes and slots at various airports, litigation liability, regulation by the federal government, environmental risks and regulations, noise abatement concerns and regulation, deregulation, federal and state bankruptcy and insolvency laws and other risks. Many airlines, as a result of these and other factors, have operated at a loss in the past and several have filed for bankruptcy, ceased operations and/or have merged with other airlines.

There are numerous factors which affect air traffic generally and air traffic at the Airport more specifically. Demand for air travel is influenced by factors such as population, levels of disposable income, the nature, level and concentration of industrial and commercial activity in the service area, and the price of air travel. The price of air travel is, in turn, affected by the number of airlines serving a particular airport and a particular destination, the financial condition, cost structure and hubbing, strategies of the airlines serving an airport, the willingness of competing airlines to enter into an airport market, the cost of operating at an airport, the price of fuel, and any operating constraints (due to capacity, environmental concerns or other related factors) limiting the frequency or timing of airport traffic within the national system or at a particular airport.

Demands on the national air traffic control system continue to cause aircraft delays and restrictions, both on the number of aircraft movements in certain air traffic routes and on the number of landings and takeoffs at certain airports. These restrictions affect airline schedules and passenger traffic nationwide. The FAA is gradually automating and enhancing the computer, radar, and communications equipment of the air traffic control system and assisting in the development of additional airfield capacity through the construction of new runways and the more effective use of existing runways. However, increasing demands on the national air traffic control and airport systems could cause increased delays and restrictions in the future.

FUTURE FINANCING

The County may issue additional bonds for the purpose of paying the Costs of any additional project, subject to compliance with applicable debt service coverage requirements.  The timing of the issuance of such additional bonds is contingent upon the passenger demand for such facilities and will be affected by the volume of commercial aircraft servicing Palm Beach International Airport and the financial feasibility of such projects.  Additionally, the current volatility in the airline industry and uncertain economic conditions will affect the timing and scope of the required projects.  Accordingly, the timing and costs of projects requiring the issuance of additional bonds cannot be stated with a great degree of accuracy.

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Outstanding Debt Service After the Refunding

Series 2001 Bonds
Series 2002 Bonds

Annual Total

Date
Principal
Interest
Total
Principal
Interest
Total
Debt Service

10/01/2001

$1,016,128.13
$1,016,128.13



$1,016,128.13

04/01/2002

2,032,256.25
2,032,256.25



2,032,265.25

10/01/2002
$7,635,000.00
2,032,256.25
9,667,256.25

$864,656.25
$864,656.25
10,531,912.50

04/01/2003

1,841,381.25
1,841,381.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
3,570,693.75

10/01/2003
8,010,000.00
1,841,381.25
9,851,381.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
11,580,693.75

04/01/2004

1,641,131.25
1,641,131.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
3,370,443.75

10/01/2004
8,410,000.00
1,641,131.25
10,051,131.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
11,780,443.75

04/01/2005

1,430,881.25
1,430,881.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
3,160,193.75

10/01/2005
8,830,000.00
1,430,881.25
10,260,881.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
11,990,193.75

04/01/2006

1,188,056.25
1,188,056.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
2,917,368.75

10/01/2006
9,315,000.00
1,188,056.25
10,503,056.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
12,232,368.75

04/01/2007

1,001,756.25
1,001,756.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
2,731,068.75

10/01/2007
9,690,000.00
1,001,756.25
10,691,756.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
12,421,068.75

04/01/2008

735,281.25
735,281.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
2,464,593.75

10/01/2008
10,225,000.00
735,281.25
10,960,281.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
12,689,593.75

04/01/2009

530,781.25
530,781.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
2,260,093.75

10/01/2009
10,635,000.00
530,781.25
11,165,781.25

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
12,895,093.75

04/01/2010

238,318.75
238,318.75

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
1,967,631.25

10/01/2010
11,215,000.00
238,318.75
11,453,318.75

1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
13,182,631.25

04/01/2011




1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50
1,729,312.50

10/01/2011



$13,645,000.00
1,729,312.50
15,374,312.50
15,374,312.50

04/01/2012




1,337,018.75
1,337,018.75
1,337,018.75

10/01/2012



14,560,000.00
1,337,018.75
15,897,018.75
15,897,018.75

04/01/2013




918,418.75
918,418.75
918,418.75

10/01/2013



15,445,000.00
918,418.75
16,363,418.75
16,363,418.75

04/01/2014




474,375.00
474,375.00
474,375.00

10/01/2014



16,500,000.00
474,375.00
16,974,375.00
16,974.375.00

LITIGATION

There is no litigation of any nature now pending or, to the best of the County’s knowledge, threatened which seeks to restrain or enjoin the sale, execution, issuance or delivery of the Bonds or in any way contests the validity of the Bonds or any proceedings of the County taken with respect to the authorization, sale, or issuance of the Bonds, or the pledge or application of any moneys provided for the payment of or security for the Bonds.

The County is involved in various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of operations.  Although the outcome of these matters is not presently determinable, it is the opinion of management of the County based upon consultation with legal counsel, that the outcome of these matters will not materially affect the financial position of the County.

TAX EXEMPTION

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), imposes certain requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excludible pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code from gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be includible in gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds.  The County has covenanted in the Resolution to comply with each requirement of the Code necessary to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for Federal income tax purposes and, in furtherance thereof, to comply with the provisions of the Tax Certificate relating to such Bonds.

Edwards & Angell, LLP, Palm Beach, Florida, Bond Counsel, will deliver its opinion to the effect that under existing law and assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenant, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes except that such exclusion shall not apply to any Series 2001 Bond during any period such Series 2001 Bond is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Code.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that the Series 2001 Bonds are not “specified private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 57(a)(5) of the Code and, therefore, the interest on the Series 2001 Bonds will not be treated as a preference item for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code.  Interest on the Series 2001 Bonds owned by corporations will, however, be taken into account in determining the adjusted current earnings of such corporation 75 percent of the excess of which over its alternative minimum taxable income (determined without regard to this adjustment and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction) is an adjustment to alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code.

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is exempt from taxation under the existing laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associations.

Delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds to the Underwriter is conditioned upon, among other things, issuance by Edwards & Angell, LLP of opinions, dated the delivery date of the Series 2002 Bonds, to the effect that under then‑existing law and assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenants, (i) interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes except that such exclusion shall not apply to any Series 2002 Bond during any period such Series 2002 Bond is held by a "substantial user" of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Series 2002 Bonds or a "related person" within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Code and (ii) the Series 2002 Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associates and (iii) the Series 2002 Bonds are not "specified private activity bonds" within the meaning of Section 57(a)(5) of the Code and, therefore, the interest on the Series 2002 Bonds will not be treated as a preference item for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code.  Under the provisions of existing law, if applicable to the Series 2002 Bonds when and if issued, interest on the Series 2002 Bonds owned by corporations will, however, be taken into account in determining the adjusted current earnings of such corporation 75 percent of the excess of which over its alternative minimum taxable income (determined without regard to this adjustment and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction) is an adjustment to alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Series 2001 Bonds maturing on October 1, 2002 through and including October 1, 2007 and October 1, 2009 (collectively, the “Series 2001 Premium Bonds”) and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers or similar person or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters of wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of such Series 2001 Premium Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond premium that will not be deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Holders of the Series 2001 Premium Bonds must amortize bond premium by offsetting qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period with the amortizable bond premium allocable to the accrual period.  For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Series 2001 Premium Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligations in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Series 2001 Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in the amount of tax exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning the Series 2001 Premium Bonds.  Owners of the Series 2001 Premium Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Series 2001 Premium Bonds.

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Series 2001 Bonds maturing on October 1, 2008 and October 1, 2010 (collectively the “Series 2001 Discount Bonds”) and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of  the Series 2001 Discount Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes original issue discount which is excludible from the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on the Series 2001 Bonds.  Further, such original issue discount accrues actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of each Series 2001 Discount Bond and the basis of each Series 2001 Discount Bond acquired at such initial offering price by an initial purchaser thereof will be increased by the amount of such accrued original issue discount.  The accrual of original issue discount may be taken into account as an increase in the amount of tax exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning the Series 2001 Discount Bonds, even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.  Owners of the Series 2001 Discount Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Series 2001 Discount Bonds.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Series 2002 Bonds, when and if issued, and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers or similar person or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters of wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of such Series 2002 Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond premium that will not be deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Holders of the Series 2002 Bonds must amortize bond premium by offsetting qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period with the amortizable bond premium allocable to the accrual period.  For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Series 2002 Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Series 2002 Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in the amount of tax exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning the Series 2002 Bonds.  Owners of the Series 2002 Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors with respect tot he state and local tax consequences of owning such Series 2002 Bonds.

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to advise in the future whether any events after the date of issuance of the Bonds may affect the tax status of interest on the Bonds.  No assurance can be given that future legislation or amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, will not contain provisions, which could directly or indirectly reduce the benefit of the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.

Although Bond Counsel will render an opinion that interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excludible from the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes, and although Bond Counsel must render an opinion that interest on the Series 2002 Bonds is excludable from gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes as a condition to issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds, a Bondholder’s Federal, state or local tax liability may otherwise be affected by the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  The nature and extent of these other tax consequences will depend upon the Bondholder’s other items of income or deduction.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that under existing law (i) Section 265 of the Code denies a deduction for interest on indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry the Bonds or, in the case of a financial institution, that portion of a holder’s interest expense allocable to interest on the Bonds, (ii) with respect to insurance companies subject to the tax imposed by Section 831 of the Code, Section 832(b)(5)(B)(i) reduces the deduction for loss reserves by 15 percent of the sum of certain items, including interest on the Bonds, (iii) interest on the Bonds earned by certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States could be subject to a branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code, (iv) passive investment income, including interest on the Bonds, may be subject to Federal income taxation under Section 1375 of the Code for Subchapter S corporations that have Subchapter C earnings and profits at the close of the taxable year if greater than 25 percent of the gross receipts of such Subchapter S corporation is passive investment income, (v) Section 86 of the Code requires recipients of certain Social Security and certain Railroad Retirement benefits to take into account, in determining the taxability of such benefits, receipts or accruals of interest on the Bonds, and (vi) under Section 32 (i) of the Code, receipt of investment income, including interest on the Bonds, may disqualify the recipient thereof from obtaining the earned income credit.  Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences.

LEGALITY

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds by the County and with regard to the tax-exempt status thereof are subject to the approving opinion of Edwards & Angell, LLP, Palm Beach, Florida, Bond Counsel, whose approving opinions will be available at the time of delivery of each Series of the Bonds.  Certain legal matters in connection with the offering of the Bonds will be passed upon on behalf of the County by Paul F. King, Esq., Assistant County Attorney, and for the Underwriter by, Carlton Fields, P.A., West Palm Beach, Florida.

VERIFICATION OF ARITHMETICAL COMPUTATIONS

The accuracy of (i) the arithmetical computation of the adequacy of the maturing principal amounts of and interest on the Defeasance Obligations and cash, if any, to be held by the Escrow Agent to pay, when due, the principal of, applicable premium, and interest on the Refunded Bonds to the date of their maturities or earlier redemption and (ii) the arithmetical computation supporting Bond Counsel’s conclusions that the Bonds are not “Arbitrage Bonds” under Section 148 of the Code, has been verified by Causey, Demgen & Moore, independent certified public accountants, whose verification report with respect thereto will be available at delivery of the Bonds.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Spectrum Municipal Services, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”), has acted as Financial Advisor to the County in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and the financing of the Project and has assisted the County in the preparation of this Official Statement.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Included in Appendix C are the audited financial statements of the Department of Airport as of September 30, 2000 for the year then ended.  Such excerpts from the financial statements, including the auditors report, have been included in this Official Statement as public documents and consent from the auditor was not requested.  The auditor has not performed any services relating to, and is therefore not associated with, the issuance of the Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Bonds are being purchased by Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner, & Smith, Incorporated (the “Underwriter”).  The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series 2001 Bonds at a price of $86,402,718.45 (representing the original principal amount of the bonds of $83,965,000.00, less Underwriter’s discount of $419,825.00 and plus net premium of $2,857,543.45) plus accrued interest and the Series 2002 Bonds at a price of $63,795,263.50 (representing the original principal amount of the Bonds of $60,150,000.00, less Underwriter’s discount of $300,750.00 and plus net premium of $3,946,013.50) plus accrued interest subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Contract for the Series 2001 Bonds, dated June 1, 2001 and the Forward Delivery Bond Purchase Contract for the Series 2002 Bonds, dated June 1, 2001 which includes the approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain other conditions.  The initial public offering prices may be changed, from time to time, by the Underwriter.  The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Bonds into unit investment trusts, certain of which may be sponsored or managed by the Underwriter) and others at prices lower than the public offering prices stated on the cover page hereof.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The County has covenanted and agreed that, so long as any of the Bonds remain outstanding, it will provide, in a manner consistent with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”): (a) to each Nationally Recognized Securities Information Repository (“NRMSIR”) and to the appropriate State Information Depository designated by the State of Florida (“SID”), if any, (i) within 180 days after the end of the County’s fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2001, general purpose financial statements generally consistent with the financial statements presented in APPENDIX C to this Official Statement, and (ii) when available, audited financial statements of the County prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (b) in a timely manner, to each NRMSIR and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, and to the appropriate SID, if any, written notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, if material:


(1)
principal and interest payment delinquencies;


(2)
non-payment related defaults;


(3)
unscheduled draws on the debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;


(4)
unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;


(5)
substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;


(6)
adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds;


(7) 
modifications to rights of owners of the Bonds; 


(8)
bond calls (other than scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemptions);


(9)
defeasances of the Bonds;


(10)
release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds; and


(11) 
rating agency changes.


(12)
any change in the County’s fiscal year.

The County reserves the right to modify from time to time the specific types of information provided or the format of the presentation information, to the extent necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the County, so long as such modification is in compliance with the Rule.  The County reserves the right to terminate its obligation to provide annual financial information, the operating data and notices of material events, as set forth, above if any, when the Bonds are paid or deemed paid within the meaning of the Resolution.  The County acknowledges that its undertaking pursuant to the Rule described under this heading is intended to be for the benefit of the holders (both registered and beneficial) of the Bonds and shall be enforceable by such holders; provided that, the holders right to enforce the provisions of this undertaking shall be limited to a right to obtain specific enforcement of the County’s obligations hereunder, and any failure by the County to comply with the provisions of this undertaking shall not be or constitute a covenant default or monetary default with respect to the Bonds under the Resolution.  The term “beneficial owner” for the purposes of this paragraph means any person which (i) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries) or (ii) is treated as the owner of any of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

The County has never failed to comply with any of its outstanding continuing disclosure undertakings previously executed in connection with any of its outstanding bonds.

FLORIDA DISCLOSURE

Section 517.051, Florida Statutes, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, require that the County make full and fair disclosure of any bonds or debt obligations of the County that have been in default as to payment of principal or interest at any time after December 31, 1975.  The Florida Department of Banking and Finance has required that such disclosure include certain specific financial information, unless the County believes in good faith that such information would not be considered material by a reasonable investor.  The County has been notified that a default in the payment of debt service has occurred on its Palm Beach County, Florida, Industrial Development Revenue Refunding Bonds (Glenbeigh Hospital of Palm Beach Project), Series 1989.  The County believes the disclosure of such information would not be considered material by an investor in the Bonds because the defaulted bonds are payable solely from funds received from the private entity which borrowed the proceeds of the defaulted bonds, and the County is not obligated to pay such debt service with any public funds of the County.

The County has been notified of a default in the interest payment on the Solid Waste Industrial Revenue Bonds (Osceola Power Limited Partnership Project) Tax Exempt Facility Series 1994A and Taxable Series 1994B.  The County acted as a conduit issuer for Gator Generating Company Limited Partnership in connection with the Series 1994A and Series 1994B bonds.  The County has also been notified of a default in the interest payment on the Solid Waste Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Okeelanta Power Limited Partnership Project) Series 1993A.  The County acted as a conduit issuer for Okeelanta Power Limited Partnership in connection with the Series 1993A bonds.  The Series 1994A, Series 1994B and Series 1993A bonds (collectively the “bonds”) are without recourse to the County and neither the faith and credit, nor the taxing power of the County is pledged to the payment of the bonds which are payable solely from certain revenues and assets pledged therefor.

BOND RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s Public Finance Ratings (“S&P”) and Fitch (“Fitch”) have assigned ratings of “Aaa”, “AAA” and “AAA,” respectively, to the Bonds, with the understanding that, upon delivery of the Bonds, a policy of municipal bond insurance will be issued by Municipal Bond Investors Assurance Corporation (“MBIA”).  Moody’s, S&P and Fitch have assigned an underlying rating of “A-3”, “A-”, and “A” respectively to the Bonds.  Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Moody’s Investors Service, 99 Church Street, New York, New York 10004; Standard & Poor’s Corporation, 55 Water Street,  New York, New York 10041; or Fitch, One State Street Plaza, New York, New York 10004.  Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own.  There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies if, in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.

MISCELLANEOUS

All forecasts, estimates and other statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact.  This Official Statement is not intended to be construed as a contract or agreement between the County and the purchasers or holders of any of the Bonds.  The information contained in this Official Statement is presented for the guidance of prospective purchasers of the Bonds described therein.  The information has been compiled from official sources and, while not guaranteed by the County, is believed to be correct.

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

This Official Statement has been authorized by the County.  Concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, the undersigned will furnish their certificate to the effect that to the best of their knowledge nothing has come to their attention which would lead them to believe that the information provided by the County in the Official Statement as of its date and as of the date of the delivery of the Bonds contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact which should be included therein for the purpose for which the Official Statement is intended to be used, or which is necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by its Chairman and County Administrator have been duly authorized by the Board of County Commissioners.

PALM BEACH COUNTY

By: 
/s/ Warren H. Newell



Chairman, Board of County Commissioners

By: 
/s/ Robert Weisman


County Administrator

APPENDIX A
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION

APPENDIX A

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Bond Resolution pertaining to the Bonds. Such summary does not purport to be complete and reference is made to the Bond Resolution for full and complete terms and provisions thereof. Defined terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Bond Resolution.

Selected Definitions

The capitalized terms herein shall have the following respective meanings:

"Accrued Aggregate Debt Service" means, as of any date of calculation, an amount of equal to the sum of (i) interest on the Bonds of all series accrued and to accrue to the end of the then current calendar month, and (ii) principal installments due and unpaid and that portion of the principal installments for all series next due which would have accrued (if deemed to accrue in the manner set forth in the definition of Debt Service) to the end of such calendar month.

"Additional Project" means the acquisition and/or construction of any additional aviation facilities for the Airport System or any additions, extensions, improvements and betterments to and reconstruction of the Airport System to be financed, in whole or in part, from the proceeds of any Additional Bonds.

"Aggregate Debt Service" means, as of any particular date of computation and with respect to any period, to sum of the amounts of Debt Service for such period with respect to all series of Bonds; provided, however, that in computing Aggregate Debt Service, any particular Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be deemed to bear at all times to the maturity thereof the Estimated Average Interest Rate applicable thereto; and provided, further, that for purposes of estimating Aggregate Debt Service for any future period, any Option Bonds Outstanding during such period shall be assumed to mature on the stated maturity thereof.

"Airport Consultant" means the airport consultant or airport consulting firm or corporation at the time retained by the County to perform the acts and carry out the duties provided for such Airport Consultant in the Bond Resolution.

"Authorized Newspaper" means a newspaper customarily published at least once a day for at least five days (other than legal holidays) in each calendar week, printed in the English language, devoted to financial information and in general circulation in The City of New York, New York.

"Authorized Officer of the County" means the Chairman or Vice Chairman, or the Clerk or the Director of the Department or any other officer or employee of the County authorized by resolution of the board or order of the clerk to perform specific acts or duties related to the subject matter of the authorization.

"Board" means the board of County Commissioners of the County, the governing body of the County.

"Bondholder" or "Holder of Bonds" or any similar term means any person who shall be the registered owner of any Bond or Bonds.

"Business Day" shall mean any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which commercial banks (including the Trustee) are open for business in New York, New York.

"Chairman" means the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Board.

"Clerk" means the Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County, ex officio Clerk of the Board or his deputy.

"Consulting Engineers" means the engineer or engineering firm or corporation at the time retained by the County to perform the acts and carry out the duties provided for such Consulting Engineers in the Bond Resolution.

"Counsel's Opinion" means an opinion signed by an attorney or a firm of attorneys (who may be counsel or of counsel to the County) selected by the County.

"Debt Service" for any period means, as of any date of calculation and with respect to any series of Bonds, an amount equal to the sum of (i) current interest accruing during such period on Bonds of such series except to the extent that such interest is to be paid from deposits (including investment income thereon) in any Fund or Account made from Bond proceeds or other amounts available therein, and (ii) that portion of each Principal Installment for such series of Bonds, to become due on the date of calculation or the next succeeding Principal Installment due date, which would accrue during such period if such Principal Installment were deemed to accrue daily in equal amounts from the next preceding Principal Installment due date for such series (or, if there shall be no such preceding Principal Installment due date, from a date one year preceding the due date of such Principal Installment or from the date of issuance of such series, as determined by the County in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles), and (iii) any fees associated with the servicing or insuring of any Variable Interest Rate Bonds; provided however, that such interest and Principal installments for such series shall be calculated on the assumption that (x) no Bonds (except for Option Bonds actually tendered for payment prior to the stated maturity thereof) of such series Outstanding at the date of calculation will cease to be Outstanding except by reason of the payment of each Principal Installment on the due date thereof and (y) the principal amount of Option Bonds tendered for payment before the stated maturity thereof shall be deemed to accrue on the date required to be paid pursuant to such tender.

"Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy" means the insurance policy or surety bond deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Account in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash on deposit therein, as more fully defined in the Bond Resolution.

"Debt Service Reserve Requirement" means, as of any date of calculation, an amount of money, securities or Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy equal to the average annual Debt Service with respect to all series as to which any Bonds are Outstanding as of the end of the day on such date of calculation, calculated with respect to each series as of the date of issuance; provided, however, that the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any series of Bonds which are Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be equal to ten percent (10%) of the aggregate principal amount of such series of Variable Interest Rate Bonds on the date of issuance unless modified by supplemental resolution; and further provided, however, that any Refunding Bonds (whether issued as a Series consisting entirely of such Refunding Bonds or as part of a Series consisting in part of such Refunding Bonds and in part of Additional Bonds) shall be treated as being of the same Series as the Bonds refunded thereby (the "Refunded Bond series"), annual Debt Service on such Refunded Bond Series shall be calculated by including the annual Debt Service on such Refunding Bonds from the date of issue to the final maturity date thereof and by excluding the annual Debt service on the Bonds refunded thereby from the date such Refunded Bonds are deemed not to be Outstanding to the final maturity date thereof, and the average of the annual Debt Service as so determined shall be calculated by using the original number of years from the initial date of issue of such Refunded Bond Series to the initial final maturity date thereof.

"Estimated Average Interest Rate" means, as to any Variable Interest Rate Bonds, (a) to the extent any Variable Interest Rate Bonds are outstanding, the higher of the average rate of interest payable on those Bonds over the last 12, months that any such Bonds have been Outstanding nor the most current actual interest rate; and (b) if no Variable Interest Rate Bonds are outstanding, the true interest cost for such Bonds, as estimated by the County on the date of authorization of such Bonds.

"Fiduciary" means the Trustee, the Bond Registrar and any Depository.

"Fiscal Year" means that period commencing on October 1 and continuing to and including the next succeeding September 30, or any such other annual period as may be prescribed by law.

"Initial Project" means that part of the improvements identified and known as the "Temporary/Interim Improvements" and the "Phase I Improvements Program," in accordance with the plans therefor (including revisions thereto) developed by Greiner Engineers and/or Hutcheon Engineers and associated firms and approved by the Board of County Commissioners of the County, and related facilities and improvements.

"Insurer" means MBIA Insurance Corporation, its successors and assigns, or such other entity or firm, as may be substituted hereafter for the Insurer by the County, as insurer of the Bonds, in the business of insuring or guaranteeing the payment of the principal of and interest on municipal securities and whose credit is such that, on the date such entity or firm issues a commitment to insure the Bonds, all municipal, securities insured or guaranteed by it are then rated, because of such insurance or guarantee, in the highest rating category by either Moody's Investors Service or Standard and Poor's Corporation.

"Interest Payment Dates" shall mean, each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2001 in the case of the Series 2001 Bonds and October 1, 2002 in the case of the Series 2002 Bonds.

"MBIA" means MBIA Insurance Corporation, its successors and assigns.

"Net Proceeds" means the amount received by the County from the sale and issuance of the Bonds less (i) the amount, if any, deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Account and (ii) the amount applied to pay legal, accounting, financial, advertising, recording and printing expenses and all other expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. Net proceeds shall include investment earnings on proceeds of the Bonds earned prior to the completion of construction of any Project.

"Net Revenues Available for Debt Service" for any Fiscal Year or period of 12 calendar months, means the Revenues during such Fiscal Year or period lest operation and Maintenance Expenses during; such Fiscal Year or period.

"Non-Operating Expenses" means the expenses incurred in the performance of activities not directly related to the ordinary operations of the Airport System and shall include the expenses and compensation of the fiduciaries and consultants required to be paid under the Bond Resolution, all to the extent properly attributable to the Airport System, interest expense and any charge relating to the payment of principal, and shall also include, with respect to the Bonds, the fees, expenses, and other amounts payable to any issuer of a letter of credit, the proceeds of which will be applied to pay the principal of and interest on any series of Bonds, as well as any indexing agent, depository, remarketing agent or any other person whose services are required with respect to the issuance of any Variable Interest Rate Bonds or Option Bonds.

"Non-Operating Revenues" means any income of the Airport System which is not derived from the basic operation of the Airport System which is not derived from the basic operation of the Airport System, not restricted in application to a special purpose and otherwise lawfully available to be applied pursuant to the Bond Resolution and shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all moneys deposited into the Revenue Fund from any fund or account established and maintained pursuant to the Bond Resolution and interest earned on investments and gains on sales of land.

"Operating Expenses" means the County's costs for operation, maintenance and repairs of the Airport System and shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, salaries and employee enefits, utility costs, ordinary maintenance, administrative and general expenses and security.

"Operating Revenues" means all income and revenue from all sources, due and payable to the County in connection with the operation of the Airport System, including, without limitation, except as in the Bond Resolution expressly provided, all rentals, charges, landing fees, use charges and concession revenue derived on behalf of the County in its capacity as the operator of the Airport System, or any part thereof, as more fully defined in the Bond Resolution.

"Operation and Maintenance Expenses" means Operating Expenses plus Non-Operating Expenses, but only to the extent that such charges are made in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, including amounts required by the Bond Resolution to be retained in the Revenue Fund for Operation and Maintenance Expenses the payment of which is not then immediately required. "Operation and Maintenance Expenses" shall not include expenses relating to Special Purpose Facilities or depreciation or obsolescence charge or reserves therefor, amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, interest charges and charges for the payment of principal, or amortization, of bonded or other indebtedness of the County relating to the Airport System, including the Bonds, cost, or charges made therefor, for capital additions, replacements, betterments, extensions or improvements to the Airport System which under generally accepted accounting principles are properly chargeable to the capital account or the reserve for depreciation, and do not include losses from the sale, abandonment, reclassification, revaluation or other disposition of any properties of the Airport System nor such property items which are capitalized pursuant to the then existing accounting practice of the County all to the extent properly attributable to the Airport System.

"Option Bonds" shall mean Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the holders thereof for payment by the County prior to the stated maturity thereof, or the maturities of which may be extended by and at the option of the holder thereof.

"Outstanding" or "outstanding" when used with reference to the Bonds, means as of a particular date, all Bonds theretofore and thereupon being authenticated and delivered under the Bond Resolution except (a) any Bond cancelled at or before said date, (b) any Bond (or portion of Bonds) for the payment or redemption of which moneys equal to the principal amount or redemption price thereof, as the case may be, with interest to the date of maturity or redemption date, shall have theretofore been deposited with one or more of the Fiduciaries in trust (whether upon or prior to maturity or the redemption date of such Bond) and, except in the case of a Bond to be paid at maturity, of which notice of redemption shall have been given or provided for in accordance with the Bond Resolution or provision shall have been made for the giving of such notice, (c) any Bond in lieu of or in substitution for which another Bond shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the Bond Resolution and (d) any Bond deemed to have been paid as provided in the Bond Resolution.

"Principal Installment" means, as of any date of calculation, with respect to any series of Bonds so long as any Bonds of such Series are Outstanding (including any Option Bonds tendered for payment prior to the stated maturity thereof), and with respect to each future date on which any such Bond shall become due (or, in the case of any Option Bond, on which such Option Bond shall be tendered for payment prior to the stated maturity thereof) or on which any sinking fund installment shall become due, (i) the principal amount of Bonds of such Series due (or tendered for payment) on such future date, or (ii) the unsatisfied balance (determined as provided in the Bond Resolution) of any sinking fund installments due on such future date for Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be applicable upon redemption of such Bonds on such future date in a principal amount equal to said unsatisfied balance of such sinking fund installments, or (iii) if such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such Series, the sum of such principal amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of sinking fund installments due on such future date plus such applicable redemption premiums, if any.

"Project" means the Initial Project and any Additional Project.

"Record Date" means the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of the month next preceding an Interest Payment Date.

"Revenues" means Operating Revenues plus Non‑Operating Revenues.

"Series" means all Bonds, including Additional Bonds, authenticated and delivered on original issuance in a simultaneous transaction, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in substitution for such bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution, regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate, sinking Fund Installments, or other provisions.

"Variable Interest Rate Bonds" means bands which bear a Variable Interest Rate (as defined in the Bond Resolution).

Debt Service Fund ‑ Debt Service Account

The Trustee shall pay out of the Debt Service Account to the Bond Registrar (i) on or before each Interest Payment Date for any of the Bonds, the interest payable on such date; (ii) on or before each Principal Installment due date, the Principal Installment payable on such due date; and (iii) on or before any redemption date for the Bonds, the interest on the Bonds then to be redeemed. The Trustee shall also pay out of the Debt Service Account that accrued interest included in the purchase price of any Bonds purchased for retirement.

Amounts accumulated in the Debt Service Account with respect to any sinking fund installment (together with amounts accumulated therein with respect to interest on the Bonds for which such sinking fund installment was established) may and, if so directed by the County, shall be applied by the Trustee, on or prior to the 60th day preceding the due date of such sinking fund installment, to (i) the purchase of Bonds of the series and maturity for which such sinking fund installment was established, or (ii) the redemption at the applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds, if then redeemable by their terms. The County may also make such purchases pursuant to this paragraph from any other legally available moneys, and such purchases shall likewise operate to retire sinking fund installments as if such purchases were made from moneys on deposit in the Debt Service Account. All purchases of any Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall be made at prices not exceeding the applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds plus accrued interest, and such purchases shall be made by the Trustee as directed by the County. The applicable sinking fund redemption price (or principal amount of maturing Bonds) of any Bonds so purchased or redeemed shall be deemed to constitute part of the Debt Service Account until such sinking fund installment date, for the purpose of calculating the amount of the Debt Service Account. As soon as practicable after the 60th day preceding the due date of any such sinking fund installment, the Trustee shall proceed to call for redemption on such due date, Bonds of the series and maturity for which such sinking fund installment was established (except in the case of Bonds maturing on a sinking fund installment date) in such amount as shall be necessary to complete the retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such sinking fund installment. The Trustee shall pay out of the Debt Service Account to the Bond Registrar on such redemption date (or maturity date), the amount required for the redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption (or for the payment of such Bonds then maturing). All expenses in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds shall be paid by the County from the Revenue Fund or the Improvement and Development Fund.

The amount, if any, deposited in the Debt Service Account from the proceeds of each series of Bonds shall be set aside in the Debt Service Account and applied to the payment of interest on Bonds as provided in the Bond Resolution and the supplemental resolution relating to the issuance of such series of Bonds.

In the event of the refunding of one or more series of Bonds or one or more maturities within a series of Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the direction of the County, withdraw from the Debt Service Account in the Debt Service Fund amounts accumulated therein with respect to Debt Service on the Bonds being refunded and deposit such amounts in a separate account, in trust, for the payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest on the series or maturities within a series of Bonds being refunded; provided that such withdrawal shall not be made unless (a) immediately thereafter the Series or Maturities within a Series of Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and (b) the amount remaining in the Debt Service Account in the Debt Service Fund after such withdrawal shall not a less than the requirement of such Account pursuant to the Bond Resolution.

Debt Service Fund ‑ Debt Service Reserve Account

If on the last business day prior to any date that principal or interest on the Bonds is due and payable the amount in the Debt Service Account shall be less than the amount required to be in such account pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the Trustee shall transfer amounts from the Debt Service Reserve Account, to the extent of the deficiency, to the Debt Service Account.

If, after making any transfer required by the preceding paragraph, the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, such excess shall be reduced in either of the following manners at the option of the County: (a) if there is on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account a Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy, the principal amount thereof may be reduced by the amount of such excess of (b) i£ there is on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account moneys or securities, an amount equal to such excess may be withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Account and deposited in the Revenue Fund (provided such use does not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of interest on any Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness that is intended to be so excludable), or (c) any combination of (a) and (b) above.

Whenever the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account, together with the amount in the Debt Service Account, is sufficient to pay in full all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms (including principal or applicable sinking fund installments, redemption price and interest thereon), the funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Debt Service Account.

In the event of the refunding of one or more series of Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the direction of the County, withdraw from the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service fund amounts accumulated therein with respect to the Bonds being refunded and deposit such amounts in escrow to be held for the payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, of and interest on the series or maturities within a series of Bonds being refunded; provided that such withdrawal shall not be made unless (a) immediately thereafter the Series of Maturities within a Series of Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and (b) the amount remaining in the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund after such withdrawal shall not be less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement.

Subordinated Bond Fund

The Subordinated Bond Resolution provides that the County shall deposit in the Subordinated Bond Fund monthly (i) the amount, if any, required so that the balance in said Fund shall be equal to the Accrued Debt Service - - SI (as defined in the Subordinated Bond Resolution) as of the last day of the then current calendar month, provided that, for the purposes of computing the amount to be deposited in the Subordinated Bond Fund, there shall be excluded from the calculation of the balance in said Fund the amount, if any, set aside in the Debt Service Account - - SI (as defined in the Subordinated Bond Resolution) from the proceeds of Subordinated Indebtedness of any series for the payment of interest on such Subordinated Indebtedness, less the amount of such proceeds to the applied in accordance with the Subordinated Bond Resolution to the payment of interest accrued and unpaid and to accrue on Subordinated Indebtedness of such series through the last day of the then current calendar month, and (ii) the amount, if any, which, together with the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account - - SI (as defined in the Subordinated Bond Resolution), shall equal the Debt Service Reserve Requirement - -SI (as defined in the Subordinated Bond Resolution).

Subject to the next succeeding paragraph the Trustee shall apply amounts in the Subordinated Bond Fund to the payment of the principal or sinking fund installment of and interest on each issue of Subordinated Indebtedness and reserves therefor in accordance with the provisions of, and subject to the priorities and limitations and restrictions provided in, the Subordinated Bond Resolution and the supplemental resolution authorizing each issue of such Subordinated Indebtedness.

If at any time the amount in the Debt Service Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Fund shall be less than the requirement of such Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account, respectively, pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and there shall not be on deposit in the Improvement and Development Fund available moneys sufficient to cure such deficiency, then the Trustee shall withdraw from the Subordinated Bond Fund and deposit in the Debt Service Account or the Debt Reserve Account, as the case may be, the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the subordinated Bond Fund, if less than the amount necessary) to make up such deficiency.

Subject to and after having made any transfer required by the preceding paragraph, on the business day prior to any date the principal or sinking fund installment of or interest on the Subordinated Indebtedness is due and payable the Trustee shall transfer to the trustee for the Subordinated Indebtedness all transfer to the trustee for the Subordinated Indebtedness all amounts on deposit in the Subordinated Bond Fund and such amounts shall be applied to the payment of principal or sinking fund installments and interest on the Subordinated Indebtedness.

Investment of Certain Funds

Moneys in the Revenue Fund, the Renewal and Replacement Fund, the Improvement and Development Fund and the Subordinated Bond Fund may be invested in the following "Investment Securities":

(i)
any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including obligations of any Federal Agency to the extent such obligations are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, including obligations of any Federal Agency to the extent such obligations are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, any certificates or any other evidences of an ownership interest in obligations or in specified portions thereof (which may consist of specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in this clause (i);

(ii)
obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Government National Mortgage Association, the Federal Financing Bank, the Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Federal Banks for Cooperatives, Federal Land Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, Farmers Home Administration and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Association;

(iii) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under an Annual Contributions; Contract or Contracts with the United States of America; or Project Notes: issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement with the United States of America;

(iv)
interest bearing time deposits issued by any bank or trust company organized under the laws of any state of the United States of any national, banking association (including any Depository), provided that such certificate of deposit must be either (a) continuously and fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or (b) continuously and fully secured by such securities as are described in clauses (i) through (iii), inclusive, above which have a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) at all times at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit and are lodged with any Federal Reserve Bank, as custodian, by the bank, trust company or national bank association issuing such certificate of deposit. Additionally, the bank, trust company or national banking association issuing each such certificate of deposit required to be so secured must furnish the County with an undertaking satisfactory to the County that the aggregate market value of all such obligations securing each such certificate of deposit will at all times be an amount equal to the principal amount of each such certificate of deposit;

(v)
any re‑purchase agreement relating to or investment agreements secured by or providing for the acquisition of and, if applicable, resale of the securities described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above;

(vi)
investment agreements with a bank or trust company or savings and loan association which is rated an either of the two highest rating, categories by two nationally recognized bond rating agencies or are further secured as to the performance of such bank or trust company or savings ands loan association by a letter of credit or surety bond of an insurance company which is rated in either of the two highest rating categories by two nationally recognized bond rating agencies, to the extent permitted by Florida law; and

(vii) obligations permitted by the applicable laws of the State of Florida, continuously secured in the manner provided by the laws of the State of Florida, or fully secured by any one or more of the securities described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above.

Moneys held in the Debt Service Fund shall be invested and reinvested by the Trustee to the fullest extent practicable in Investment Securities described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of the preceding paragraph. The Trustee shall make such investment in accordance with any instructions received from an Authorized Officer of the County.

Interest (net of that which represents a return of accrued interest paid in connection with the purchase of any investment) earned on any moneys or investments in any such Accounts or Funds, other than the Construction Fund and the Debt Service Reserve Account until it first reaches the Debt service Reserve Requirement, shall (i) prior to the date of completion of construction of the Initial Project, be paid into the Construction Fund, and (ii) after the date of completion of the construction of the Initial Project, be paid into the Revenue Fund Interest (net of that which represents a return of accrued interest paid in connection with the purchase of any investment) earned on any moneys or investments in a separate account in the Construction Fund shall be held in such separate account for the purposes thereof; except that, upon the filing of a certificate by the Consulting Engineers stating that, the principal amount in such separate account is sufficient to pay the remaining cost of the Project to be funded from such separate account, such interest shall thereafter (i) be deposited in the Debt Service Account and applied to the retirement of the series of Bonds from which such investment income was derived by purchase or redemption at the earliest date permissible under the terms of the Bond Resolution and applicable supplemental resolution without the payment of a call premium or penalty; and (ii) be invested at a yield not in excess of the yield on such series of Bonds; provided, however, amounts so deposited in the Debt Service Account may, at the request of an Authorized Officer of the County, be used to pay interest on such series of Bonds provided and to the extent that the amount of the net proceeds of such Series of Bonds expended to pay Exempt Costs (as defined in the Bond Resolution) exceeds 90% of the net proceeds of such series of Bonds actually expended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County may apply such interest earned on moneys in the Construction Fund to any lawful purpose of the County related to the Airport System if the County receives an opinion from Bond Counsel (as defined in the Bond Resolution) to the effect that such application will not affect the Federal income tax exemption applicable to the interest on the Bonds. Interest (net of that which represents a refund of accrued interest paid in connection with the purchase of any investment) earned on any moneys or investments in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be held in such Account until it reaches the Debt Service Reserve Requirement.

Additional Bonds and Other Obligations

One or more series of additional Bonds may be authenticated and delivered upon original issuance at any time, for the purpose of providing additional funds to complete payment of the cost of the Initial Project or to complete the cost of any Additional Project, in each case in a principal amount that will provide the County with funds equal, as nearly as practicable, to the completion requirement for the Initial Project or any Additional Project as set forth in a certificate of the Consulting Engineers which shall be delivered to the County prior to the authentication and delivery of such additional Bonds. Such completion requirement shall be an amount which, together with all other amounts of the County available or estimated to be available for such completion (as stated in a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the County), is necessary and sufficient, in the opinion of the Consulting Engineers, to complete the payment of the cost of the Initial Project or any Additional Project; provided, however, that the County may hereinafter by supplemental resolution restrict the amount of additional Bonds that may be issued to complete the cost of the Initial Project or any Additional Project.

One or more series of additional Bonds may be authorized and delivered upon original issuance for the purpose of paying the cost of any Additional Project. The Bonds of any such series shall be authenticated and delivered by the Bond Registrar only upon receipt by it and the Trustee from the County (in addition to certain documents required by the Bond Resolution) of:

(1)
A certificate of an Authorized Officer of the County setting forth (i) for any period of 12 consecutive calendar months out of the 18 calendar months next preceding the authentication and delivery of such series or the last completed Fiscal Year for which audited financials are available, the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service for such 12‑month period, and (ii) the Aggregate Debt Service for such 12‑month period Net Revenues Available for Debt Service equaled at least 1.25 times such Aggregate Debt service; provided that for the purposes of determining the Aggregate Debt Service for the purpose of this paragraph (1), the interest rate on Variable Interest Rate Bonds then outstanding, if any, shall be the greater of (a) the average Variable Interest Rate on the Variable Interest Rate Bonds over the preceding twelve month period, (b) the Variable Interest Rate on the Variable Interest Rate Bonds on the date of calculation, and (c) ten percent (10%) per annum;

(2)
A certificate of the Consulting Engineers setting forth (i) the estimated date of completion for the Additional Project for which such series of additional Bonds is being issued, and (ii) an estimate of the cost of such Additional Project;

(3)
A certificate of the Airport Consultant setting forth, for each of the three Fiscal Years following the Fiscal Year in which the Consulting Engineers estimate such Additional Project will be completed, estimates of Net Revenues Available for Debt Service;

(4)
A certificate of an Authorized Officer of the County setting forth (i) the estimates of Net Revenues Available for Debt Service, as set forth in the certificate of the Airport Consultant pursuant to paragraph (3) above, for each of the three Fiscal Years following the Fiscal Year in which it is estimated that the Additional Project will be completed, (ii) the Aggregate Debt Service for the Outstanding Bonds and the additional Bonds to be issued, for each of the three Fiscal Years following the Fiscal Year in which the Additional Project is estimated by the Consulting Engineers to be completed, and demonstrating that the estimated Net Revenues Available for Debt Service in each of the Fiscal Years set forth in (i) above are at least equal to 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for the corresponding Fiscal Year as set forth in (ii) above. For the purposes of this paragraph (4)E, the interest rate on Variable Interest Rate Bonds then outstanding, if any, shall be the greater of (a) the average Variable Interest Rate on the Variable Interest Rate Bonds over the preceding twelve month period, (b) the Variable Interest Rate on the Variable Interest Rate Bonds on the date of calculation, and (c) ten percent (10%) per annum; and the interest rate on additional Variable Interest Rate Bonds to be issued, if any, shall be fifteen percent (15%) per annum. For the purposes of this paragraph (4), Aggregate Debt Service (a) shall exclude, for any Fiscal Year after the then current Fiscal Year, Debt Service on any series of Bonds (i) for which in excess of 25% of the originally issued principal amount for such series becomes due in such Fiscal Year and (ii) which the County intends to refund by the issuance of refunding Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness prior to the maturity thereof and (b) shall include, for each subsequent Fiscal Year, the estimated Debt Service on any such refunding Bonds for (i) and (ii) above calculated on the basis that such Debt Service shall be as nearly equal as practicable in each Fiscal Year, that such series of Bonds shall bear interest calculated at the average rate of interest Payable on the last series of Bonds authenticated and delivered (using the true interest cost method of Calculation) or such other rate as shall be deemed appropriate by the County and that the term and rate thereof shall be deemed appropriate by the County and shall have the approval of the County's financial advisor for the Airport System. Such intended plan of refunding shall be evidenced by formal resolution of the County and a certificate of the County; and

(5)
An opinion of Bond Counsel that the issuance of such series of Additional Bonds will not impair the exemption from Federal income tax of interest Paid on any series of Bonds then Outstanding.

One of more series of refunding Bonds may be authenticated and delivered upon original issuance to refund (a) all Outstanding Bonds of one or more series or one or more maturities within a series, or (b) any Subordinated Indebtedness. Refunding Bonds shall be issued in a principal amount sufficient, together with other moneys to become available therefor, if any, to accomplish such refunding and to make the deposits in the funds and accounts under the Bond Resolution required by the provisions of the supplemental resolution authorizing such Bonds or determining the terms and details thereof.

Anything in the Bond Resolution to the contrary notwithstanding, the County shall not issue Variable Interest Rate Bonds in an aggregate principal amount in excess of thirty‑three percent (33%) of all Bonds outstanding without the written consent of MBIA.

The County may, at any time, or from time to time, issue Subordinated Indebtedness payable out of, and which may be secured by a pledge of, such amounts in the Subordinated Bond Fund or the Improvement and Development Fund as may from time to time be available for the purpose of payment thereof as provided in the Bond Resolution; provided, however, that (i) such Subordinated Indebtedness shall be issued only for any one or more of the purposes set forth in the Bond Resolution and the proceeds of such Subordinated Indebtedness shall be applied only for such purpose or purposes, and (ii) such pledge shall be, and shall be expressed to be, subordinate in all respects to the pledge of the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service, moneys, securities and Funds created by the Bond Resolution as security for the Bonds.

Particular Covenants by the County

Powers as to the Airport System and Collection of Fees and Rentals. The County has, and will have so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, good right and lawful authority to acquire, construct, develop, operate, maintain, repair, improve, reconstruct, enlarge, and extend the Airport System and to fix rates, fees, rentals and other charges in connection therewith, all as provided in the Act.

The County shall not issue any Bonds or other evidence of indebtedness, except as provided in the Bond Resolution, payable out of or secured by a pledge of the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service or the moneys, securities or funds held or set aside by the County or by the Fiduciaries under the Bond Resolution and shall not create or cause to be created any lien or charge on the Net Revenues Available for Debt Service or such moneys, securities or funds; provided, however, that nothing contained in the Bond Resolution shall prevent the County from issuing (i) evidences of indebtedness payable out of moneys in the Construction Fund as part of the cost of any Project, or payable out of, or secured by the pledge of, Net Revenues Available for Debt Service derived after the date the pledge of Net Revenues Available for Debt Service provided in the Bond Resolution shall be discharged and satisfied as provided in the Bond Resolution, or (ii) Subordinated Indebtedness as provided in the Bond Resolution.

Sale, Lease or Encumbrance of Property. Except as provided in this paragraph, no part of the Airport System shall be sold, or otherwise disposed of or encumbered. The County may sell, for fair and reasonable value, at any time and from time to time any property constituting part of the Airport System which the County determines by resolution not necessary, useful or profitable, in the operation thereof. The County may lease or make contracts or grant licenses for the operation of, or grant easements or other rights with respect to, any part of the Airport System if such lease, contract, license, easement or right does not impede or restrict the operation by the County of the Airport System.

Operation, Maintenance and Reconstruction. The County shall at all times operate, or cause to be operated, the Airport System properly and in a sound, efficient and economical manner and shall maintain, preserve, and keep the same or cause the same to be maintained, preserved, and kept, with the appurtenances and every part and parcel thereof, in good repair, working order and condition, and shall from time to time make, or cause to a made, all ordinary, necessary and proper repairs, replacements and renewals so that at all times the operation of the Airport System may be properly and advantageously conducted; provided, however, that nothing in the Bond Resolution shall require the County to operate, maintain, preserve, repair, replace, renew or reconstruct any part of the Airport System from sources other than Revenues.

Insurance. So long as any Bonds are outstanding, the County shall at all times maintain a practical insurance program, with reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and costs, which will afford adequate protection against loss caused by damage to or destruction of the Airport System and also comprehensive public liability insurance on such properties for bodily injury and property damage. The County, to the extent authorized by the laws of Florida and with the prior written approval of the Consulting Engineers, may self‑insure or purchase such insurance as provided in the Bond Resolution.

Accounts and Reports. The County shall keep or cause to be kept proper books of record and account (separate from all other records and accounts) of the County on which complete and correct entries shall be made of its transactions relating to the Revenues and each fund and account established under the Bond Resolution. The County shall annually, within 120 days after the close of each Fiscal Year, cause an audit to be completed of its books and accounts relating to the Airport System for such Fiscal Year by an independent and recognized certified public accountant not in the regular employ of the County.

Covenants With Respect to Airports and Aviation Facilities. Nothing contained in the Bond Resolution shall prohibit the County from acquiring or constructing an airport or an aviation facility and financing the same from moneys other than the proceeds of Bonds or Revenues. The County covenants by the Bond Resolution that it will not acquire or construct any such airport or aviation facility as aforesaid unless a certificate is received from the Airport Consultant and filed with the Clerk to the effect that such airport or aviation facility will not materially adversely affect Net Revenues Available for Debt Service or the rights, security and remedies of Bondholders under the Bond Resolution.

Covenants with Respect to Tax Matters. The County covenants that it shall not use the proceeds of the Bonds in any manner which would cause the interest on such Series of Bonds to be or become includable in the gross income of the holder thereof for federal income tax purposes (except with respect to a holder of the Bonds that is a "substantial user" of the Facilities or a "related person" within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Code); that neither the County nor any person under its control or direction will make any use of the proceeds of such Series of Bonds (or amounts deemed to e proceeds under the Code) in any manner which would cause such Series of Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code, or shall do any act or fail to do any act which would cause the interest on such Series of Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the Holder thereof for federal income tax purposes (except as provided in the preceding clause); and that it will comply with all provisions of the Code necessary to maintain the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from the gross income of the Holder thereof for federal income tax purposes (except as aforesaid), including, in particular, the payment of any amount required. to be rebated to the United States Treasury pursuant to the Code.

Special Purpose Facilities

The County shall be authorized to finance certain "Special Purpose Facilities" (as defined in the Bond Resolution) from the proceeds of obligations issued by the County without regard to any requirements of the Bond Resolution with respect to the issuance of additional Bonds, under certain conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution. Such Special Purpose Facilities shall not be part of the Airport system, except as otherwise provided in the Bond Resolution.

Supplemental Resolutions

Supplemental Resolutions Without Consent of the Bondholders. For any one or more of the following purposes and at any time or from time to time, a Supplemental Resolution of the County may be adopted, without the consent of any of the Bondholders: (1) to close the Bond Resolution against, or provide limitations and restrictions contained in the Bond Resolution on, the authentication and delivery of Bonds or the issuance of other evidences of indebtedness; (2) to add to the covenants and agreements of the County in the Bond Resolution, other covenants and agreements to be observed by the County which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Bond Resolution as theretofore in effect; (3) to add to the limitations and restrictions in the Bond Resolution, other limitations and restrictions to be observed by the County which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Bond Resolution as theretofore in effect; (4) to authorize Bonds of a series or to determine the terms and details thereof and, in connection therewith, specify and determine the matters and things referred to in the Bond Resolution, and also any other matters and things relative to such Bonds which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Bond Resolution as theretofore in effect, or to amend, modify or rescind any such authorization, specification or determination at any time prior to the first authentication and delivery of such Bonds; (5) to confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under, and the subjection to any lien or pledge created or to be created by, the Bond Resolution, of the Revenues or any other moneys, securities or funds; (6) to modify any of the provisions of the Bond Resolution in any respect whatever, provided that (i) such modification shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only after all Bonds of any series Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such supplemental Resolution shall cease to be Outstanding, and (ii) such Supplemental Resolution shall be specifically referred to in the test of all Bonds of any series authenticated, and delivered after the date of the adoption of such Supplemental Resolution and of Bonds issued exchange therefor or in place thereof; (7) to modify the term of the Bond Resolution, to the extent necessary, to provide for the delivery of the Bonds in coupon or such other form to the extent permitted by law; (8) to authorize Subordinated Indebtedness pursuant to the Bond Resolution; (9) to make any modification necessary to carry out succession as provided in the Bond Resolution; (10) to cure any ambiguity, supply an omission, or cure or correct any defect or inconsistent provision in the Bond Resolution; or (11) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions arising under the Bond Resolution as are necessary or desirable and are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Bond Resolution as theretofore in effect.

No Supplemental Resolution shall change or modify any rights or obligations of any Fiduciary without its written assent: thereto.

Amendments

Powers of Amendment. Any modification or amendment of the Bond Resolution and of the rights and obligations of the County and of the holders of the Bonds, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Resolution, with the written consent given as provided in the Bond Resolution (i) of the holders of at least fifty‑one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at the time such consent is given, and (ii) in case less than all of the several series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modification or amendment, of the holders of at least fifty‑one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds of each series so affected and Outstanding at the time such consent is given, and (iii) in case the modification or amendment changes the terms of any sinking fund installment, of the holders of at least fifty‑one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds of the particular series and maturity entitled to such sinking fund installment and Outstanding at the tune such consent is given; provided, however, that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of any specified like series and maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the holders of such Bonds shall not be required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds under this paragraph. No such modification or amendment shall permit a change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest thereon or a reduction in the principal amount or the redemption price thereof or in the rate of interest thereon without the consent of the holder of such Bond, or shall reduce the percentages or otherwise affect the classes of Bonds the consent of the holders of which is required to effect any such modification or amendment, or shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations of any Fiduciary without its written assent thereto. A series shall be deemed to be affected by a modification or amendment of the Bond Resolution if the same adversely affects or diminishes the rights of the holders of Bonds of such series.

Consent of Bondholders. The County may at any time adopt a Supplemental Resolution making a modification or amendment permitted by the provisions of the Bond Resolution. A copy of such Supplemental Resolution (or brief summary thereof or reference thereto), together with a request to Bondholders for their consent thereto, shall be mailed by the County to Bondholders. Such Supplemental Resolution shall not be effective unless and until (i) there shall have been filed with the Clerk (a) the written consents of holders of the percentages of Outstanding Bonds specified in the Bond Resolution and (b) a Counsel's Opinion stating that such Supplemental Resolution has been duly and lawfully adopted and filed by the County in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution, is authorized or permitted by the Bond Resolution, and is valid and binding upon the County and enforceable in accordance with its terms, and (ii) a notice shall have been given as in the Bond Resolution provided. Each such consent shall be effective only if accompanied by proof of the holding, at the date of such consent, of the Bonds with respect to which such consent is given. A certificate or certificates prepared by the County that it has examined such proof and that such proof is sufficient in accordance with the Bond Resolution shall be conclusive that the consents have been given by the holders of the Bonds described in such certificate or certificates of the County. Any such consent shall be binding upon the holder of such Bonds giving such consent and, anything in the Bond Resolution to the contrary notwithstanding, upon any subsequent holder of such Bonds and of any Bonds issued in exchange therefor (whether or not such subsequent holder thereof has notice thereof) unless such consent is revoked in writing by the holder of such Bonds giving such consent or a subsequent holder thereof by filing with the County, prior to the time when the written statement of the County in the Bond Resolution provided for is filed, such revocation and, if such Bonds are transferable by delivery, proof that such Bonds are held by the signer of such revocation in the manner permitted by the Bond Resolution. The fact that a consent has not been revoked may likewise be proved by a certificate prepared by the County to the effect that no revocation thereof is on file with the County. At any time after the holders of the required percentages of Bonds shall have filed their consents to the Supplemental Resolution, the Clerk shall make and maintain on file a written statement that the holders of such required percentages of Bonds have filed such consents. Such written statement shall be conclusive that such Consents have been so filed. At any time thereafter notice, stating in substance that the Supplemental Resolution (which may be referred to as a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the County on a stated date) has been consented to by the holders of the required percentages of Bonds and will be effective as provided in the Bond Resolution, may be given to Bondholders by the County by mailing such notice to Bondholders (but failure to mail such notice shall not prevent such Supplemental Resolution from becoming effective and binding as in the Bond Resolution provided) not more than ninety (90) days after the last of the holders of the required percentages of Bonds shall have filed their consents to the Supplemental Resolution and the written statement of the Clerk provided for in the Bond Resolution is made. Proof of the mailing of such notice and, if the same shall have been mailed to Bondholders, of the mailing thereof, shall be maintained by the Clerk. A record consisting of the papers required or permitted by the Bond Resolution to be filed with the Clerk, shall be Proof of the matters therein stated. Such Supplemental Resolution making such amendment or modification shall be deemed conclusively binding upon the County, the Fiduciaries and the holders of all Bonds at the expiration of forty (40) days after the filing with the Clerk of the proof of the mailing of such last mentioned notice, except in the event of a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction setting aside such Supplemental Resolution in a legal action or equitable proceeding for such purpose commenced within such forty (40) day period; provided, however, that any Fiduciary and the County during such forty (40) day period and any such further period during which any such action or Proceeding may be pending shall be entitled in their absolute discretion to take such action; or to refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Supplemental Resolution as they may deem expedient.

Modifications by Unanimous Consent. The terms and provisions of the Bond Resolution and the rights and obligations of the County and the holders of the Bonds thereunder may be modified or amended in any respect upon the adoption and filing by the County of a Supplemental Resolution and the consent of the holders of all the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be given as provided in the Bond Resolution except that no notice of Bondholders by mailing shall be ​required; provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations of any Fiduciary without receiving the written assent thereto of such Fiduciary in addition to the consent of the Bondholders.

Default and Remedies

Events of Default under the Bond Resolution include: (i) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of the principal of or redemption price of any Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, or otherwise, or in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any Bond or the unsatisfied balance of any sinking fund installment therefor when and as such interest installment or sinking fund installment shall become due and payable; (ii) if default shall be made by the County in the performance or observance of the rates and charges covenants, agreements and conditions on its part as provided in the Bond Resolution; provided, however, that a failure to comply with such covenants shall not constitute an event of default unless the County shall fail in the succeeding Fiscal Year to comply with such covenants or to restore any deficiencies which occurred in any Funds in the preceding Fiscal Year; (iii) if default shall be made by the County in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants, agreements or conditions on its part contained in the Bond Resolution or in the Bonds and such default shall continue for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice thereof to the County by the holders of not less than twenty‑five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding; (iv) if the County shall file a petition seeking a composition of indebtedness under the Federal bankruptcy laws, or under any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or of the State of Florida; (v) if judgment for the payment of money shall be rendered against the County as the result of the construction, improvement, ownership, control of operation of the Airport System, and any such judgment shall not discharged within twenty‑four (24) months after the entry thereof or an appeal shall not be taken therefrom or from the order, decree or process upon which or pursuant to which such judgment shall have been granted or entered, in such manner as to set aside or stay the execution of or levy under such judgment, or order, decree or process or the enforcement thereof; or (vi) if an order or decree shall be entered, with the consent or acquiescence of the County, appointing a receiver or receivers of the Airport System or any part thereof, or other revenues therefrom, or if such order or decree having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the County, shall not be vacated or discharged, stayed or appealed within ninety (90) days after the entry thereof.

Enforcement of Remedies. If any Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, then and in every such case, the Trustee, by its agents and attorneys, may proceed, upon written request of the holders of not less than twenty‑five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding, to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the holders of the Bonds under the Bond Resolution forthwith by a suit or suits in equity or at law, whether for the specific performance of any covenant therein contained, or in aid of the execution of any power therein granted, or for an accounting against the County as if the County were the trustee of an express trust, or in the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to enforce any of its rights or to perform any of its duties under the Bond Resolution.

Restriction on Bondholder's Action. No holder of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement of any provision of the Bond Resolution or the execution of any trust under the Bond Resolution or for any remedy under the Bond Resolution, unless such holder shall have previously given to the Trustee written notice of the happening of an Event of Default, as provided in the Bond Resolution, and the holders of at least twenty‑five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have filed a written request with the Trustee, and shall have offered it reasonable opportunity, either to exercise the powers granted in the Bond Resolution or by the Act or by the laws of Florida or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, and unless such holders shall have offered to the Trustee adequate security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused to comply with such request for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt by it of such notice, request and offer of indemnity.

Defeasance

If the County shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall otherwise be paid, to the holders of all Bonds the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Bond Resolution, then the pledge of any Revenues, and other moneys and securities pledged under the Resolutions and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the County to the Bondholders, shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied. In such event, the Trustee shall cause an accounting for such period or periods as shall be requested by the County to be prepared and filed with the County and, upon the request of the County, shall execute and deliver to the County all such instruments as may be desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction, and the Fiduciaries shall pay over or deliver to the County all moneys or securities held by them pursuant to the Bond Resolution which are not required for the payment of principal or redemption price, if applicable, on Bonds not theretofore surrendered for such payment or redemption. If the County shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall otherwise be paid, to the holders of all outstanding Bonds of a particular series the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Bond Resolution, such Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Bond Resolution, and all covenants, agreements and obligations of the County to the holders of such Bonds shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.

Any Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys shall have been set aside and shall be held in trust by the Trustee (through deposit by the County of funds for such payment or redemption or otherwise) at the maturity or redemption date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in the preceding paragraph. All Outstanding Bonds of any series shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in the preceding paragraph if (a) in case any of said Bonds are to be redeemed on any date prior to their maturity, the County shall have given to the Bond Registrar irrevocable instructions to cause to be mailed, as provided in the Bond Resolution, notice of redemption of such Bonds on said date, (b) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee either moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or Investment securities (including any Investment Securities issued or held in book‑entry form on the books of the Department of Treasury of the United States) the principal of and the interest on which, when due, will provide money which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be, and (c) in the event said Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, the County shall have given the Bond Registrar irrevocable instructions to mail, postage prepaid, to each registered owner of Bonds then Outstanding at his address, if any, appearing upon the registry books kept by the Bond Registrar, a notice to the Holders of such Bonds that the deposit required by (b) above has been made with the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with the Bond Resolution and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, on said Bonds. Neither Investment Securities nor moneys deposited with the Trustee pursuant to the Bond Resolution nor principal or interest payments on any such Investment Securities shall be withdrawn or used for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest on said Bonds; provided that any cash received from such principal or interest payments on such Investment Securities deposited with the Trustee, (A) to the extent such case will not be required at any time for such purpose, shall be paid over to the County as received by the Trustee, free and clear of any trust, lien, pledge or assignment securing said Bonds or otherwise existing under the Bond Resolution, and (B) to the extent such cash will be required for such purpose at a later date, shall, to the extent practicable and legally permissible, be reinvested in Investment Securities maturing at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due to the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and interest to become due on said Bonds on and prior to such redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be, and interest earned from such reinvestments shall be paid over to the County, as received by the Trustee, free and clear of any trust, lien or pledge securing said Bonds or otherwise existing under the Resolution. For the purposes of this defeasance provision, Investment Securities shall mean and include any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America and any certificates or any other evidences of an ownership interest in obligations or in specified portions thereof (which may consist of specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in this sentence.

For purposes of determining whether Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, as the case may be, by the deposit of moneys, or Investment Securities and moneys, if any, in accordance with the second sentence of the above paragraph, the interest to come due on such Variable Interest Rate Bonds on or prior to the maturity date or redemption date thereof, as the case may be, shall be calculated at the maximum rate permitted by the terms thereof; provided, however, that if on any date, as a result of such Variable Interest Rate Bonds having borne interest at less than such maximum rate for any period, the total amount of moneys and Investment Securities on deposit with the Trustee for the payment of interest on such Variable Interest Rate Bonds is in excess of the total amount which would have been required to be deposited with the Trustee on such date in respect of such Variable Interest Rate Bonds in order to satisfy the second sentence of the above paragraph, the Trustee shall, if requested by the County, pay the amount of such excess to the County free and clear of any trust, lien, pledge or assignment securing the Bonds or otherwise existing under the Resolution.

Option Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid in accordance with the second sentence of the second preceding paragraph only if, in addition to satisfying the requirements of clauses (a) and (c) of such sentence, there shall have been deposited with the Trustee moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient to pay when due the maximum amount of principal of and premium, if any, and interest on such Bonds which could become payable to the holders of such Bonds upon the exercise of any options provided to the holders of such Bonds; provided, however, that if, at the time a deposit is made with the Trustee as described above, the Options originally exercisable, such Bonds shall not be considered an Option Bond for purposes of this paragraph. If any portion of the moneys deposited with the Trustee for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Option Bonds is not required for such purpose the Trustee shall, if requested by the County, pay the amount of such excess to the County free and clear of any trust, lien, pledge or assignment securing said Bonds or otherwise existing under the Bond Resolution.

Anything in the Bond Resolution to the contrary notwithstanding, any moneys held by the Fiduciary in trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for six (6) years after the date when such Bonds have become due and payable, either at the stated maturity dates or by and for earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Fiduciary at such date, or for six (6) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if deposited with the Fiduciary after the said date when such bonds become due and payable, shall, unless otherwise provided by law, at the written request of the County, be repaid by the Fiduciary to the County, as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon be released and discharged with respect thereto and the Bondholders shall look only to the County for the payment of such Bonds; provided, however, that before being required to make any such payment to the County, the Fiduciary shall, at the expense of the County, cause to be published at least three times at intervals of not less than seven (7) days between publications, in Authorized Newspapers, a notice that said moneys remain unclaimed and that, after a date named in said notice, which date shall be not less than forty‑five (45) days after the date of the first publication of such notice, the balance of such moneys then unclaimed will be returned to the County.

Trustee; Compensation

The Bond Resolution provides that the County may remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee and under certain other circumstances a successor trustee may be appointed in place of the Trustee. The successor trustee must be a bank or trust company or national banking association, having capital stock and surplus aggregating at least $25,000,000 if there is such a successor willing and able to accept appointment.

The County has agreed to pay to each Fiduciary from time to time reasonable compensation for all services rendered under the Bond Resolution, and also all reasonable expenses, charges, counsel fees and other disbursements, including those of its attorneys, agents, and employees, or incurred in and about the performance of their powers and duties under the Bond Resolution and each Fiduciary shall have a lien therefor on any and all Funds at any time held by it under the Bond Resolution. Subject to the provisions of the Bond Resolution, the County will indemnify and save each Fiduciary harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the exercise and. performance of its powers and duties hereunder, and which are not due to its negligence, misconduct or default.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION - PALM BEACH COUNTY

General Information

Palm Beach County was founded in 1909 and encompasses an area of 2,023 square miles.  It is located on the lower east coast of the Florida peninsula with 46 miles of Atlantic Ocean frontage and 25 miles of frontage on Lake Okeechobee.  The County has a semi-tropical climate with an average temperature of 74.5F degrees and an average rainfall of 60.88 inches.  These and other natural amenities, including 88 local, State and Federal recreational areas of more than 10 acres and 163 golf courses, have enabled the County to develop a year-round tourist industry.

There are 38 incorporated municipalities within the County, ten of which have a population in excess of 25,000.  West Palm Beach is the County seat and is the largest city in the County, with a 1999 estimated population of 81,132 persons.  Palm Beach County has a 2000 estimated population of 1,062,400.

County Government

A Charter form of Government was established when the Home Rule Charter became effective in 1985.  The Home Rule gives the Board of County Commissioners the ability to create, through a local public ordinance procedure, local laws that are not in conflict with or specifically prohibited by State general law or the State Constitution.  This process is done without going to the Florida Legislature to request special legislation to create these laws.

A seven-member Board of County Commissioners is the legislative governing body of Palm Beach County. Each Commissioner is elected to a four-year term by the voters in the district in which he or she resides.  Every two years, Commission members elect a chairman to preside over Commission meetings and to serve as ceremonial head of the County.

Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners

District
Name 
Current Term Began
Term Expires

No. 1
Karen T. Marcus
November 2000
November 2004

No. 2
Carol A. Roberts
November 1998
November 2002

No. 3
Warren H. Newell
November 2000
November 2004

No. 4
Mary McCarty
November 1998
November 2002

No. 5
Burt Aaronson
November 2000
November 2004

No. 6
Tony Masilotti
November 1998
November 2002

No. 7
Addie L. Greene
November 2000
November 2004

County Officials

Warren H. Newell-Chairman Board of County Commissioners

Mr. Newell was born in West Palm Beach, Florida.  Mr. Newell received a Bachelor of Arts in Geography/Planning from Florida Atlantic University.  Prior to his election to the Board of County Commissioners, Mr. Newell was a full-time member of the consulting engineering firm of Shalloway Foy Rayman & Newell, Inc.

Mr. Newell was first elected to the Board of County Commissioners in November, 1992 and re-elected without opposition for his third four-year term in November, 2000.  Mr. Newell serves on numerous boards and committees both locally and statewide, including the Board of Trustees of JFK Medical Center, the Steering Committee for Restoration of Lake Worth Lagoon and the Governor’s Special Task Force on Election Reform.

Robert Weisman-County Administrator
Mr. Weisman is a graduate of The Cooper Union, New York City, where he earned a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Civil Engineering in 1973.

Mr. Weisman has been employed by Palm Beach County since 1980 and in 1985 was appointed Director of the Department of Water Utilities.  In 1991, the Board of County Commissioners appointed him to his present position in which he is responsible for the supervision of approximately 5,000 employees and an annual budget in excess of $2 billion.

In recognition of his service to the County, the Voters Coalition of Palm Beach County named Mr. Weisman “Man of the Year” in 1995.

Denise D. Dytrych, Esq.-County Attorney
Ms. Dytrych, originally from Chicago Illinois, graduated from Florida Atlantic University, with a B.B.A. degree in Criminal Justice in 1982, and from Nova University, Fort Lauderdale Florida, where she received a Juris Doctorate in 1986. She was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1987.

The Board of County Commissioners appointed Ms. Dytrych County Attorney in 1996.  She is admitted to practice before the Florida Supreme Court, United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida and the Southern District of Florida and the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit.

Her many legal association memberships include the Florida Association of County Attorneys, for which she was elected President for 1999-2000.  Ms. Dytrych was listed in Who’s Who in American Law School’s, Outstanding Young Women of America, Who’s Who in American Law and Price Waterhouse Up & Comers.

Richard Roberts, C.P.A.-Director, Office of Financial Management and Budget

Mr. Roberts received a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting in 1971 from Florida State University.  Upon graduation, he accepted a position as Staff Auditor with the Office of the City Council Auditor for the City of Jacksonville, Florida.  In 1980, Mr. Roberts was appointed Budget Officer in Jacksonville, being responsible for preparation and administration of the operating and capital budgets of the consolidated City Government.

Mr. Roberts has been employed by Palm Beach County since 1988, and was appointed to his present position in 1994.  Mr. Roberts is a member of the American and Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Government Finance Officers Association. 

John A. Long, C.P.A.-Debt Manager
Mr. Long has been employed by Palm Beach County since 1985.  Responsible for the financial planning and issuance of both interim and long-term debt to fund the County’s Six-Year Capital Improvement Program, Mr. Long has supervised bond transactions totaling $1.3 billion.

Mr. Long attended Louisiana Tech University, graduating in 1967 with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting and the University of Southern Mississippi where he received a Master of Science Degree in Accounting in 1972.  Mr. Long has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Sunshine State Governmental Financing Commission since 1986, and served as its Chairman in 1998.  The Commission has issued in excess of $600 million in taxable and tax-exempt debt to date.

County Employees
The Palm Beach County workforce consists of 5,000 full and part time employees.  The County negotiates with three unions –CWA, IAFF and ATU- concerning wages, benefits, and working conditions.

Bargaining Unit
Contract Expiration Date

Service, Labor and Trades
9/30/2002

Public Transportation
9/30/2002

Fire/Rescue
9/30/2003

Culture and Recreation
The County Parks and Recreation Department has in excess of 50 developed parks (many with water sports and beaches), our swimming pools, two campgrounds, two golf courses, equestrian facilities, ball fields, fitness trails, and hundreds of handball, racquetball and tennis courts.

· Palm Beach County is the home of the Professional Golfers Association (PGA), located in the City of Palm Beach Gardens often referred to as “the Golf Capital of the World.”  There are in excess of 160 golf courses located in Palm Bach County.

· Palm Beach County is the Spring Training home of baseball’s Montreal Expos and St. Louis Cardinals.  The County also fields a Class A Florida State League baseball team.

· The Village of Wellington is the site of one of the finest equestrian centers in the country, providing a venue for polo, (the “Sport of Kings”) and Grand Prix jumping events.

· Cultural amenities include the Florida Philharmonic, Palm Beach Ballet, Opera Societies, Royal Poinciana Playhouse, Watson B. Duncan Theater, Henry Morrison Flagler Museum, Norton Gallery of Art, Kravis Center for Performing Arts and the International Museum of Cartoon Art, among others.

Education

The Palm Beach County School District is the 4th largest in Florida and the 15th largest nationwide with more than 153,909 students enrolled in 143 schools.

Higher education is offered at five Palm Beach Community College campus sites, two Florida Atlantic University sites (State University System), Palm Beach Atlantic College, Lynn University, Northwood University and Barry University.

The Palm Beach County Public Library System provides library services for residences in the unincorporated areas of the County and certain municipalities.  The Library System operates nine branch libraries and there are four additional branches under construction.

Medical
The County has numerous medical facilities.  In 1998 there were 2,941 Doctors of Medicine, 793 Dentists and 15 hospitals with 3,478 beds.

Utilities

Public water supply and public sewer service is provided to most of the populated unincorporated areas of the County by the County-owned Water Utilities Department and the Seacoast Utilities Authority.  The incorporated areas are generally served by municipally owned water and/or sewer systems.

Electricity is provided by Florida Power and Light Company, except for residents of the City of Lake Worth who receive power from a city owned plant.  Local telephone service is provided by Bell South.

Solid Waste
Solid waste collection is provided by private waste haulers in the unincorporated areas of the County and by either private haulers or municipally operated services in the incorporated areas of the County.  The Solid Waste Authority of Palm Beach County owns and operates four waste transfer stations, a 2,000 ton per day resource recovery facility and a sanitary landfill which currently handles approximately 92% of total County generated waste.

Transportation
Surface transportation is provided in the County by the Florida East Coast and CSX railroads.  A network of national, state and local highways, including the Florida Turnpike and Interstate 95 traverse the County.  The County operates a bus system (Palm-Tran) and shares in the operation of the Tri County Commuter Rail System, which serves Miami-Dade and Broward Counties, as well as Palm Beach County.

The Port of Palm Beach, the 14th busiest in the country, operates ship terminal facilities on approximately 220 acres of land located in Riviera Beach and fronting on Lake Worth.  A 33-foot deep channel to the Lake Worth Inlet provides access to the port facilities.  Imports consist primarily of bulk cement and Bunker-C petroleum while exports include sugar products and general cargo bound for the Caribbean and South America.  A free trade zone has been designated near the Port.  In addition to cargo facilities, the Port also operates a passenger terminal with approximately 40,000 square feet of multi purpose dockside space.

Fiscal Year
Tonnage
% Change

1993
 4,072,672
  7.49

1994
4,092,668
  0.49

1995
3,527,396
  (13.81)

1996
3,850,000
  9.15

1997
3,331,907
  (13.46)

1998
3,980,488
19.47

1999
4,283,424
7.61

2000
3,584,994
(16.31)






_______






Source: Port of Palm Beach District

Commercial air service is provided at Palm Beach International Airport (“PBIA”) by eighteen major air carriers and nine commuter airlines.  The annual volume of passenger traffic at PBIA in 2000 was 5,842,594 million.  PBIA also serves general aviation traffic, and there are five general aviation airports in the County.

Population

In 1990, Palm Beach County was the third largest county in the State in terms of population and ninth in density, with approximately 505 persons per square mile.  Its population increased 53% in the 1960-70 decade,  65% in the 1970-1980 decade, and 49.7% in the 1980-1990 decade.  For the decade of 1990-2000, the information is not available.

Population Growth


Palm Beach County
Florida
United States

Year
Population
% Change
Population
% Change
Population
% Change

1950
114,688

2,771,305

151,179,000


1960
228,106
98.9
4,951,560
78.7
179,323,000
18.6

1970
348,993
53.0
6,789,443
37.1
203,212,000
13.3

1980
576,758
65.3
9,746,961
43.5
226,546,000
11.5

1990
863,518
49.7
12,937,926
32.7
248,709,000
9.8

1999 
1,042,196
2.1
15,322,000
(1.0)
272,190,000
0.5

_______

SOURCE: Population Estimates Program, Population Division U.S. Bureau of the Census, Washington DC.

The age distribution in Palm Beach County is similar to that of the State of Florida, but differs significantly with that of the nation.  Both the County and the State have a considerably larger proportion of persons aged 65 years and older than the remainder of the nation, and this age group, up to four years ago, had been increasing in the County.  In 1986, 25% of the persons in the County were estimated to have been over 65 years old.  Esti​mates by the University of Florida, Bureau of Economic and Business Research place the 65 and over age group at 24% of the County’s estimated population as of 1998.

Population Distribution by Age Group

Age Group*
% 1998
% 1990
% 1980
% 1970

0-14
18
17
17
25

15-64
58
59 
60 
58

65+
24
24
23
17




______________



SOURCE: University of Florida, Bureau of Economic and Business Research


* 1999 Not available

The following table shows the per capita personal income reported for Palm Beach County, the State of Florida and the United States.

Per Capita Personal Income


Palm Beach County
Florida
United States

Year
Dollars
% Fla.
% U.S.
Dollars
% U.S.
Dollars

1993
31,309
165.1
146.3
18,960
99.3
20,080

1994
32,694
168.0
147.1
19,454
98.8
22,044

1995
35,409
173.2
151.5
20,434
99.1
23,359

1996
37,933
179.2
155.3
21,167
99.0
24,436

1997
38,772
156.3
153.3
24,799
98.1
25,288



   _________



   SOURCE: Florida Department of Revenue



   U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis



   Note:  1998 &1999 Data not available

Employment

Tourism and agriculture, together with the service industries related to these activities, are the leading sources of employment.  Manufacturing, primarily electronics and aircraft engines1 and other high technology products also plays an important role in the County’s economy.  The table that follows shows the County’s estimated average annual non-farm employment by economic sector.

Palm Beach County

Estimated Average Annual Non-Agricultural Employment

By Economic Sector

SECTOR
1999
1998
1997
1996
1995

Manufacturing
33,000
31,300
30,100
 28,980
  29,800

Construction
27,000
26,600
24,600
 24,068
  23,600

Transportation
16,100
16,100
16,000
    15,316
  14,800

Total Trade
118,500
117,400
113,400
  107,218
105,400

Finance, Real Estate
33,800
33,400
31,000
    27,830
  27,100

Service
188,300
178,400
169,400
  143,853
147,200

Government
55,000
54,200
53,800
    52,260
  51,200

Total
472,200
457,300
438,200
  399,525
399,100

                                    __________

(1)
SOURCE: Business Development Board of Palm Beach County Inc.

(2)
SOURCE: Florida Department of Labor Employment Security Division of Employment Security

Note: 1997-1998 Data not available

Palm Beach County

Annual Average Labor Force And Unemployment Estimates

Year
Civilian Labor
Force
Palm Beach
County %
Florida %
United States %

1990
427,984
6.6
5.9
5.5

1991
432,277
8.5
7.3
6.7

1992
434,244
9.9
8.2
7.4

1993
438,246
8.6
7.0
6.8

1994
447,672
8.4
6.6
6.1

1995
454,852
6.7
5.4
5.6

1996
461,526
7.0
5.2
5.4

1997
482,486
6.3
4.8
4.5

1998
496,678
5.6
4.3
4.5

1999
506,543
5.0
3.9
4.2

                                        ___________


SOURCE:      Florida Department of Labor and Employment

                       Security, Division of Employment Security

Ten Largest Industrial Sector Employers, 2000


Employees

Motorola Corporation (Telecommunications)1
2,000

Siemens Corporation, Inc.
1,500

Palm Beach Newspapers, Inc. (Newspaper Publishing)
1,400

Pratt & Whitney Aircraft (Gas Turbine & Rocket Engines)
1,300

Rexall Sundown
1,200

Sensormatic
1,100

Motorola Corporation (Telecommunications)
800

IBM
500

Hardrivers, Inc.
420

CMAC
400

Vishay/Sprague
400


______________


SOURCE: Business Development Board of Palm Beach County



   (1) Work force reduction as of April 6, 2001 will leave 1200 employees

Five Largest Agricultural Employers, 2000


Employees

Flo-Sun, Inc. 
2,500

Tallisman Sugar Corporation
1,400

U.S. Sugar Corporation
1,000

A. Duda & Sons Growers
900

Sugar Cane Growers Cooperative of Florida
900


_______________


SOURCE: Business Development Board of Palm Beach County
Ten Largest Public and Quasi Public Employers, 2000


Employees

The School District of Palm Beach County (Education)
18,000

Palm Beach County (County Government)
9,000

State Government
8,800

Federal Government
5,900

Columbia , Palm Beach Health Care System, Inc. (Healthcare) 
4,000

Intracoastal Health Systems (Healthcare)
3,200

Florida Atlantic University (Higher Education)
3,100

Boca Raton Community Hospital (Healthcare)
2,000

Bethesda Memorial Hospital (Healthcare)
1,600

Palm Beach Community College
1,300


_______________


SOURCE: Business Development Board of Palm Beach County 

Tourism

Visitors to the Palm Beaches have a significant economic impact on the County.  Tourism is the County’s number one industry, contributing approximately $2.5 billion to the area’s local economy.  Tourism employs over 78,000 people annually in the County.  A total of 4.6 million tourists visited the County during the fiscal year 1999-2000, a 4.5% increase from the previous year.  The average tourist spends $122 per day, excluding airfare.

Agriculture

Agriculture is a major source of income in the County’s economy.  The “Glades” region of the County is one of the nation’s most productive farming areas.  According to the Palm Beach County Agricultural Extension Office, the estimated value of agricultural crops produced in the County totaled in excess of 1 billion dollars, with sugar cane and vegetables accounting for over 70% of the total.  Sugar refining, food processing, fertilizer production and other industries directly related to agricultural output also provide an important source of income and employment.  

Banking

Commercial Bank and Savings Bank Deposits

Year
Commercial Banks
Savings Banks

1990
$8,171,157,000
$9,290,629,000

1991
8,153,495,000
8,818,236,000

1992
7,955,346,000
8,265,460,000

1993
7,896,746,000
8,539,672,000

1994
8,601,035,000
7,805,278,000

1995
9,055,476,000
7,606,601,000

1996
9,545,424,000
6,578,158,000

1997
10,053,211,000
6,345,089,000

1998
10,715,881,000
6,951,027,000

1999
13,283,898,000
7,243,923,000

                                          _________

SOURCE:
Florida Bankers Association 



Construction

Building permit activity in the unincorporated area of the County has been reported as follows:

Value of Building Permits Issued

(000’s omitted)

Year
Property Value (1)
Units
Residential Value
Commercial Industrial
Other (2)
Valuation

1991
$59,626,628
5,107
$351,926
$11,297
$195,462
$558,685

1992
64,331,612
5,847
469,654
23,273
  139,191
  632,118

1993
64,503,448
6,905
590,505
24,281
  112,019
  726,805

1994
65,514,482
9,873
1,114,865
77,414
  349,124
1,541,103

1995
67,978,094
10,732
995,399
94,086
  417,578
1,550,163

1996
70,884,332
9,311
932,675
143,940
  323,503
1,400,118

1997
73,994,399
9,060
979,247
188,277
  451,299
1,618,773

1998
77,516,791
10,677
1,159,302
227,318
  752,374
2,138,994

1999
82,135,311
10,242
1,217,582
394,868
  776,015
2,388,464


__________

SOURCE:
Palm Beach County Department of Planning, Zoning and Building


(1)  Total assessed value of all property 


(2)  Hotels, motels, mobile home park additions, alterations and repairs

Retail Sales

Retail Sales 1991-1997

Year
Retail Sales

    1991
  $17,201,007,750

    1992
    18,200,009,806

    1993
    19,792,511,289

    1994
    21,680,285,125

    1995
    22,805,609,489

    1996
    24,818,102,050

    1997(1)
    26,683,486,368




__________

SOURCE:
State of Florida Department of Revenue


(1)  Last available information

Sales Tax Collections

Historic Sales Tax Collections, 1990-1997

Calendar
Year
State
%
Change
Palm Beach
County
%
Change

1990
$8,294,865,556
 6.20
$603,697,967
4.00

1991
8,070,462,387
-2.70
588,855,781
-2.50

1992
8,683,494,564
7.60
622,722,311
5.75

1993
9,682,755,778
10.32
685,462,027
9.15

1994
10,204,236,135
5.39
730,524,197
6.57

1995
10,550,860,174
3.40
762,832,953
4.42

1996
11,362,706,202
7.69
828,062,334
8.55

1997
11,989,916,607
5.52
866,822,151
4.68



___________

SOURCE:
State of Florida, Department of Revenue

FINANCIAL DATA

Property Assessment Procedure

Real and personal property valuations are determined each year as of January 1 by the Property Appraiser.  A tax roll is prepared by July 1 and each taxpayer whose property is subject to taxation is given notice of the assess​ment of such property.  The property owner has the right to file an appeal with the Value Adjustment Board, which considers petitions relating to assessments and exemptions.  The Value Adjustment Board certifies the assess​ment roll upon completion of the hearing of all appeals.

Every person who has the legal title or beneficial title in equity to real property in the State of Florida and who resides thereon and in good faith makes the same his or her permanent residence or the permanent residence of others legally or naturally dependent upon such person is entitled to an exemption from ad valorem taxation by counties up to the assessed valuation of $25,000 on the residence and contiguous real property.

Assessed Property Valuations

(000's omitted)

Calendar 
Year
Real
Property
Personal
Property
Rail

oad &
Telegraph
Total
Homestead & Other 
Exemptions
Total Assessed
Value 
All Property 

1995
$50,329,070
$4,450,795
$40,682
$54,817,787
$13,160,307
$67,978,094

1996
52,409,037
4,684,550
40,746
57,134,333
13,749,999
70,884,332

1997
55,069,553
4,858,594
54,931
59,983,058
14,011,341
75,994,399

1998
58,236,593
4,849,971
52,671
63,139,241
14,377,550
77,516,791

1999
62,228,527
5,174,101
57,168
67,459,796
14,675,515
82,135,311

    ________

SOURCE:
Palm Beach County Property Appraiser's Office.

Levy of Ad Valorem Taxes

Pursuant to Chapter 129, Florida Statutes, the County is required to establish a budget for each fiscal year.  The budget is required to provide for the estimated expenditures required to be made in respect of bonded indebted​ness of the County, including bonds, such as the Bonds, to be paid from ad valorem taxes.  Upon adoption of a tentative budget, the County is required to compute a proposed millage rate necessary to fund the tentative budget other than the portion of the budget to be funded from sources other than ad valorem taxes.  After a procedure involving notice, hearings, and comment, the tenta​tive budget and millage rate become final.

The following are the Countywide ad valorem tax rates for the County, the Palm Beach County School District and the South Florida Water Management District for the past five years.

Property Tax Rates – Direct and Overlapping 
(Per $1,000 of Assessed Value)
Fiscal Year
Sept 30
County
Operations(1)
County Debt
Service
Total County
Millage
School
Board
SFWMD
Total
Countywide

1995
4.2931
0.2262
4.5193
9.7970
0.6470
14.9633

1996
4.2177
0.3014
4.5191
9.7880
0.6720
14.9791

1997
4.2358
0.2833
4.5191
9.5570
0.6970
14.7731

1998
4.6000
0.2666
4.8666
9.6820
0.6970
14.2456

1999
4.6000
0.2582
4.8582
9.0430
0.6970
14.5982

________

 SOURCE
Palm Beach County Tax Collector.


(1) Includes General Fund, Special Revenue Fund and Capital Project

All taxes are due and payable on November 1 of each year or as soon thereafter as the assessment roll is certified and delivered to the Tax Collector.  A notice is mailed to each property owner on the assessment roll for the taxes levied by the County, the School Board, and other taxing authorities.  Taxes may be paid upon receipt of such notice with discounts at the rate of 4% if paid in the month of November; 3% if paid in the month of December; 2% if paid in the month of January and 1% if paid in the month of February.  Taxes paid during the month of March are without discount.  All unpaid taxes on real and personal property become delinquent on April 1 of the year following the year in which the taxes are levied.

Delinquent real property taxes bear interest at the rate of 1.5% per month from April 1 until a certificate is sold at auction, from which time the interest rate shall be as bid by the buyer of the certificates.  Personal property taxes bear interest at a rate of 1.5% per month from April 1 until paid.

Within 30 days after personal property taxes become delinquent, the Tax Collector must advertise a list of all delinquent personal property taxpayers.  Prior to April 30 of the next year, the Tax Collector must prepare warrants against the delinquent taxpayer and file a petition with the Circuit Court asking for confirmation of the warrants.  Upon confirmation of the warrants by the Circuit Court, the property may be levied, seized and sold.

Tax certificates on all real property with taxes due must be sold on or before June 1 of each year.  Tax certificates are sold to the lowest bidder based on the interest rate bid, and any certificates not purchased by individual bidders are held by the County.  Florida law provides that real property and personal property tax liens are superior to all other liens except Internal Revenue Service liens that pre-date the County lien.  The Tax Collector advertises once each week for four weeks and sells tax certificates beginning on or before June 1 of each year on all real property having delinquent taxes attaching to such property as of April 1 of that year.  Delinquent tax certificates not sold at auction revert to the County.  

The following table shows the real property taxes levied and collected by the County for the years 1991-1995.

Property Taxes Levies and Collections
Tax
Year
Taxes
Levied
Discounts
Allowed
Net Taxes
Levied
Total Taxes
Collected (2)
% of Net Levy Collected

1995
310,554,887
296,620,540
10,587,286
307,207,826
98.9

1996
324,105,194
310,459,370
11,187,845
321,607,251
99.0

1997
338,151,462
323,751,501
11,644,079
335,395,580
99.0

1998
376,769,023
360,088,909
13,065,109
373,154,018
99.0

1999
402,654,178
385,364,330
13,978,254
399,347,584
99.0

             _______


SOURCE:    Palm Beach County, Office of the Tax Collector

Note:  Palm Beach County Library Fund and M.S.T.U’s are included for all years shown.

Includes Individual Tax Sale Certificates.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Honorable Board of
County Commissioners

Palm Beach County, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of the Palm Beach County Department of Airports as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Palm Beach County Department of Airports. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present only the Palm Beach County Department of Airports, an enterprise fund of Palm Beach County, Florida, and are not intended to present fairly the financial position of Palm Beach County, Florida, and the consolidated results of its operations and the cash flows of its proprietary fund types, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

In our opinion, the 2000 and 1999 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Palm Beach County Department of Airports as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying financial information listed as other financial information in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of 

the basic financial statements. This information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report, dated January 24, 2001, on our consideration of the Palm Beach County Department of Airports’ internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

EY

January 24, 2001

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Consolidated Balance Sheets


September 30


2000
1999

Assets



Current assets:



Cash and cash equivalents
$  39,735,993
$  28,849,166

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $41,944 and $599,873 in 2000 and 1999, respectively
2,095,605
1,929,061

Government grants receivable
357,750
692,078

Inventory
919,273
861,694

Total current assets
43,108,621
32,331,999





Restricted assets:



Cash and cash equivalents
35,360,708
42,783,675

Investments
14,737,489
14,867,140

Interest receivable
296,744
282,060

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $416 and $65,107 in 2000 and 1999, respectively
73,234
135,779

Total restricted assets
50,468,175
58,068,654





Property, plant and equipment:



Land
102,334,299
97,452,358

Buildings
166,085,120
164,900,560

Improvements other than buildings
149,849,347
131,887,271

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
27,499,482
27,753,248

Construction in progress
943,351
9,228,888


446,711,599
431,222,325

Less: accumulated depreciation
177,275,806
162,753,808

Property, plant and equipment, net
269,435,793
268,468,517





Other assets:



Deferred bond issuance costs
1,393,137
1,497,380

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $296,323 and $218,559 in 2000 and 1999, respectively
3,523,969
2,316,414

Total other assets
4,917,106
3,813,794









Total assets
$367,929,695
$362,682,964

See accompanying notes.


September 30


2000
1999

Liabilities and fund equity



Current liabilities:



Accounts and contracts payable
$    1,210,552
$    3,771,651

Compensated absences payable
870,083
838,836

Deferred revenue
1,330,980
1,193,579

Due to State of Florida
1,124,400
1,124,400

Other current liabilities
242,827
421,321

Total current liabilities
4,778,842
7,349,787





Liabilities payable from restricted assets:



Accounts and contracts payable
554,777
1,796,231

Security deposits
151,477
150,416

Interest payable on revenue bonds
5,555,138
5,714,363

Current maturities of revenue bonds
5,765,000
5,490,000

Total liabilities payable from restricted assets
12,026,392
13,151,010





Long-term liabilities:



Loan payable
350,600
350,600

Revenue bonds payable (less current maturities and net of unamortized discount of $869,941 and $939,061 in 2000 and 1999, respectively)
147,205,059
152,900,939

Total long-term liabilities
147,555,659
153,251,539





Fund equity:



Contributed capital:



Developers and customers
652,083
689,809

Other governments
92,766,285
90,026,928

Other county funds
9,397,125
9,397,125

Total contributed capital
102,815,493
100,113,862





Retained earnings:



Reserved for operations, maintenance, capital outlay and debt service
38,372,764
44,917,644

Unreserved
62,380,545
43,899,122

Total retained earnings
100,753,309
88,816,766

Total fund equity
203,568,802
188,930,628

Total liabilities and fund equity
$367,929,695
$362,682,964

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Retained Earnings


Year ended September 30


2000
1999

Operating revenues:



Rentals
$  19,170,207
$20,848,617

Concessions
24,025,009
22,145,545

Landing fees
4,877,579
5,631,542

Other
1,906,360
1,892,668

Total operating revenues
49,979,155
50,518,372





Operating expenses:



Employee compensation and benefits
7,080,983
6,779,356

General and administrative
5,381,054
5,489,618

Maintenance
3,523,078
3,612,907

Contracted security services
4,486,836
4,493,902

Contracted fire-rescue services
4,306,520
4,231,526

Utilities
1,931,449
2,270,731

Total operating expenses before depreciation and amortization
26,709,920
26,878,040





Operating income before depreciation and amortization
23,269,235
23,640,332





Depreciation and amortization:



On assets acquired with own funds
12,860,817
11,583,083

On assets acquired from contributed capital
3,862,892
3,669,010


16,723,709
15,252,093

Operating income
6,545,526
8,388,239





Nonoperating revenues (expenses):



Investment income
4,869,760
2,765,600

Passenger facility charges
7,894,579
7,937,876

Operating grant
–
495,333

Interest expense
(11,110,275)
(11,428,725)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
31,340
(64,031)

Amortization of revenue bond costs
(173,363)
(183,285)

Noncapital soundproofing project
–
(675,819)

Other revenues (expenses)
16,084
(8,219)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
1,528,125
(1,161,270)





Net income
8,073,651
7,226,969





Depreciation on contributed assets
3,862,892
3,669,010

Retained earnings, beginning of year
88,816,766
77,920,787

Retained earnings, end of year
$100,753,309
$88,816,766

See accompanying notes.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows


Year ended September 30


2000
1999

Operating activities



Operating income
$  6,545,526
$  8,388,239

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:



Depreciation and amortization
16,723,709
15,252,093

Provision for doubtful accounts
(622,620)
69,672

Changes in net assets and liabilities:



Increase in accounts receivable
518,621
(233,131)

Increase in inventory
(57,579)
(67,119)

Increase in intangible assets
(1,285,319)
(1,549,344)

(Decrease) increase in accounts and contracts payable
(3,802,553)
3,291,879

Increase in compensated absences payable
31,247
17,447

(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues
137,401
403,655

(Decrease) increase in other current liabilities
(178,494)
9,400

Increase in security deposits
1,061
56,481

Total adjustments
11,465,474
17,251,033

Net cash provided by operating activities
18,011,000
25,639,272





Noncapital financing activities



Noncapital sound proofing project
–
(675,819)

Other (expense) revenue
16,084
(8,219)

Operating grant received
–
495,333

Net cash (used for) provided by noncapital financing activities
16,084
(188,705)





Capital and related financing activities



Acquisition and construction of capital assets
(17,628,254)
(20,451,902)

Proceeds from sale of assets
46,373
46,741

Principal repayment on revenue bonds
(5,490,000)
(5,200,000)

Passenger facility charges received
7,894,579
7,937,876

Receipt of capital grants and reimbursements
6,898,851
2,304,234

Interest and fiscal charges paid
(11,269,500)
(11,573,606)

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities
(19,547,951)
(26,936,657)

Continued on next page.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)


Year ended September 30


2000
1999





Investing activities



Purchase of investments
$ (9,220,551)
$ (9,265,128)

Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments
9,233,896
9,265,128

Interest received on investments
4,971,382
3,277,442

Net cash provided by investing activities
4,984,727
3,277,442





Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
3,463,860
1,791,352

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (including $42,783,675
and $43,586,898 in restricted accounts at October 1, 1999 and 1998, respectively)
71,632,841
69,841,489

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (including $35,360,708 and $42,783,675 in restricted accounts at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively)
$75,096,701
$71,632,841

See accompanying notes.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2000 and 1999

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity

Palm Beach County (the County) is a chartered political subdivision of the State of Florida and is granted the power of self-government by the Constitution of the State of Florida and Florida Statures. The Board of County Commissioners (the Board) is the legislative and governing body of the County.

Pursuant to the general laws of Florida, the County owns the Palm Beach International Airport and three general aviation airports, Palm Beach County Park Airport in Lantana and Palm Beach County Glades Airport in Pahokee and North County General Aviation Airport in Palm Beach Gardens (the Airports), all operated by the Palm Beach County Department of Airports (the Department of Airports).

Basis of Presentation

The Department of Airports operates the Airports as an enterprise fund of the County. An enterprise fund is used to account for the financing of services to the general public where all or most of the costs involved are paid in the form of charges by users of such services. The Board is empowered to establish and fix rates and charges to the various users of airport facilities. Accordingly, the County has entered into agreements with certain airlines using Palm Beach International Airport and various other lease agreements with tenants doing business at the Airports.

The financial statements included in this report represent the combined operations of the four Airports.

Basis of Accounting
The accounts of the Department of Airports are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Department of Airports follows all applicable pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as well as certain pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and its predecessors, issued on or before November 30, 1989 unless they conflict with GASB pronouncements. The Department of Airports has elected not to apply FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Department of Airports considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased, as well as its proportionate share of the County’s investment pool, to be cash equivalents for purposes of the balance sheet and the statement of cash flows.

Investments
Investments consist of U.S. Government and agency obligations. All investments are stated at fair value, based on the last reported sales price for securities traded on a national exchange. Gain or loss on sales of investments is based on the specific identification method.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are composed primarily of monthly billings to airlines and concessionaires operating at Palm Beach International Airport for various rentals and other fees due under Department of Airports operating leases. No collateral is required for accounts receivable.

Inventory
Inventory, consisting mostly of materials and supplies, is stated at the lower of cost or fair value, determined on the first-in, first-out basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost or, if donated, at fair value at the date of donation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major renewals and betterments which significantly add to the productive capacity or extend the useful life of 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

property and equipment are capitalized and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are summarized as follows:

Buildings
10-40 years

Improvements other than buildings
  5-20 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
  4-12 years

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment acquired through contributions from developers, customers and other governments is recorded as an expense in the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in retained earnings with a corresponding transfer of a like amount from contributed capital to retained earnings.

The Department of Airports purchases certain residential parcels of land that are considered to be within the area designated as “noise-impacted” surrounding the Airports. The costs of acquisition, structure demolition and relocation of residents in this area are eligible under the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Noise Abatement Grant Program for reimbursement. The FAA funds approximately 80% of these costs with the remainder financed by the Department of Airports. The FAA retains a continuing interest in the properties equal to its original funding percentage and restricts the use of such properties to purposes which are compatible with noise levels associated with the operation of Airports. The total costs associated with acquiring these parcels of land are approximately $59,228,000 and $54,346,000 at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and is recorded under the caption “land” in the accompanying balance sheet.

Intangible Assets

The costs of various easement rights are capitalized as intangible assets and are amortized using the straight-line method over their remaining lives, which is determined to be 40 years.

Security Deposits

Security deposits represent cash deposits held by the Department of Airports pursuant to certain operating leases.

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of lease payments received from airport tenants in advance of the due date under the operating leases.

Restricted Assets and Reserves

Certain assets are restricted in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution (Resolution) and in accordance with FAA restrictions. Assets restricted under the Resolution are designated primarily for payment of debt service and the retention of the operation and maintenance reserve, all as defined in the Resolution. Assets subject to FAA restrictions total approximately $665,000 and $929,000 at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and results from the sale of excess land previously contributed by the FAA and not required for aviation purposes. These assets are restricted until appropriated for FAA approved projects.

Amortization
Bond discount and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of revenue bonds were deferred and are being amortized using the interest method over the life of the related debt issue.

Interest
Interest costs are expensed or capitalized in accordance with the provisions of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 34, Capitalization of Interest Cost, and No. 62, Capitalization and Interest Cost in Situations Involving Certain Tax-Exempt Borrowings and Certain Gifts and Grants. The amount of interest cost incurred was $11,110,275 and $11,428,725 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, all of which was charged to expense.

Compensated Absences
Department of Airports employees accumulate unused vacation and sick leave within certain limitations. Accumulated vacation and sick leave is payable to employees upon termination or retirement at their pay rate on that date. The Department of Airports accrues unused vacation and sick leave on the balance sheet as compensated absences payable.

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Department of Airports does not provide any other post-employment benefits to employees.

Passenger Facility Charges
The Department of Airports received approval of the Federal Aviation Administration to impose a $3 Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) for each passenger enplaned at the Airport. The Airport is authorized to collect up to $63,619,840 of PFC revenue to fund construction of pre-approved capital projects. The estimated expiration date on PFC revenue collection is April 2002. The Department of Airports began imposing this charge effective April 1, 1994. For the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, the Department of Airports collected $7,894,579 and $7,937,876, respectively, of PFCs for a cumulative total of $48,880,698 and has earned interest on unspent funds of $4,759,485. Cumulative expenditures amount to $40,924,285. The net unexpended monies of $12,715,898 are included in the accompanying financial statements as restricted assets because these funds must be spent on FAA-approved capital improvements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS No. 133). SFAS No. 133 requires companies to record derivatives on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 1999 financial statements to conform with the 2000 presentation.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at September 30, 2000 and 1999:


2000
1999





Equity in County pooled cash system
$63,134,001
$59,828,580

Deposits with financial institutions
11,961,600
11,803,161

Petty cash
1,100
1,100

Total
$75,096,701
$71,632,841


2000
1999





Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
$39,735,993
$28,849,166

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
35,360,708
42,783,675

Total
$75,096,701
$71,632,841

The Department of Airports participates in the County’s pooled cash system to maximize earnings and facilitate cash management. The County’s pooled cash fund is a highly liquid investment pool of approximately $916 million and $773 million as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, of which approximately 92% and 94% are invested in U.S. Government and Agency obligations and are classified as Category 1. Almost all remaining amounts at September 30, 2000 and 1999 were invested in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pool managed by the Florida State Treasurer (State Treasurer) and the Florida Local Government Investment Trust. For purposes of categorizing the equity in pooled cash in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 3, (Deposits with Financial Institutions, including Repurchase Agreements, and Reverse Repurchase Agreements) the pooled cash investments in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund and the Florida Local Government Investment Trust cannot be categorized because they are not evidenced by cash or securities that exist in physical or book entry form. These financial instruments may be subject to credit or market risk. Information quantifying these risks was not available, but management believes the impact to the Department of Airports, if any, would be minimal. Category 1 includes investments that are insured or registered or for which the securities are held by the County or its agent in the County’s name and Category 3 includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent, but not in the 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)

County’s name. The equity in the County pooled cash system is available to the Department of Airports on a demand basis.

The deposits with financial institutions were entirely covered by a combination of Federal depository insurance and a collateral pool pledged to the State Treasurer of Florida by financial institutions which comply with the requirements of Florida Statutes and have been designated as a qualified public depository by the State Treasurer. Qualified public depositories are required to pledge collateral to the State Treasurer with a fair value equal to at least 50% of the average daily balance of all government deposits in excess of any Federal deposit insurance. In the event of a default by a qualified public depository, all claims for government deposits would be satisfied by the State Treasurer from the proceeds of Federal deposit insurance, pledged collateral of the public depository in default and, if necessary, a pro rata assessment to the other qualified public depositories in the collateral pool. Accordingly, all deposits with financial institutions are considered fully insured in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 3.

Investments
County ordinance and the Resolution authorize the Department of Airports to invest in obligations of the U.S. Government, U.S. Government Agencies and Instrumentalities, interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts, the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund and the Florida Local Government Investment Trust. The Department of Airports invested only in permissible securities during the year.

The Department of Airports carries its investments at fair value. At September 30, 2000 and 1999, investments consisted of U.S. Government Agency obligations with a carrying value of $14,737,489 and $14,867,140, respectively. The Department of Airports anticipates holding these investments to maturity. These investments are categorized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 3 and are considered to be in Category 1 as investments that are insured or registered or for which the securities are held by the County or its agent in the County’s name. Investment income at September 30, 2000 and 1999 includes unrealized losses of approximately $116,000 and $511,000, respectively.

3. Leases

The Department of Airports leases a major portion of its property to airlines and concessionaires. Certain of the concessionaire leases provide for minimum rentals plus a contingency portion specified as a percentage of the tenants’ gross revenues. Contingent rental income under such arrangements amounted to approximately $2,241,000 and $3,071,000 for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. All Department of Airports’ leases are operating leases.

Minimum future rentals, exclusive of contingent rentals under such leases, are approximately as follows at September 30, 2000:

Year ending September 30,


2001
$  30,071,000

2002
29,092,000

2003
29,539,000

2004
19,760,000

2005
19,661,000

Thereafter
38,955,000


$167,078,000

A schedule of the carrying value of property held for lease, by major classification, as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, is as follows:


2000
1999





Buildings
$131,406,226
$130,235,715

Less: accumulated depreciation
51,494,219
46,684,583


79,912,007
83,551,132

Land
1,867,182
1,867,182

Property held for lease, net
$  81,779,189
$  85,418,314

4. Due to State of Florida

The Department of Airports entered into joint participation agreements with the Florida Department of Transportation and received State financial assistance for the acquisition of land for the North County Airport. Pursuant to the terms of the Joint Participation Agreements and Florida Statutes, the Florida Department of Transportation advanced up to 75% of the cost of the land acquisition and is to be reimbursed for all amounts in excess of 50% of eligible project costs 

4. Due to State of Florida (continued)

which are not funded by the Federal Government. Reimbursements are due to the Florida Department of Transportation when Federal funds are received or within ten years after the date of the land acquisition, whichever is earlier. At September 30, 2000 and 1999, the Department of Airports had a liability to the Florida Department of Transportation for $1,124,400. If additional Federal funding for land acquisition costs is received prior to the due date, then the total amount of the reimbursement may increase, depending on the amount of Federal funds received.

5. Revenue Bonds Payable

Revenue bonds payable by the Department of Airports consist of the following:


2000
1999





Series 1992 Revenue Refunding Bonds due in annual installments of $4,575,000 to $4,815,000 through October 1, 1999 and $13,345,000 to $16,425,000 due from October 1, 2011 through October 1, 2014, with interest from 2.8% to 6.375% payable semiannually on October 1 and April 1
$  59,380,000
$  64,195,000





Series 1991 Revenue Refunding Term bonds due in annual installments of $490,000 to $11,735,000 through October 1, 2010, with interest from 7.5% to 7.75% payable semiannually on October 1 and April 1
91,495,000
92,020,000





Series 1989 Taxable Subordinated Indebtedness due 
October 1, 2010, with interest at 9.5% payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1. Mandatory sinking 
fund redemptions are required in annual installments of $135,000 to $410,000.
2,965,000
3,115,000


153,840,000
159,330,000

Less: current portion
5,765,000
5,490,000


148,075,000
153,840,000

Less: unamortized discount
869,941
939,061

Long-term portion
$147,205,059
$152,900,939

5. Revenue Bonds Payable (continued)

Series 1992
Series 1992, $90,690,000 Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, dated February 1, 1992, consisted of $31,310,000 of Serial bonds and $59,380,000 of Term Bonds and were issued for the purpose of redeeming $87,235,000 Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1984A and Series 1984B on March 6, 1992 and to pay the issuance costs of the Series 1992 bonds.

The Series 1992 bonds may be called for redemption at the option of the County at the following redemption prices, expressed as a percentage of par amounts:

Period

(All Dates Inclusive)
Redemption

Price




October 1, 2002 through September 30, 2003
100%

October 1, 2003 through September 30, 2004
100%

October 1, 2004 and thereafter
100%

Series 1991
Series 1991, $94,815,000 Airport System Revenue Refunding Term Bonds, dated September 30, 1991, proceeds were applied to the early redemption on October 1, 1991 of $94,815,000 of Series 1984A Florida Airport System Revenue Bonds.

The Series 1991 bonds maturing October 1, 2004 and thereafter may be called for redemption at the option of the County at the following redemption prices, expressed as a percentage of par amounts:

Period

(All Dates Inclusive)
Redemption

Price




October 1, 2001 through September 30, 2002
102%

October 1, 2002 through September 30, 2003
101%

October 1, 2003 and thereafter
100%

5. Revenue Bonds Payable (continued)

Series 1989
Series 1989, $3,850,000 Airport System Taxable Subordinated Indebtedness, dated June 1, 1989, consisted of Term Bonds and were issued to pay the costs associated with $94,815,000 Refunding Escrow Deposits (REDs) to provide for redemption of Airport System Revenue Bonds, Series 1984A on October 1, 1991, including the issuance costs of the Series 1989 bonds.

The bonds are due October 1, 2010 and may be called for redemption at the option of the County at the following redemption prices, expressed as a percentage of par amounts:

Period

(All Dates Inclusive)
Redemption

Price




October 1, 1999 through September 30, 2000
102%

October 1, 2000 through September 30, 2001
101%

October 1, 2001 and thereafter
100%

The annual debt service requirements for all outstanding bonds for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Year ending September 30,
Principal
Interest
Total






2001
$    5,765,000
$10,198,094
$  15,963,094

2002
6,205,000
9,685,088
15,890,088

2003
6,680,000
9,132,819
15,812,819

2004
7,190,000
8,538,238
15,728,238

2005
7,740,000
7,887,338
15,627,338

Thereafter
120,260,000
33,750,951
154,010,951


$153,840,000
$79,192,528
$233,032,528

6. Loan Payable

Under the interest rate swap agreement executed between the County and Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. (MLCS) for the forward issuance of $82,465,000 Palm Beach County, Florida, Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2001 and $61,110,000 Palm Beach County, Florida, Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002, the Department of Airports received a lump-sum payment from MLCS of $350,600 in February 1998 to pay costs of issuance 

6. Loan Payable (continued)

related to the Series 2001 and Series 2002 bonds. The Department of Airports will repay $199,842 with interest at 6.22% in July 2001, and $150,758 with interest at 6.38% in July 2002.

During the year ended September 30, 2000, the County amended their agreement with MLCS in the form of an option, whereby upon the payment of $2,950,000 to the County, MLCS would have the right to cancel the swap agreement related to the $61,110,000 Palm Beach County, Florida, Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002. The payment to the County is based upon the movements of taxable, tax-exempt and U.S. Treasury securities and the time remaining on the original swap contract.

7. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Plan Description
All regular full-time employees of the Department of Airports are required to participate in the Florida Retirement System (the System) administrated by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement. The System is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit public employee retirement system that provides retirement, death and disability benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Pension benefits of the System are established by Florida Statutes, Chapter 121, and may be amended by the Florida Legislature.

The System issued a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the System. That report may be obtained by writing to Florida Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement, Cedars Executive Center, Building C, 2639 North Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1560 or by calling 
1-850-488-5706.

Funding Policy
Plan members are not required to contribute to the System. The Department of Airports is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate, which is presently 9.90% of annual covered payroll. The contribution requirement for plan members and participating governments is established by State Statute. The Department of Airports’ contributions to the System for the years ended September 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were approximately $522,000, $680,000 and $823,000, respectively, and were equal to the required contributions for each year.

8. Related Party Transactions

The Department of Airports reimburses the General Fund of Palm Beach County for an allocated portion of certain support department costs which include such services as legal, administrative, fiscal, engineering, purchasing, personnel, internal audit and communication costs. The Department of Airports is also charged for the cost of services provided by the Motor Pool, Casualty Self-Insurance, Workers’ Compensation and Data Processing Internal Service Funds of the County. The total cost for the above services was approximately $2,952,000 and $2,734,000 for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. In addition, the Department of Airports also pays solid waste disposal fees to the Solid Waste Authority of Palm Beach County, a dependent special district and component unit of Palm Beach County, Florida. Fees paid to the Solid Waste Authority for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 totaled approximately $182,000 and $185,000, respectively. At September 30, 2000 and 1999, there were no amounts receivable from other funds and departments of Palm Beach County and $68,974 and $46,820, respectively, was payable to other County funds and departments.

The Department of Airports also contracts directly with the Palm Beach County Sheriff’s Department for security services at Palm Beach International Airport. The cost of these services was approximately $4,352,000 and $4,380,000 for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Department of Airports also contracts with the Fire-Rescue Department for fire-rescue services at Palm Beach International Airport. The cost of these services was approximately $4,318,000 and $4,258,000 for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

9. Major Customers
A significant portion of the Department of Airports’ earnings and revenues are directly or indirectly attributed to the activity of a few major airlines operating out of Palm Beach International Airport.

The Department of Airports’ earnings and revenues could be materially and adversely affected should any of these major airlines discontinue operations at Palm Beach International Airport and should the Department of Airports be unable to replace those airlines with similar activity. The level of operations is determined based upon the relative share of enplaned passengers.

9. Major Customers (continued)
Major airlines, based on this criteria are as follows:



Percent of Activity Based

Upon Enplaned Passengers



Year ended September 30

Airline

2000
1999






Delta Airlines, Inc.

34.98%
35.95%

USAir, Inc.

23.04
20.82

Continental Airlines, Inc.

12.29
12.00

TWA

6.29
6.60

American Airlines, Inc.

5.14
5.92

Others

18.26
18.71



100.00%
100.00%

10. Contributed Capital
The following is a summary of the changes in the contributed capital accounts of the Department for the years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999:


Developers and Customers
Governments
Other

County

Funds
Total







Balance, September 30, 1998
$728,628
$90,775,430
$9,397,125
$100,901,183

Capital grants received
–
2,881,689
–
2,881,689

Depreciation transfer
(38,820)
(3,630,190)
–
(3,669,010)

Balance, September 30, 1999
689,808
90,026,929
9,397,125
100,113,862

Capital grants received
27,541
6,536,982
–
6,564,523

Depreciation transfer
(65,266)
(3,797,626)
–
(3,862,892)

Balance, September 30, 2000
$652,083
$92,766,285
$9,397,125
$102,815,493

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation
The Department of Airports is involved in various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of operations. Although the outcome of these matters is not presently determinable, it is the opinion of management of the Department of Airports, based upon consultation with legal counsel, that the outcome of these lawsuits will not materially affect the financial position of the Department of Airports.

Grants
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by those agencies, principally the State of Florida and the Federal Aviation Administration. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already received, might constitute a liability of the Department of Airports for the return of those funds.

Insurance
The Department of Airports participates in the county-wide self-insurance programs for Casualty Insurance, Health Insurance and Workers’ Compensation Insurance. While each of these programs is subject to potential losses in excess of the amounts that have been accrued and funded as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, management believes it is unlikely that the amounts of such potential losses, if any, would be material. In addition, the Department of Airports also has a commercial policy that provides insurance in the event of a disaster.

Contract Commitments
The Department of Airports has several uncompleted design and construction contracts for improvements to the airport system. At September 30, 2000, the remaining commitment on these uncompleted contracts was $8,321,529 which is summarized as follows:

Contract

Amount

Approved

Payments

Retainage

Payable

Remaining Contract Commitment









$28,527,616

$19,658,212

$547,875

$8,321,529

Other Financial Information

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Amounts on Deposit and Investments

September 30, 2000

Description
Par Amount
Cost
Fair Value






Revenue fund:




Petty cash

$         1,100
$         1,100

Cash and cash equivalents:

6,359,631
6,359,631

Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  6,360,731
$  6,360,731






Renewal and replacement fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  4,242,472
$  4,242,472






Debt service fund—1991 refunding account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$       47,119
$       47,119

Barnett Bank – money market account (1)

9,278,131
9,278,131



$  9,325,250
$  9,325,250






Debt service fund—1992 refunding account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$         9,760
$         9,760

Barnett Bank – money market account (1)

1,917,261
1,917,261



$  1,927,021
$  1,927,021






Debt service fund—debt service reserve account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$              57
$              57

Barnett Bank – money market account (1)

455,121
445,121






U.S. Government and Agencies:




FNMA, 6.1%, due 10/21/02 (3)
$   500,000
493,113
495,781

FNMA, 5.5%, due 02/02/01 (3)
8,415,000
8,419,574
8,374,608

FHLB, 7.74%, due 10/02/01 (3)
5,360,000
5,361,599
5,419,228



$14,729,464
$14,744,795






Merrill Lynch loan:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$       34,752
$       34,752






Subordinated indebtedness-debt service fund: 




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$            992
$            992

Barnett Bank – money market account (3)

298,975
298,975

First Union National Bank – money market account (3)

12,112
12,112



$     312,079
$     312,079

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Amounts on Deposit and Investments (continued)

September 30, 2000

Description
Par Amount
Cost
Fair Value






Subordinated indebtedness-debt service revenue fund:




U.S. Government and agencies:




FHLB, 5.345%, due 02/16/01 (3)
$450,000
$     450,000
$     447,872






Restricted assets fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$     664,700
$     664,700






Improvement and development fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$38,287,543
$38,287,543






Passenger facility charge fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$10,493,055
$10,493,055






Noise abatement and mitigation fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  2,993,920
$  2,993,920

Notes:

(1)
Held on deposit or as safekeeping agent by Barnett Bank, West Palm Beach, Florida, with U.S. Bank, as Trustee.

(2)
Investment represents amounts on deposit in the Palm Beach County pooled cash system. As of September 30, 2000, approximately 92% of funds held in this pooled system were invested in U.S. Government and Agency obligations and virtually all of the remaining funds were invested in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pool managed by the Florida State Treasurer and the Florida Local Government Investment Trust.

(3)
Held on deposit or as safekeeping agent by First Union National Bank, Florida.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Amounts on Deposit and Investments

September 30, 1999

Description
Par Amount
Cost
Fair Value






Revenue fund:




Petty cash

$         1,100
$         1,100

Cash and cash equivalents:

7,080,731
7,080,731

Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  7,081,831
$  7,081,831






Renewal and replacement fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  2,321,017
$  2,321,017






Debt service fund—1991 refunding account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$        (6,774)
$        (6,774)

NationsBank – money market account (1)

4,107,984
4,107,984



$  4,101,210
$  4,101,210






Debt service fund—1992 refunding account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$      (10,776)
$      (10,776)

NationsBank – money market account (1)

6,935,111
6,935,111



$  6,924,335
$  6,924,335






Debt service fund—debt service reserve account:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$              57
$              57

NationsBank – money market account (1)

458,240
458,240






U.S. Government and Agencies:




FHLB, 5.605%, due 03/27/00 (3)
$   505,000
505,000
504,763

FNMA, 5.5%, due 02/02/01 (3)
8,415,000
8,445,845
8,375,555

FHLB, 7.74%, due 10/02/01 (3)
5,360,000
5,366,373
5,540,900



$14,775,515
$14,879,515






Merrill Lynch loan:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$       32,666
$       32,666






Subordinated indebtedness-debt service fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$              86
$              86

NationsBank – money market account (3)

289,736
289,736

First Union National Bank - money market account (3)

12,089
12,089



$     301,911
$     301,911

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Amounts on Deposit and Investments (continued)

September 30, 1999

Description
Par Amount
Cost
Fair Value






Subordinated indebtedness-debt service revenue fund:




U.S. Government and agencies:




FHLB, 5.345%, due 02/16/01 (3)
$   450,000
$     450,000
$     445,923






Restricted assets fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$     929,201
$     929,201






Improvement and development fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$26,730,347
$26,730,347






Passenger facility charge fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$20,413,980
$20,413,980






Noise abatement and mitigation fund:




Cash and cash equivalents:




Equity in pooled cash (2)

$  2,338,045
$  2,338,045

Notes:

(1)
Held on deposit or as safekeeping agent by NationsBank, West Palm Beach, Florida, with U.S. Bank, as Trustee.

(2)
Investment represents amounts on deposit in the Palm Beach County pooled cash system. As of September 30, 1999, approximately 94% of funds held in this pooled system were invested in U.S. Government and Agency obligations and virtually all of the remaining funds were invested in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pool managed by the Florida State Treasurer and the Florida Local Government Investment Trust.

(3)
Held on deposit or as safekeeping agent by First Union National Bank, Florida.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account

For the year ended September 30, 2000








Debt Service Fund






Renewal and

1991

1992

Debt Service






Replacement

Debt Service

Debt Service

Reserve


Total

Revenue Fund

Fund

Refunding

Refunding

Account














Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1999
$  86,400,522

$  7,081,831

$2,321,017

$  4,101,210

$6,924,335

$14,775,979














Cash receipts:












Concessions
24,456,781

24,456,781

–

–

–

–

Rentals
19,003,650

18,956,000

–

–

–

–

Landing fees
4,371,542

4,042,863

–

–

–

–

Other income
10,100,421

2,155,554

–

–

–

–

Florida state sales tax
1,938,814

1,938,814

–

–

–

–

Interest collected on investments
5,258,821

459,190

238,447

300,995

283,126

910,196

Proceeds from grants
6,871,351

–

545,659

–

–

–

Proceeds from maturity of investment
505,000

–

–

–

–

505,000

Other receipts
124,323

14,050

110,273

–

–

–

Transfers from:












Passenger facility charge fund
18,773,854

–

5,002,037

–

–

–

S.I. - debt service reserve fund
24,053

–

–

–

–

–

Operations fund
32,169,003

–

1,400,000

12,530,545

3,722,415

–

Capital projects fund
235,381

235,381

–

–

–

–

Debt service fund - debt service 
reserve account
913,315

913,315

–

–

–

–

Restricted assets fund
56,093

56,093

–

–

–

–

Improvement and development fund
8,022,878

8,022,878

–

–

–

–














Total cash receipts
132,825,280

61,250,919

7,296,416

12,831,540

4,005,541

1,415,196

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2000




Debt Service S.I. Fund



Improvement

Passenger

Noise


Merrill



S.I. Debt

Restricted

and

Facility

Abatement


Lynch

S.I. Debt

Service

Assets

Development

Charge

and Mitigation


Loan

Service

Reserve

Fund

Fund

Fund

Fund

Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1999
$32,666

$301,911

$450,000

$929,201

$26,730,347

$20,413,980

$2,338,045
















Cash receipts:














Concessions
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Rentals
–

–

–

–

–

–

47,650

Landing fees
–

–

–

–

–

–

328,679

Other income
–

–

–

12,051

–

7,932,372

444

Florida state sales tax
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Interest collected on investments
2,086

8,872

24,053

56,691

1,901,505

920,557

153,103

Proceeds from grants
–

–

–

–

2,606,434

–

3,719,258

Proceeds from maturity of investment
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Merrill Lynch loan
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other receipts
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Transfers from:














Passenger facility charge fund
–

–

–

–

11,932,856

–

1,838,961

S.I. - debt service reserve fund
–

24,053

–

–

–

–

–

Operations fund
–

416,043

–

–

14,100,000

–

–

Capital projects fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Debt service fund - debt service 
reserve account
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Restricted assets fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Improvement and development fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–
















Total cash receipts
2,086

448,968

24,053

68,742

30,540,795

8,852,929

6,088,095

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2000








Debt Service Fund






Renewal and

1991

1992

Debt Service






Replacement

Debt Service

Debt Service

Reserve


Total

Revenue Fund

Fund

Refunding

Refunding

Account














Cash disbursements:












Operating expenses
$  27,876,046

$27,858,585

$              –

$              –

$     17,461

$                –

Capital expenditures
21,809,671

–

5,139,580

–

–

–

Bond interest expense
11,541,694

–

–

7,082,500

4,170,394

–

Refund of security deposits
12,990

12,990

–

–

–

–

Florida state sales tax
1,931,441

1,931,441

–

–

–

–

Matured bonds/interest
5,490,000

–

–

525,000

4,815,000

–

Purchase of investment
491,655

–

–

–

–

491,655

Transfers to:












Operations fund
9,227,667

–

235,381

–

–

913,315

Improvement and development fund
26,032,856

14,100,000

–

–

–

–

Debt service account
16,252,960

16,252,960

–

–

–

–

Renewal and replacement fund
6,402,037

1,400,000

–

–

–

–

S.I. - debt service reserve fund
440,096

416,043

–

–

–

–

Noise abatement and mitigation fund
1,838,961

–

–

–

–

–














Total cash disbursements
129,348,074

61,972,019

5,374,961

7,607,500

9,002,855

1,404,970














Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 2000
$  89,877,728

$  6,360,731

$4,242,472

$9,325,250

$1,927,021

$14,786,205

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 2000




Debt Service S.I. Fund



Improvement

Passenger

Noise


Merrill



S.I. Debt

Restricted

and

Facility

Abatement


Lynch

S.I. Debt

Service

Assets

Development

Charge

and Mitigation


Loan

Service

Reserve

Fund

Fund

Fund

Fund
















Cash disbursements:














Operating expenses
$         –

$           –

$           –

$           –

$                –

$                –

$              –

Capital expenditures
–

–

–

277,150

10,960,721

–

5,432,220

Bond interest expense
–

288,800

–

–

–

–

–

Refund of security deposits
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Florida state sales tax
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Matured bonds/interest
–

150,000

–

–

–

–

–

Purchase of investment
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Transfers to:














Operations fund
–

–

–

56,093

8,022,878

–

–

Improvement and development fund
–

–

–

–

–

11,932,856

–

Debt service account
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Renewal and replacement fund
–

–

–

–

–

5,002,037

–

S.I. - debt service reserve fund
–

–

24,053

–

–

–

–

Noise abatement and mitigation fund
–

–

–

–

–

1,838,961

–
















Total cash disbursements
–

438,800

24,053

333,243

18,983,599

18,773,854

5,432,220
















Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 2000
$34,752

$312,079

$450,000

$664,700

$38,287,543

$10,493,055

$2,993,920

Note:
The schedule herein has been prepared on a cash basis as required by the Resolution and does not reflect the adjustments which have been recorded to the accompanying financial statements necessary to amortize premiums or accrete discounts which are inherent in the purchase price of fixed rate investments.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account

For the year ended September 30, 1999








Debt Service Fund






Renewal and

1991

1992

Debt Service






Replacement

Debt Service

Debt Service

Reserve


Total

Revenue Fund

Fund

Refunding

Refunding

Account














Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1998
$  84,609,171

$  7,247,104

$  4,641,844

$  4,120,548

$  6,863,103

$14,775,070














Cash receipts:












Concessions
21,704,032

21,704,032

–

–

–

–

Rentals
20,844,741

20,844,741

–

–

–

–

Landing fees
6,055,973

5,819,228

–

–

–

–

Other income
10,031,935

2,124,397

–

–

–

–

Florida state sales tax
1,813,287

1,813,287

–

–

–

–

Interest collected on investments
3,277,442

275,551

197,189

101,067

126,169

915,870

Proceeds from grants
2,810,559

–

330,099

–

–

–

Other receipts
123,642

77,006

46,636

–

–

–

Transfers from:












Passenger facility charge fund
5,584,018

–

–

–

–

–

S.I. - Debt service reserve fund
24,052

–

–

–

–

–

Operations fund
26,983,916

–

800,000

7,470,470

8,699,378

–

Capital projects fund
197,189

197,189

–

–

–

–

Debt service fund - Debt service 
reserve account
914,961

914,961

–

–

–

–

Restricted assets fund
31,686

31,686

–

–

–

–

Improvement and development fund
1,178,708

1,178,708

–

–

–

–














Total cash receipts
101,576,141

54,980,786

1,373,924

7,571,537

8,825,547

915,870

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 1999




Debt Service S.I. Fund



Improvement

Passenger

Noise


Merrill



S.I. Debt

Restricted

and

Facility

Abatement


Lynch

S.I. Debt

Service

Assets

Development

Charge

and Mitigation


Loan

Service

Reserve

Fund

Fund

Fund

Fund
















Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1998
$         31,593

$     294,490

$   450,000

$   929,201

$24,142,738

$17,448,829

$  3,664,651
















Cash receipts:














Concessions
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Rentals
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Landing fees
–

–

–

–

–

–

236,745

Other income
–

–

–

–

7,450

7,900,088

–

Florida state sales tax
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Interest collected on investments
1,073

6,638

24,053

31,686

828,708

649,081

120,357

Proceeds from grants
–

–

–

–

873,479

–

1,606,981

Other receipts
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Transfers from:














Passenger facility charge fund
–

–

–

–

4,069,979

–

1,514,039

S.I. - Debt service reserve fund
–

24,052

–

–

–

–

–

Operations fund
–

414,068

–

–

9,600,000

–

–

Capital projects fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Debt service fund - Debt service 
reserve account
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Restricted assets fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Improvement and development fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Contribution from other governments
–

–

–

–

–

–

–
















Total cash receipts
1,073

444,758

24,053

31,686

15,379,616

8,549,169

3,478,122

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 1999








Debt Service Fund






Renewal and

1991

1992

Debt Service






Replacement

Debt Service

Debt Service

Reserve


Total

Revenue Fund

Fund

Refunding

Refunding

Account














Cash disbursements:












Operating expenses
$  26,343,916

$26,324,995

$                –

$                –

$       18,921

$                –

Capital expenditures
19,904,599

–

3,497,562

–

–

–

Bond interest expense
11,573,606

–

–

7,100,875

4,170,394

–

Refund of security deposits
20,525

20,525

–

–

–

–

Refund contribution from other governments
10,990

–

–

–

–

–

Florida state sales tax
1,816,624

1,816,624

–

–

–

–

Matured bonds/interest
5,200,000

–

–

490,000

4,575,000

–

Transfers to:












Operations fund
2,322,544

–

197,189

–

–

914,961

Improvement and development fund
9,600,000

9,600,000

–

–

–

–

Debt service account
16,169,848

16,169,848

–

–

–

–

Renewal and replacement fund
800,000

800,000

–

–

–

–

S.I. - Debt service reserve fund
438,120

414,067

–

–

–

–

Noise abatement and mitigation fund
5,584,018

–

–

–

–

–














Total cash disbursements
99,784,790

55,146,059

3,694,751

7,590,875

8,764,315

914,961














Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1999
$  86,400,522

$  7,081,831

$  2,321,017

$  4,101,210

$  6,924,335

$14,775,979

(Continued on next page).

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements by Fund and Account (continued)

For the year ended September 30, 1999




Debt Service S.I. Fund



Improvement

Passenger

Noise


Merrill



S.I. Debt

Restricted

and

Facility

Abatement


Lynch

S.I. Debt

Service

Assets

Development

Charge

and Mitigation


Loan

Service

Reserve

Fund

Fund

Fund

Fund
















Cash disbursements:














Operating expenses
$                  –

$                –

$                –

$                –

$                –

$                –

$                –

Capital expenditures
–

–

–

–

11,613,299

–

4,793,738

Bond interest expense
–

302,337

–

–

–

–

–

Refund of security deposits
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Refund contributions from other governments
–

–

–

–

–

–

10,990

Florida state sales tax
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Matured bonds/interest
–

135,000

–

–

–

–

–

Transfers to:














Operations fund 
–

–

–

31,686

1,178,708

–

–

Improvement and development fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Debt service account
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Renewal and replacement fund
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

S.I. - Debt service reserve fund
–

–

24,053

–

–

–

–

Noise abatement and mitigation fund
–

–

–

–

–

5,584,018

–
















Total cash disbursements
–

437,337

24,053

31,686

12,792,007

5,584,018

4,804,728
















Cash and investments on deposit, 
September 30, 1999
$         32,666

$     301,911

$     450,000

$     929,201

$26,730,347

$20,413,980

$  2,338,045

Note:
The schedule herein has been prepared on a cash basis as required by the Resolution and does not reflect the adjustments which have been recorded to the accompanying financial statements necessary to amortize premiums or accrete discounts which are inherent in the purchase price of fixed rate investments.

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Bonds Issued, Paid, Purchased or Redeemed

For the year ended September 30, 2000






Bonds





Bonds






Outstanding



Bonds Paid,

Outstanding




Interest

September 30,

Bonds

Purchased or

September 30,

Airport System Revenue Bond
Date of Issue

Rate Range

1999

Issued

Redeemed

2000














Revenue refunding bonds:












Series 1992
February 1, 1992

2.8% - 6.375%

$  64,195,000

$ –

$4,815,000

$  59,380,000














Revenue refunding bonds:












Series 1991
September 30, 1991

7.5% - 7.75%

92,020,000

–

525,000

91,495,000



















$156,215,000

$ –

$5,340,000

$150,875,000














Airport System Taxable

Subordinated Indebtedness

























Series 1989
June 1, 1989

9.5%

$    3,115,000

$ –

$   150,000

$    2,965,000

Palm Beach County Department of Airports

Schedule of Bonds Issued, Paid, Purchased or Redeemed

For the year ended September 30, 1999






Bonds





Bonds






Outstanding



Bonds Paid,

Outstanding




Interest

September 30,

Bonds

Purchased or

September 30,

Airport System Revenue Bond
Date of Issue

Rate Range

1998

Issued

Redeemed

1999














Revenue refunding bonds:












Series 1992
February 1, 1992

2.8% - 6.375%

$  68,770,000

$  –

$4,575,000

$  64,195,000














Revenue refunding bonds:












Series 1991
September 30, 1991

7.5% - 7.75%

92,510,000

    –

490,000

92,020,000



















$161,280,000

$  –

$5,065,000

$156,215,000














Airport System Taxable

Subordinated Indebtedness

























Series 1989
June 1, 1989

9.5%

$    3,250,000

$  –

$   135,000

$    3,115,000

Compliance Reports

Report of Independent Auditors on

Bond Resolution Compliance

To the Honorable Board of
County Commissioners

Palm Beach County, Florida

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, the consolidated balance sheet of Palm Beach County Department of Airports as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated January 24, 2001.

In connection with our audits, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Palm Beach County Department of Airports was not in compliance with the terms, covenants, provisions or conditions of Section 710 of the Palm Beach County Airport System Revenue Bond Resolution R-84-427, adopted April 3, 1984, which was amended in full by the Palm Beach County Airport System Revenue Bond Resolution R-84-1659 adopted on November 1, 1984 (as amended and supplemented) insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of County Commissioners of Palm Beach County, Florida, and should not be used for any other purpose.

EY

January 24, 2001

Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance and on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting Based on an Audit of the Financial

Statements in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Honorable Board of
County Commissioners 

Palm Beach County, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Palm Beach County Department of Airports as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated January 24, 2001. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Compliance
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Palm Beach County Department of Airports’ consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provision of laws, regulations, contracts and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audits and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audits, we considered the Palm Beach County Department of Airports’ internal control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting. Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we consider to be material weaknesses.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Board of County Commissioners of Palm Beach County, management, and federal awarding agencies and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties.

EY

January 24, 2001

APPENDIX D-1
FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

SERIES 2001 BONDS

APPENDIX D-1


Upon delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds referred to below in definitive form, Edwards & Angell, LLP West Palm Beach, Florida proposes to render its final approving opinion with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds in substantially the following form:

_________ __, 2001

The Board of County Commissioners

  of Palm Beach County

West Palm Beach, Florida

Commissioners:


We have examined certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of County Commissioners, Palm Beach County, Florida (the “County”), and other proofs submitted to us relative to the issuance and sale of

$83,965,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

AIRPORT SYSTEM REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS,

SERIES 2001

Dated: July 1, 2001

lettered “R” and numbered 1 upwards, in registered form, in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, bearing interest from July 1, 2001 and payable semiannually on April 1 and October 1 of each year commencing on October 1, 2001 at the interest rates per annum and maturing on October 1 of each year, in the years and amounts as follows:

Due

October 1
Principal

Amount
Interest

Rate

2002
$7,635,000
5.00%

2003
8,010,000
5.00

2004
8,410,000
5.00

2005
8,830,000
5.50

2006
9,315,000
4.00

2007
9,690,000
5.50

2008
10,225,000
4.00

2009
10,635,000
5.50

2010
11,215,000
4.25


The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.


We have also examined one of said Bonds as executed (Bond No. R-1).


We are of the opinion that such proceedings and proofs show lawful authority for the issuance of the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 26099, Laws of Florida, Acts of 1949, as amended and supplemented, and other applicable provisions of law, and pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”) entitled: “A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING $200,000,000 PALM BEACH COUNTY AIRPORT SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS FOR THE PURPOSE OF REFINANCING THE COST OF CERTAIN IMPROVEMENTS AND ADDITIONS TO PALM BEACH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AND CERTAIN OTHER AIRPORT FACILITIES LOCATED IN PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND PROVIDING FOR THE TERMS OF SAID REVENUE BONDS, AND THE RIGHTS, SECURITY AND REMEDIES OF THE HOLDERS THEREOF,” as amended and supplemented including by, but not limited, to the Eleventh Supplemental Palm Beach County Airport System Revenue Bond Resolution, adopted by the Board on April 17, 2001 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Bond Resolution”), and that said Bonds are legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the County, payable solely as to principal, premium, if any, and interest from a pledge of Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (as such term is defined in the Bond Resolution) and all Funds and Accounts established by the Bond Resolution including the investments, if any, thereof (collectively, referred to herein as “Revenues”) all in the manner as provided in the Bond Resolution.


We are further of the opinion that the Bond Resolution has been duly adopted by the County and constitutes a legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the County in accordance with its terms.


We are further of the opinion that the County has legally covenanted in the Bond Resolution and is unconditionally obligated as long as any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid to fix, charge and collect rates, fees, rentals and charges for the use of the Airport System (as such term is defined in the Bond Resolution), and revise the same as often as may be necessary or appropriate to produce Revenues in each Fiscal Year at least equal to the sum of (i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses, including reserves therefor provided for in the Annual Budget, plus the greater of (A) an amount equal to the sum of 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, or (B) the sum of (i) the amount to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Account, plus (ii) the amount, if any, to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Reserve Account (including amounts payable to the issuer of any Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy and excluding amounts required to be paid into such account out of the proceeds of Bonds), plus (iii) the amount, if any, to be paid into the Renewal and Replacement Fund as provided in the Annual Budget; plus (iv) all other charges and liens whatsoever payable out of Revenues during such Fiscal Year, plus (v) to the extent not otherwise provided for, all amounts payable on Subordinated Indebtedness (as such terms are defined in the Bond Resolution).


We are further of the opinion that under the terms, restrictions and conditions contained in the Bond Resolution the County may hereafter issue Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds (as such terms are defined in the Bond Resolution) for the purposes stated in the Bond Resolution which will rank equally with the Bonds with respect to their lien on the Revenues and their sources and security for payment therefrom; that except for such Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds, any other obligations hereafter issued by the County payable from the Revenues will be Subordinated Indebtedness secured by a pledge subordinate in all respects to the pledge of the Revenues, as provided in the Bond Resolution.


The County has entered into certain other covenants with the owners of the Bonds for the exact terms of which references is made to the Bond Resolution.


The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") imposes certain requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds.  The County has covenanted in the Bond Resolution to comply with each applicable requirement of the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.


In our opinion, under existing law, and assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenant contained in the Bond Resolution, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, except such exclusion shall not apply to any Bond during any period such Bond is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of section 147(a) of the Code.  The Bonds are not "specified private activity bonds" within the meaning of section 57(a)(5) of the Code and, therefore, the interest on the Bonds will not be treated as a preference item for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code.  However, we note a portion of the interest on Bonds owned by corporations may be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax, which is based in part on adjusted current earnings.

We are further of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Bonds maturing on October 1, 2002 through and including October 1, 2007 and October 1, 2009 (collectively, the "Premium Bonds"), and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of such Premium Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond premium that will not be deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Holders of a Premium Bond must amortize bond premium by offsetting qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period with the amortizable bond premium allocable to the accrual period. For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease such purchaser's adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.

We are further of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Bonds maturing on October 1, 2008 and October 1, 2010 (collectively, the "Discount Bonds") and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers), at which price a substantial amount of Discount Bonds of the same maturity was sold, constitutes original issue discount which is excludible from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on the  Bonds. Further, such original issue discount accrues actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of each Discount Bond and the basis of each Discount Bond acquired at such initial offering price by an initial purchaser thereof will be increased by the amount of such accrued original issue discount. 


We are further of the opinion that, under existing law, the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associations.


Except as stated in the preceding five paragraphs, we express no opinion as to any federal or state tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  Furthermore, we express no opinion as to any federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to Bonds, or the interest thereon, as a result of any action taken with respect to the Bonds or proceeds thereof upon advice or approval of other bond counsel.


The opinions expressed in the foregoing paragraphs regarding enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or by such principles of equity as the court having jurisdiction may impose with respect to certain remedies, which require or may require enforcement by a court of equity.







Respectfully yours,

APPENDIX D-2
FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

SERIES 2002 BONDS

APPENDIX D-2


Upon delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds referred to below in definitive form, Edwards & Angell, LLP West Palm Beach, Florida proposes to render its final approving opinion with respect to the Series 2002 Bonds in substantially the following form; however, this opinion assumes that (a) from the date hereof to and including the date of delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds (the “Contract Period”) there is no change in the applicable Florida or Federal laws and no court decision, or regulation, ruling, including private letter ruling, procedure, notice, announcement or release by any administrative department or by the Internal Revenue Service or the Department of the Treasury pertaining to the interpretation or administration of laws, adversely affecting the matters in the opinions below, (b) during the Contract Period there is no material change in the Bond Resolution (as defined below) or the Instruments (as such term is defined in the Bond Purchase Contract by and between the County and Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated dated June 1, 2001), adversely affecting the matters set forth in the opinions below, (c) a public hearing is held with respect to the issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds prior to the issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds in the manner required under applicable Treasury Regulations, and (d) we receive such other documents and certifications making such demonstrations as of the date the Series 2002 Bonds are delivered, in form and substance satisfactory to us, as we deem necessary for the purposes of the opinions below, upon authentication, issuance and delivery of the Series 2002 Bonds in accordance with the Bond Resolution:

_________ __, 2002

The Board of County Commissioners

  of Palm Beach County

West Palm Beach, Florida

Commissioners:


We have examined certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of County Commissioners, Palm Beach County, Florida (the “County”), and other proofs submitted to us relative to the issuance and sale of

$60,150,000

PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

AIRPORT SYSTEM REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS,

SERIES 2002

Dated: July 1, 2002

lettered “R” and numbered 1 upwards, in registered form, in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof, bearing interest from July 1, 2002 and payable semiannually on April 1 and October 1 of each year commencing on October 1, 2002 at the interest rates per annum and maturing on October 1 of each year, in the years and amounts as follows:

Due

October 1
Principal

Amount
Interest

Rate

2011
$13,645,000
5.75%

2012
14,560,000
5.75

2013
15,445,000
5.75

2014
16,500,000
5.75


The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.


We have also examined one of said Bonds as executed (Bond No. R-1).


We are of the opinion that such proceedings and proofs show lawful authority for the issuance of the Bonds pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 26099, Laws of Florida, Acts of 1949, as amended and supplemented, and other applicable provisions of law, and pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”) entitled: “A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING $200,000,000 PALM BEACH COUNTY AIRPORT SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS FOR THE PURPOSE OF REFINANCING THE COST OF CERTAIN IMPROVEMENTS AND ADDITIONS TO PALM BEACH INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AND CERTAIN OTHER AIRPORT FACILITIES LOCATED IN PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND PROVIDING FOR THE TERMS OF SAID REVENUE BONDS, AND THE RIGHTS, SECURITY AND REMEDIES OF THE HOLDERS THEREOF,” as amended and supplemented including by, but not limited, to the Eleventh Supplemental Palm Beach County Airport System Revenue Bond Resolution, adopted by the Board on April 17, 2001 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Bond Resolution”), and that said Bonds are legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the County, payable solely as to principal, premium, if any, and interest from a pledge of Net Revenues Available for Debt Service (as such term is defined in the Bond Resolution) and all Funds and Accounts established by the Bond Resolution including the investments, if any, thereof (collectively, referred to herein as “Revenues”) all in the manner as provided in the Bond Resolution.


We are further of the opinion that the Bond Resolution has been duly adopted by the County and constitutes a legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the County in accordance with its terms.


We are further of the opinion that the County has legally covenanted in the Bond Resolution and is unconditionally obligated as long as any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid to fix, charge and collect rates, fees, rentals and charges for the use of the Airport System (as such term is defined in the Bond Resolution), and revise the same as often as may be necessary or appropriate to produce Revenues in each Fiscal Year at least equal to the sum of (i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses, including reserves therefor provided for in the Annual Budget, plus the greater of (A) an amount equal to the sum of 1.25 times the Aggregate Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, or (B) the sum of (i) the amount to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Account, plus (ii) the amount, if any, to be paid during such Fiscal Year into the Debt Service Reserve Account (including amounts payable to the issuer of any Debt Service Reserve Account Insurance Policy and excluding amounts required to be paid into such account out of the proceeds of Bonds), plus (iii) the amount, if any, to be paid into the Renewal and Replacement Fund as provided in the Annual Budget; plus (iv) all other charges and liens whatsoever payable out of Revenues during such Fiscal Year, plus (v) to the extent not otherwise provided for, all amounts payable on Subordinated Indebtedness (as such terms are defined in the Bond Resolution).


We are further of the opinion that under the terms, restrictions and conditions contained in the Bond Resolution the County may hereafter issue Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds (as such terms are defined in the Bond Resolution) for the purposes stated in the Bond Resolution which will rank equally with the Bonds with respect to their lien on the Revenues and their sources and security for payment therefrom; that except for such Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds, any other obligations hereafter issued by the County payable from the Revenues will be Subordinated Indebtedness secured by a pledge subordinate in all respects to the pledge of the Revenues, as provided in the Bond Resolution.


The County has entered into certain other covenants with the owners of the Bonds for the exact terms of which references is made to the Bond Resolution.


The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") imposes certain requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds.  The County has covenanted in the Bond Resolution to comply with each applicable requirement of the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.


In our opinion, under existing law, and assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenant contained in the Bond Resolution, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, except such exclusion shall not apply to any Bond during any period such Bond is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities financed with the proceeds of the Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of section 147(a) of the Code.  The Bonds are not "specified private activity bonds" within the meaning of section 57(a)(5) of the Code and, therefore, the interest on the Bonds will not be treated as a preference item for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed by section 55 of the Code.  However, we note a portion of the interest on Bonds owned by corporations may be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax, which is based in part on adjusted current earnings.

We are further of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the Bonds, and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price a substantial amount of such Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond premium that will not be deductible from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Holders of a Bond must amortize bond premium by offsetting qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period with the amortization bond premium allocable to the accrual period.  For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Bond, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease such purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.


We are further of the opinion that, under existing law, the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations, banks and savings associations.


Except as stated in the preceding four paragraphs, we express no opinion as to any federal or state tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  Furthermore, we express no opinion as to any federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to Bonds, or the interest thereon, as a result of any action taken with respect to the Bonds or proceeds thereof upon advice or approval of other bond counsel.


The opinions expressed in the foregoing paragraphs regarding enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or by such principles of equity as the court having jurisdiction may impose with respect to certain remedies, which require or may require enforcement by a court of equity.







Respectfully yours,
APPENDIX E
FORM OF INSURANCE POLICY

MBIA

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MEDIA Insurance Corporation

Armonk, New York 10504

Policy No. [NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the "Insurer"), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms of this policy, hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the full and complete payment required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to [INSERT NAME OF PAYING AGENT] or its successor (the "Paying Agent') of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hereby shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be referred to herein collectively as the "Insured Amounts." "Obligations" shall mean:

[PAR]

[LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]
Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, NA., in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Obligations or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, NA. shall disburse to such owners, or the Paying Agent payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such Insured Amounts and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Obligation.

As used herein, the term "owner" shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books maintained by the Paying Agent, the Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk New York 10504 and such service of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non‑cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including the payment prior to maturity of the Obligations.

The insurance provided by this policy is not covered by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association created under chapter 63 1, Florida Statutes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly authorized officers, this [DAY] day of [MONTH, YEAR].

COUNTERSIGNED:
MBIA Insurance Corporation

Resident Licensed Agent

President



Attest:



City, State


Assistant Secretary

STD-RCS-FL-6

4/95

STATEMENT OF INSURANCE

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the "Insurer") has issued a policy containing the following provisions, such policy being on file at [INSERT NAME OF TRUSTEE OR PAYING AGENT. INCLUDING CITY. STATE].

The Insurer, in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms of this policy, hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the full and complete payment required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to [INSERT NAME OF TRUSTEE OR PAYING AGENT] or its successor (the "Paying Agent") of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hereby shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owner pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be referred to herein collectively as the "Insured Amounts." "Obligations" shall mean: [INSERT LEGAL TITLE OF BONDS, CENTERED AS FOLLOWS:]

[$ PAR AMOUNT]

[ISSUER]

[DESCRIPTION OF BONDS]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Obligations or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. shall disburse to such owners or the Paying Agent payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such Insured Amounts and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Obligation.

As used herein, the term "owner" shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books maintained by the Paying Agent, the Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and such service of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including the payment prior to maturity of the Obligations.

The insurance provided by this Policy is not covered by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association created under chapter 631, Florida Statutes.


MBIA Insurance Corporation

STD-R-FL-1
PAYMENTS UNDER THE POLICY

A. In the event that, on the second Business Day, and again on the Business Day, prior to the payment date on the Obligations, the Paying Agent has not received sufficient moneys to pay all principal of and interest on the Obligations due on the second following or following, as the case may be, Business Day, the Paying Agent shall immediately notify the Insurer or its designee on the same Business Day by telephone or telegraph, confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, of the amount of the deficiency.

B. If the deficiency is made up in whole or in part prior to or on the payment date, the Paying Agent shall so notify the Insurer or its designee.

C. In addition, if the Paying Agent has notice that any Bondholder has been required to disgorge payments of principal or interest on the Obligation to a trustee in Bankruptcy or creditors or others pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such Bondholder within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy laws, then the Paying Agent shall notify the Insurer or its designee of such fact by telephone or telegraphic notice, confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail.

D. The Paying Agent is hereby irrevocably designated, appointed, directed and authorized to act as attorney-in-fact for Holders of the Obligations as follows:

1. If and to the extent there is a deficiency in amounts required to pay interest on the Obligations, the Paying Agent shall (a) execute and deliver to State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., or its successors under the Policy (the "Insurance Paying Agent"), in form satisfactory to the Insurance Paying Agent, an instrument appointing the Insurer as agent for such Holders in any legal proceeding related to the payment of such interest and an assignment to the Insurer of the claims for interest to which such deficiency relates and which are paid by the Insurer, (b) receive as designee of the respective Holders (and not as Paying Agent) in accordance with the tenor of the Policy payment from the Insurance Paying Agent with respect to the claims for interest so assigned, and (c) disburse the same to such respective Holders; and

2. If and to the extent of a deficiency in amounts required to pay principal of the Obligations, the Paying Agent shall (a) execute and deliver to the Insurance Paying Agent in form satisfactory to the Insurance Paying Agent an instrument appointing the Insurer as agent for such Holder in any legal proceeding relating to the payment of such principal and an assignment to the Insurer of any of the Obligation surrendered to the Insurance Paying agent of so much of the principal amount thereof as has not previously been paid or for which moneys are not held by the Paying Agent and available for such payment (but such assignment shall be delivered only if payment from the Insurance Paying Agent is received), (b) receive as designee of the respective Holders (and not as Paying Agent) in accordance with the tenor of the Policy payment therefor from the Insurance Paying Agent and (c) disburse the same to such Holders.

E. Payments with respect to claims for interest on and principal of Obligations disbursed by the Paying Agent from proceeds of the Policy shall not be considered to discharge the obligation of the Issuer with respect to such Obligations, and the Insurer shall become the owner of such unpaid Obligation and claims for the interest in accordance with the tenor of the assignment made to it under the provisions of this subsection or otherwise.

F. Irrespective of whether any such assignment is executed and delivered, the Issuer and the Paying Agent hereby agree for the benefit of the Insurer that;

1. They recognize that to the extent the Insurer makes payments, directly or indirectly (as by paying through the Paying Agent), on account of principal of or interest on the Obligations, the Insurer will be subrogated to the rights of such Holders to receive the amount of such principal and interest from the Issuer, with interest thereon as provided and solely from the sources stated in this Indenture and the Obligations; and

2. They will accordingly pay to the Insurer the amount of such principal and interest (including principal and interest recovered under subparagraph (ii) of the first paragraph of the Policy, which principal and interest shall be deemed past due and not to have been paid), with interest thereon as provided in this Indenture and the Obligation, but only from the sources and in the manner provided herein for the payment of principal of and interest on the Obligations to Holders, and will otherwise treat the Insurer as the owner of such rights to the amount of such principal and interest.

G. In connection with the issuance of additional Obligations, the Issuer shall deliver to the Insurer a copy of the disclosure document, if any, circulated with respect to such additional Obligations.

H. Copies of any amendments made to the documents executed in connection with the issuance of the Obligations which are consented to by the Insurer shall be sent to Standard & Poor's Corporation.

I. The Insurer shall receive notice of the resignation or removal of the Paying Agent and the appointment of a successor thereto.

J. The Insurer shall receive copies of all notices required to be delivered to Bondholders and, on an annual basis, copies of the Issuer's audited financial statements and Annual Budget.


Notices:  Any notice that is required to be given to a holder of the Obligation or to the Paying Agent pursuant to the Indenture shall also be provided to the Insurer.  All notices required to be given to the Insurer under the Indenture shall be in writing and shall be sent by registered or certified mail addressed to MBIA Insurance Corporation, 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 Attention: Surveillance.









